BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of the Second Amended
Accusation Against:
BRADLEY HOWARD CHESLER, M.D. Case No. 800-2014-008851

Physician's and Surgeon's
Certificate No. A43963

Respondent
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ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR RECONSIDERATION

The Petition filed by David Rosenberg, Esq. and Chad F. Edwards, Esq., attorneys for
BRADLEY HOWARD CHESLER, M.D., for the reconsideration of the decision in the
above-entitled matter having been read and considered by the Medical Board of
California, is hereby denied.

This Decision remains effective at 5:00 p.m. on December 6, 2019.

IT IS SO ORDERED: December 6, 2019.

\
Ronald erWI%D., CHair
Panel A
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BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of the Second Amended Accusation
Against: MBC No. 800-2014-008851
BRADLEY H. CHESLER, M.D.

Physician’s and Surgeon’s

ORDER GRANTING STAY
Certificate No. A43963 :

)
)
)
)
)
)
) (Government Code Section 11521)
)

)

Petitioner

David Rosenberg, Esq. and Chad F. Edwards, Esq. on behalf of Petitioner BRADLEY H.
CHESLER, M.D., has filed a Request for Stay of execution of the Decision in this matter with an
effective date of November 27,2019, at 5:00 p.m.

Execution is stayed until December 6, 2019, at 5:00 p.m.

This stay is granted solely for the purpose of allowing the Board time to review and

consider the Petition for Reconsideration.

DATED: November 26, 2019

.
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BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of the Second Amended )
Accusation Against: )

) .
BRADLEY HOWARD CHESLER, M.D. ) Case No. 800-2014-008851

) :
Physician's and Surgeon's ) OAH No. 2018010827
Certificate No. A 43963 )

)

Respondent )
)

‘DECISION

The attached Proposed Decision is hereby amended, pursuant to Government Code section
11517(c)(2)(c) to correct technical or minor changes that do not affect the factual or legal basis of
the proposed decision. The proposed decision is amended as follows:

Page 2, 1% paragraph, 8" line: “accurate” at the end of the line is changed to “adequate.”
Page 6, 1% paragraph, 1% line: “respondent” at the end of the line is changed to “Patient A.”
Page 23, 3" paragraph, 4 line: “2015” is changed to “2013.”

Page 53, 2" paragraph, 3" line: “mediation” is changed to “medication.”

Page 57, 3" paragraph, 1% line: “required” should be removed.

Page 59, footnote 29, 3 line: comma after “pain” and “a” before “management” should be
removed.

7. Page 63, 2" paragraph, 1% line: “controlling” is changed to “controlled.”

8. Page 77, paragraph 31, 2" line: “not” should be added after “had” at the end of the line.

9. Page 87, paragraph 53, 3" line: “mediation” is changed to “medication.”

10. Page 97, paragraph 61, 6" line: “a peform” should be removed.

11. Page 111, 1% paragraph, 2"! line: “and” is changed to “an.”

12. Page 112, 37 paragraph, 3™ line: parentheses should be removed after “refills.”

13. Page 137, 3" paragraph, 5 line: “E” after “for” is changed to “respondent.”

SRR =

The attached Decision is hereby adopted as the Decision and Order of the Medical Board of
California, Department of Consumer Affairs, State of California.

This Decision shall become effective at 5:00 p.m. on November 27, 2019.

ME BOARD OF)CALIFORNIA
(el By 2

Ronald H. LeWis;‘lVI.D., €hair
Panel A

IT IS SO ORDERED: October 29, 2019.

DCUZ2 (Rev 01-2019)



BEFORE THE |
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the M-atte'r-of the Second Amended Ai:Cusation Against: ~
BRADLEY HOWARD CHESLER, M.D., Resp'ondent |
Physiciah’s and Surgeon’s Certificate No. A 43963
Case No. 800-2014-008851

OAH No. 2018010827

PROPOSED DECISION

Abraham M. Levy, Administrative Law Judge, Office of Administrative Hearings,
State of California, heard this matter on December 6 and 7, 2018, March 18 through
21,2019, and August 26 through 29, 2019, in San Diego, California..

~ Karolyn M. Westfall, Deputy Attorney General, represents complainant Kimberly

Kifchmeyer,' Executive Director of the Medical Board of California (Board).

David Rosenberg and Chad Edwards, Attorneys at Law, Rosenberg, Shpall, and

~ Zeigen, APLC, represent responden.t Brian Howard Chesler, M.D., who was present.

The matter was submitted on August 30, 2019.



SUMMARY

Complainant asserts that respondent’s license should be disciplined because he
committed gross negligence in his care and treatment of five opioid prescription pain
management patients, including one patient who died from a combination of opioids
and benzodiazepines respondent prescribed and alcohol while under his care.
Compla-inant also asserts that respondent committed repeated negligent acts with
respect to these patients, demonstrated incombetency in his care of on_é of his
patients, excessively prescribed drugs to three of them, prescribed drugs to two
patients without an appropriate prior examination, and failed tb maintain accurate and
accurate reéofds, in addition to other violations of the Medical Practice Act.
Complainant proved most of the' allegations contained in the second amended
accusation by clear and convincing evidence based on the credible testimony of two

experts in the field of pain management.

Respondent presented credible evidenc-_e that he has substantially changed' his
practice of preséribing opioids and controlled substanceé and improved his
monitoring of patients. Revocation of his license is thus .not'requirled to ensure public
protection. A three-year period of probation with terms and conditions including
requirements that he successfully'cor_ﬁplete a clinical competency traihing program
and have a practice monitor will ensure public protection. Respondent’s request that A

his license be publicly reprimanded is denied.
PROTECTIVE ORDER

A protective order was issued on complainant’s motion sealing Exhibit 5 to 18,

20 to 25, and 27 and 31 ahd these exhibits are seale'd. On the Administrative Law
1 2 ’ N



Judge's motion, respondent’s Exhibits A through E, which contain patient medical f
records, have also been placed under seal. A reviewing court, parties to this matter,
and a government agency decision maker or designee under Government Code
section 11517 may review materials subject to the protective order provided that this

material is protected from disclosure to the public.
FACTUAL FINDINGS

Jurisdictional Matters

1. On July 18, 2018, complainant filed the Second Amended Accusation.
Respondent had previously timely filed a Notice of Defense to the initial October 5,

2017 accusation.

The second amended accusation alleges nine causes to impose.discipline on
respondent’s license: responde‘nt committed gross negligence regarding his treatment
of patients A, B, C, D and E (First Cause for Discipline) and repeated negligent acts -
regarding his treatment of patients A, B, C and D (Second Cause for Discipline), he
excessively préscribéd drugs to patients A, B, and C (Third Cause for Discipline), hé
prescribed drugs to patients B and C wit'hout requiring adequate or appropriate prior
. exams (Fourth Cause for Discipline), he failed to maintain adequate and accurate
medical records regarding patients A, B, C, D and E (Fifth Cause for Discipline), he
violated federal and/or state laws governing the prescription of controlled Substances
-(Sixth Cause for Discipline), he engaged in unprofessional conduct (Seventh Cause for
Discipline), he violated the Medical Practice Act (Eighth Cause for Discipline), and he
- demonstrated incompetence in his care and treatment of patient E (Ninth Caﬁse for

Discipline).



License History =~ ‘ (

2. On AugUsf 31, 1987, the Board issued Physician’s and Surgeon'’s
Certificate Number A 43963 to respondent. The certificate is current and will expire on

August 31, 2021, unless renewed. Respondent has no history of discipline.
Prehearing Motions

3. . Before the hearing, the parties filed the following motions: Complainant
filed motions to exclude duplicative expert testimony and limit the number of
respondent’s character witnesses. Respondent filed mdtions to dismiss a vague
allegation in the accusation relating to Patient C and exclude the introduction of
evidence of conduct before October 5, 2010, relating to Patienfs A, BandC, sihce the
initial accusation in this matter was filed on October 5, 2017, and such evidence was
barred by the seven-year statute of limitations under Business and Professions Code
section 2230.5, subdivision (a).! Respondent also asked'that evidence of conduct
related to Patients D and E before March 21, 2011, be barred under this seve,n-‘yeér
statute of limitations since the first amended accusation that included alilegations
involving respondent’s care of both these patients was filed on March 21, 2018. The

second amended accusation was filed on July 18, 2018.

The motions were heard at-the start of the hearing on December 6, 2018.
Complainant’s motion to limit the number of witnesses was granted in part and denied

in part; complainant’s motion to exclude duplicative testimony of respondent’s expert

- T All subsequent references are to the Business and Professions Code unless

otherwise stated.



witnesses was denied without prejudice. Respondent’s motion to bér the introduction
of evidence beyond the seven-year time period was granted, and during the hearing
the parties identified allegations in the amended accusation that were beyond the
seven-year period and stipulated to remove these allegations from the second
amended accusation. Respondent’'s motion to dismiss a vague allegation was granted
" in part in the context of respondent’s motion to exclude the introduction of evidence

outside the seven-year statute of limitations.

Summary of Respondent’s Treatment and Care of Patients A through

C and Dr. Kirpalani’s Testimony Regarding Patients A,BandC

4. Complainant called two expert witnesses. Complainant’s first expert,
Dhiruj Kirpalani, M.D., addressed issues rélating to respondent’s care and treatment of
Patients A, B and C. Complainant called Michael H. Verdolin, M.D., as a second expert
to address issues relating to respondent’s caré of Patients D and E. For organizational
purposes, respondent’s care and treatment of Patients A, B and C as found in
respondent’s records, and Dr. Kirpalani's testimony are first summarized. Respondent’s
care and treatment of Patients D and E, also as found in respondent's records, and Dr.

Verdolin's testimony are summarized later.
PATIENT A

5. On February 7, 2005, Patient A (“Patient A" or “A"), a 50-year old ferhale;
began treating with respondent for pain management due to chronic neck pain
following a motor vehicle accident and neck surgery. In the Patient Registration.form
she completed at her initial visit in 2005, A reported she suffered-from “severe chronic
pain”. Patient A also underwent surgery, in 2005, to remove a tumor in her a right

upper extremity. However, the record does not show that A was diagnosed with cancer
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and/or was in treatment for céncer. Respondent-assessed respdndent for péin
management treatment purposes related to the following conditions: Shoulder
impingement, pain cervical with radiation, radiculopathy cervical, rotator cuff
syndrome, and tendinitis patellar. A pathology report complainanf submitted into the
record dated October 20, 2005, was negative for cancer. As discussed below, Patient A
reported to a Health Quality Investigation Unit investigatbr thét in July 2014 she was
diagnosed with a brain tumor but there is no substantiation in the record that she was
diagnosed with this condition. In '2007, A underwént additional surgery to remove

hardware in her right arm due to ongoing pain.

From the start of her treatment with respondent, respondent treated Patient A
with a pain medication regimen that included a variety of opioid medications and a
‘benzodiazepine. For purposes of this matter, the relevant time beriod is respondent’s
treatment of A after October 5, 2010, seven years before the filing of the accusation.
Respondent documented his treatment of A in contemporaneous notes, reports,

medical records and other documents which.were part of A’s records.

As part of his effort to monitor A’s compliance with her medication program
during the relevant period of time at issue here, on Ju-ne.26, 2008, July 18, 2011, and
September 16, 2014, Patient A signed patient pain agreements. Under the terms of
each of these agreements she-was advised that "evidence of dfug hoarding,
acquisition of any opioid medication or adjunctive analgesia from other physicians
(which includes emergency rooms), uncontrolled dose escalation or reduction, loss of
prescriptions or failure to follow the agreement may result in terrﬁination of the
doctor/patient relationship:” She was further advised that one doctor should be
responsible for'p_rescribing all opidid medications and adjunctivé analgesics and she

should use one pharmacy to obtain all opioid prescriptions and adjunctive analgesics.
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She identified Savon in her June 26, 2008,'agreerr‘1ent, Drug Company in her July 18,
- 2011, agreement, and Palomar Pharmacy in her July 16, 2014. agreement as the
designated pharmacieé, she would use. The agreements Patient A sighed did not

advise her of the risks of taking too much acetaminophen.

Under the terms of the July 18, 2011, agreement, Patient A agreed to go to only
one Emergency Room visit per month for pain exacerbations and obtain medications

only from the agreed upon pharmacy. -

6. A review of A's contemporaneous records and notes, starting October 21,

2010, shows the following, in relevant part:

In a note dated October 21, 2010, respondent documented that Patient A
wanted to reapply for federal disability. On this date, he described A’s goals as to
“lilncrease the patient’s ability to self-manage pain and related problems. Maximize
and maintain optimal physical activity and function. Reduce subjective pain intenéity.”
He also wrote he reviewed her CURES report and wanted to discuss with her “some

issues”.?> Respondent did not, however, document what he discussed with her. He

2 ”CURES” is the acronym for The Controlled Substance Utilization Review and
‘Evaluation System, which is maintained by the California ADepartme'nt of Justice. CURES
is a database of prescriptions for controlled substances that report-s data regarding
prescripfions filled by patients, including the prescribing physician, the date the drug is
dispensed, and the pharmacy that filled the prescription. As one of complainant’s.
experts, Michael Verdolin, M.D., noted in his testimony, CURES reports have been

available to doctors online since 2011.



prescribed 120 pills of Percocet 10/325 mg, 90 pills of Dilaudid 4 mg and a Fentany!

Transdermal Patch.3

At her next visit after November 18, 2010, respondent documented in his note
of this date that “Her evaluation is ektended to discuss énd arrange all of her
medicatio'ns." She said that she was having more pain with moving and _respohdent
noted that she “appears nervous about her pending surgery.” Respondent noted that
‘he was not gbing to make any changes in her medication program. He refilled the
medications he prescribed to her on October 21, 2010, but he added 90 pills of
Valium* with a three-time refill supply, which appears to represent a change in her

medication program contrary to what respondent wrote in his note. In addition, he

3 Percocet is the brand name for oxycodone with acetaminophen and is a
Schedule II controlled substapce and dangerous drug under Health and Safety Code
section 11055, and dangerous drug under Section 4022. It is a short acting opioid |
medication. In this decision Percocet is referred to both by its brand and generic
names consistent with the evidence of record. Dilaudid is also a Schedule II contrdlled |
substance and dangerous drug with its generic name Hydromorphone Hydro;hloride
and is a short acting opioid medication. A Fentanyl Transdermal Patch is similarly a

Schedule II controlled substance and dangerous drug.

4Valium is a benzodiazepine and a Schedule IV controlled substance under
Health and Safety Code section 11057 and dangerous drug. Its generic name is
Diazepam. In this decision Valium and its generic name are used interchangeably

consistent with the record.



added Lortab 7.5/500 mg in the amount of 180 pills® w.ith three refills. Respondent did
not documént that he discussed the risks of taking the benzodiazepine and opioid
medications. In the plan respondent wrote that he wanted A to submit to urine drug
testing (UDT) “to assure compliancﬁe and prevent divefsion.” He added that “It is
consistent,” though it is unclear why respondent stated this given that A had not yet

submitted to the UDT.

Respondent submitted to a UDT screen at her subsequent visit on December 14,
2010. In his plan respondent wrote that he wanted A to submit to UDT “to assure
compliance and prevent div'ersion." The test results which were reported on December
16, 2010, were consistent with the medications she was taking. Respondent issued
prescriptions for A for the Percocet, Dilaudid 4 mg and Fentanyl Patch and in the same
. doses he previously ordered. It is noted that on November 18, 2010, in his prescription

of Lortab to A he had authorized three refills.‘

On January 11, 2011, respondent had A subrhit to another UDT and the sample
was sent to Millennium Labs. According to the results of this urine screen dated
January 13, 2011, A did not have Percocet in her system when it was expected that s‘he.
should have tested positive for this drug. This could mean she was taki-.ng‘more .

Percocet than she should have been taking, not taking the medication as prescribed,

> Lortab is the brand name for Hydrocodone Bitartrate and Acetaminophen and
is a Schedule II controlled substance and dangerous drug. It is a short acting opioid
medication. Its brand name and generic name are used interchangéably_in this

decision consistent with the record.



or she was diverting the Percocet. At the bottom of the first page of the lab report

respondent placed his initials.

Oddly, at her next visit with respondent on February 3, 2011, respondent
reported that the UDT results were “consistent” despite the absence of Percocet in A’s
system, per the January 13, 2011, lab results. R.espondent did not document whether
he discussed the urine screen results with respondent; he noted that she was "stéble
on her present p_rogram."é Respondent again prescfibed 120 pills of Percécet 10/325

mg, 90 pills of Dilaudid 4 mg and a Fentanyl Transdermal Patch.

Before her next scheduled visit, A called .respondent-’s office on March 2, 2011,
to advise respondent that a clinician at Scripps emergency room accused her of |
engaging in “drug seeking” behavior. According to respondent’s record of her call, A
said she went to the ER after she fell on February 27, 2011, and she wanted to diécuss
the matfer with respondent at her next scheduled appointment. At this appointment,
on March 3, 2011, A told respondent she fell when she was walking in the snow and
" had shoulder pain. A said she was not happy with her ER experience or the ER ddctor. :

Respondent refilled her medications, including Valium with three refills. Respondent

® As discussed below, next to the lab results for the patients discussed in this
decision who were administered UDTs fespondent'placed his initials, or “ok” or “prn.”
He did not, except on two occasions, document in patient records that he discussed
inconsistent results with the patients or record why he considered results that were

inconsistent, according to the lab, to be consistent.
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also added Cyclobenzaprine’ 10 mg, 90 pills, a non-narcotic muscle relaxant.

Respondent again noted that the UDT results were “consistent.” It is not clear what
respondent means here, given the January 13, 2011 urine screen results which showed

the absence of Percocet in A’s system.

At her April 21, 2011, appointment with réspondént, A tbld respondent that she
had been in the hospital for pain, she saw a ”phafrﬁacy specialist”, and was “going for
surgery next week.” The type of surgery was not described. Respondent reported that
he reviewed all of the issues with her hospitalization, he emphasized that she must |
take her medications as prescribed, and he did not give her refills for any of her
medications. He stated further that all of her refills will be made on paper at each visit.
Respondent reviewed with her the.pain treatment agreement. He noted that he spent
significant time with A. In his plan, respondent stated, in bold, “ER notes reviewed.”
The Scripps ER note he reviewed documented A‘p‘)fesénted to the Scripps ER with
severe pain which left her “frozen.” The note further documented that she was
admitted for observation in a hon-telemetry bed. As his final impression of A, Russell L.
Reinbolt, M.D., reported that she has ihtractable thoracic pain, and chronic cervical
pain by history. For a procedure, Dr. Reinbolt wrote, “Administration of multiple IM

medications without adequate relief of her pain.”

In apparent contradiction to respondent’s comment in his note regarding
refilling A's meds, on this same date, respondent provided A with prescriptions for

Dilaudid, the Fentanyl patch and the Cyclobenzaprine. He did not provide her a

7 Cyclobenzaprine is the generic name for Flexeril, a non-narcotic muscle

relaxant.
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prescription fof Valium this date and he did not provide her with a prescription for

Percocet this date. However, he prescribed 120 pills of Oxycodone 30 mg.8

On July 18, 2011, A advised respondent in her visit with him that she wanted a
new pain agreement. She appeared to want this in order to obtain treatment at the ER.
Respondent cautioned her that going to the ER was an intervention of last resort. She
wanted further thoracic evaluation and she asked about her refill svchedule.. It is not
clear from the note what she was asking respondent to address about her refill
schedule. Respondent commented that her multiple medical problems made
-treatment of her condition “complex,” and he spent a significant amount of time

counseling her on her condition and its management.

In response to her problems and concerns, A entered into a new “Agreement
for Opioid/Medication Maintenance Therapy for Pain” dated July 18, 2011. This pain
agreement allowed her to “seek periodic care [at the] ER for exasperations.” It added

that she was to “contact provider,” apparently referring to respondent.

© At this visit respondent prescribed A 120 pills of Percocet 10/325, 90 pills of
Dilaudid 4 mg, a Fentanyl .Patch, Cy;lqbenzaprine, 90 pills of Valium, and 180 pills of
Lortab 7.5/500 mg. In May and June 2011, hé had prescrfbed these same medications.
He discontinued the Oxycodone. Respondent instructed A that she may take the

Percocet and Lortab once four times a day as needed.

8 Oxycodone is a short acting opioid medication and is a Schedule II controlled

substance and dangerous drug.
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The next day, July 19, 2011, a Scripps ER doctor contacted respondent to report
that he gave A Dilaudid 1 mg IM, but he did not admit A as A asked him to do.

On September 1, 2011, A reported that she was dealing with the stress of her
kids, she wanted her medication refilied, she did not like the patches, and she
identified the pharmacy where she _Was obtaining médications. She told respondent
she had been receiving acupuncture treatment. Respondent reported that Her office
visit was “dramatically prolonged dealing with all of her individual issues,” and he tried -
to focus her on her specific problems including her complaints about other services
and providers. Respondent gave A a note “regarding the frequency of evaluation-
behaviors in her interacﬁng with the ER.” This note reflected that she would have one
visit every 30 d‘ay's at the ER. Respondent provided A with prescriptions for the

medications in the amounts and dosages he previously prescribed.

| Patient A next saw respondent on September 21, 2011, sooner than the 30 days
she typically saw respondent to refill her meds. At this visit, she stated she was
traveling to a funeral and respondent gave her early refills of her medication for her to
fill before she wént. Respondent at this pbint did not document thét he discussed with
A the number of pills she was taking. In fact, respoﬁdent did not document at any time
any discussion he had with A regardfng the number of pills she was taking daily.
Respondent provided A with prescriptions for the medications in the amount and

dosages he previously prescribed.

Respondent documented at A’s October 25, 2011, visit that A "has some issues
with the medicine.” He did not describe what these issues were. Respondent noted
th‘at A was subject to UDT “to address compliance and diversibn.f’ But respondent did
not require' A to submiit to a UDT that day. Respondent again provided A with
.prescriptions for the medications in the amount and dosages he previously prescribed.

13



On November 22, 2011, A submitted to a UDT. The lab results‘dated November
25, 2011, were negati\)e for Lortab and Fentanyl. indicating that these drugs were not in
her syste>m on November 22, 2011. As noted earlier, this raised the possibility that
Patient A was either taking more of these medications tha.n she should have or she

was diverting them. .

The next day, November 23, 2011, respondent documented that he talked to an
ER doctor who refused to give Patient A a pain injection. This doctor told respondent .
that Patient A said she did not have a pain agreement.' After the doctor refused to give.
_her a pain medication injection, Patient A called respondent. Respondent advised her
to take her medications as prescribed. Respondent noted he sent Patient A's CURES

report and pain agreement to the ER doctor.

At A’s December 20, 2011, visit, respondent noted that she had “a recent
setback” and was evaluated at the emergency room. He stated he discussed with her
the situation and would restore her medications. Respondent did not detail the nature
of the setback or what _hé discussed with her to warrant restoring her medications. |
Respondent also did not record thét he discussed with A the November 25, 2011
inconsistent UDT results. Respondent added that A was asking for refills on her
medications “but he will not prdvide that for her. She's [sic] had issue with triggering
refills early.” Respondent issued her the prescriptions for her medications in the same
dosages and amounts. This visit was preceded by two calls A made to respondent. A
December 13, 2011, note recorded that A called respondent to tell him she got her
foot stuck in a baby gate and has been in pain for the last six days, and she could not
walk or drive or sleep. She said she needed an x-ray and none of her meds were

working. Respondent documented that he was not providing her with new medicine. A

December 14, 2011, note documented that A went to the ER where she received 1 mg
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of Dilaudid for pain and »had a foot x-ray. Respondent commented in the note that he
spoke to A by phone and “[s]he’ll keep to her medicatiqin program.” He further noted
that A was “still looking for results from the‘x-ray. .. taken in the emergency room."
The record does not indicate that respondent stopped her medications between
December 14 and the December 20, 2011, so it is unclear what respondent meant

regarding restoring A’s medications.

A’s next appointment to refill her medications was January 12, 2012, which Was
again sooner than the 30-day intervals for scheduled visits she tyﬁically had. A
reported that she was changing her primary care doctor. Respondent advised her that
she was going to the ER too many times, she was described as frustrated by her
insurance situation, she was wearing heeled boots because she believed they helped
her posture, and she told respondent she was going to have to file bankruptcy. A also
said she saw her neurosurgeon. Respondent noted that he educated A “about her ER
situation” but did not detail what this meant. He stated he spent significant time
reviewing her medication program. He emphasized to her that she must take her
medications as prescribed. In his plan respondent did not make changes in her
medicines, and he refilled her medications in the same dosages and amounts he
previously ordered. However, ‘it is not clear from this record whether respondent in
fact prescribed medications to A since there is no record of prescriptions for January

12, 2012.

Respondent also stated he wanted A to return to complete Supplemental
Security Income disability paperwork he received from her attorney. On January 16,

2012, he completed this paperwork with A.

In the February 2, 2012 note, respondent documented that A had a root canal
“two weeks ago,” she was going to see a "Dr. Hanlon,” she needed her medications

15



refilled, and she was taking ”ibuprbfen 800 TID.” Parenthetically, respondent described
her “medical condition” as reméining “significantly complex,” a phrase‘he had
previously used. He reviewed hér entire medication program with her, and he stated
he was would “no longer provide refills seco(ndary to some ir-regu|arities at the
pharmacy.”® It is not clear what these “irregularities” reference. It is also not clear what
respondent mea.nt here when he referred to not providing refills because, according to
his plan for respondent, he recorded that there was ”[n]o.change‘ in medicine”, and
“[m]edication refills as listed above.” The medications listed in this note were in the
same dosages and amounts respondent previously ordered. He issued prescriptions
for Lortab, Valium, Dilaudid, Percocet and the Fentanyl patch in the same dosages and

‘amounts previously ordered.

In a note dated February 17, 2012, A reported that her “safe was stolen out of
~her room"” in which éhe kept her medications. She reported that she only had a small
amount of meds she kept in her purse. As a result, she was out of Valium, Percocet,

and Dilaudid. A added that the pharmacist told her she might go into withdraWals

without these meds. In comments to this note, responderit advised A to go to the ER.

At A's Febrﬁary 21, 2012, appointment respondent “severely counseled” her
regarding her medications. He continued her on the medications in the same dosages
and amounts he previously ordered. On this date, respondent had A submit a urine
sample to address compliance énd diversion. The test outcome for Percocet was
negative and respondent initialed the report section to indicate he reviewed it. This

again raised the possibility that A was either overusing this med or was diverting it.

9 Respondent stopped allowing refills for Valium at some point, but he never

-authorized refills of the other meds he prescribed A.
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Otherwise, the test outcomes were positive for the medications A was taking. On this
date, respondent issued prescriptions for Lortab, Valium, Dilaudid, Percocet and the

Fentanyl patch in the same dos_ages.and amounts previously ordered.

At her next scheduled visit on March 19, 2012, A reported that she had an
“exacerbation” due to the recent snow and she was to undergo dental prOcedurés,
including an irhplant and crowns. 'R'espondent noted that A “is need_ing some
assistance with the preser‘mt program.” It is not clear what respondent meant by this. A
further claimed “that thve dentist wants her to take more medication.” Respondent told
A that he would not “offer her anything differeﬁt unless I here [sid directly from her
dentist.” At any rate, respondent documented that he reviewed ;’expe-ctatiohs of her
medications” and “[no] significant changes are proposed.” He continued her on the

same medication regimen.

- At A's June 11, 2012, visit, respondent first discussed “a tapering program,”
meaning réducing the amount of medicatibns A was taking, and he discussed non-
medication treatment with her.'? In this note respondent described A as “stable on her
program.” In his plan he did not address tapering A’s program and he continued her

on the same medication regimen. He issued prescriptions for her that day. .

On August 6, 2012, respondent stated that A was planning to go on vacation to
Hawaii in September. He noted that she was compliant with the program, he discussed
a tapering program with her, and he noted that in the coming months he was going to

be ”pushing” her to “consolidate her medications.” He continued her on the same

10 According to A's records, this is the first time respondent discussed tapering

down A’s medications. A has been on opioids sinc_e 2005.
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~ medication regimen including the Fentanyl patch and wrote prescriptions for her that

day. Respondent also had A submit to a urine screen. The lab results were negative for

Fentanyl which appeared to not be consistent with her p'rescription. Respondent did
\\ N .

" not document whether he discussed the lab results with A.

At A’s. August 31, 2012, appointment respondent again discussed consolidating
her medications but did not taper dowh her medications or consolidate them. He |
~continued her on the same medication regimen. Respondent, further, did not discuss
the results of the August 6, 2012, lab results with patient A which were negati?e for

Fentanyl in her system.

At her next appointment on September 25, 2012, A reported that she was going |
to Maui, was nervous about it, and needed her meds refilled. Respondent counseled
her on “safeguarding her medications.” He “altered” the “fill dates” for A's |
prescriptions to accommodate her travel plans, but it .is not clear from this note what
respondent meant by this accommodation since the prescriptions for the meds were in

the same dosages and amounts.

At her October 23, 2(512, appointment, A told res‘pondent that her daughter
“was taking her pills.” Respondent added she was very depresséd, and she planned to
see a psychologist that day. Respondent wrote the following comment: "I review [sic]
her situation and give [sic] her sorﬁe -hope that there is going to be resoIUtion in the

future."’" His plan consisted of the same language from respondent’s August 6, 2012,

L n

1 By this comment in his n'ote; where he expressed empathy for A's “situation”
and wanted to give her "hope,” reépondent appeared to ignore the seriousness of the '
diversion of A’s pills by her déughter considering A reported that her pills were
previously stolen, the amount of opioids respondent was prescribing her, A's negative
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plan because it referenced her return from vacation in HaWaii in September. At this
visit, A éubmitted a urine sample which interestingly was negative for Fentanyl and
Percocet according to the lab October 25, 2012, lab result. ReSpondeht-initiéIed this
report indicating he reviewed it. Respondent continued her on the same -medications

and issued prescriptions for these meds this date.

At her November 20, 2012, appbintment, A reported that her daughter was in
rehab, she was now “hopeful for her daughter and her future,” and she was going to
place her meds in a safe to safeguard them. She also told respondent that she was
functiOning well “with less medicine” and stopped taking her Fentanyl patch because

she could not wear them in Hawaii due to the humidity.’? He did not write respondent

urine screens for Percocet and Fentanyl, and the fact that he cautioned her on
September 25 to safeguard her meds, which she appeared to have ignored. Without
discounting the vaiue of respbndent’s empathy for A as a matter of his doctor/patient
relationship to A, his failure to promptly address the implication of A’s daughter
stealing the pills he was prescribing A is striking. For his plan he-merely repopulated in
the note the plan he previously made. Tragically, on February 3, 2015, A reported to
respondent that her daughter died. Respondent did not document the cause of her
daughter’s death. No conclusion is made regarding the death of A’s daughter as it-

relates to respondent’s care of A.

120n Decemberl 17, 2012, respondent ran a CURES report of A’s prescriptions
from December 17, 2011, to December 17, 2012. For the period from August 2012
through November 2012, when shesaid she was doing well with less medicine, A was
. in fact obtaining 180 pills of Percocet and 60 pills of Valium monthly from two other
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W,
a prescription for Fentanyl this date and he issued prescriptions for the other meds in

the same dosages and amounts he had previously ordered deépite A telling’
respondent that she was functioning well with less meds. Respbndent, further, did not
document 'he discussed with A the urine screen that was negative for Fentanyl and

Percocet.

Respondent documented at A's December 17, 2012, visit that she was having a |
lot of anxiety with her daughter’s situation. He counseled her about proper medicine
use and provided her refills, discussed with her a _consolidation program, and stated he
was going to initiate a reduction program the next year. Respondent’s concerns about
A’s medicine use appeared to have been triggered by the December 17,2012, CURES
report he ran on her which showed that respondent was obtaining 180 pills of
Percocet and 90 pills of Valium monthly from two other providers. In his plan,
respondent mentioned that he “counseled” A about the CURES report. He did not
nofe, how_ever, A’s response, if any, to obtéining Percocet and Valium from other
doctors, why she was in need of this amount of meds-or what her relationship to these

providers were. (One of them appeared to be her primary doctor.) Respondent did not -
have A submit to a urine screen that date. Despité the CURES report'," respondent
issued her prescriptions for the heds, including Percocet énd Valium, in the same
amount and dosagés he previously ordered. He issued a prescription for the Fentanyl

patch which he previously had discontinued in November."

doctors. (Exhibit 7, AGO-0667-0669.) This highlights the degree to which A had large

quantities of opioids that were accessible to her daughter.

3 In the December 17, 2012, note respondent copied one of the doctors, T.B.,
M.D., who was prescribing Percocet and Valium to respondent. He continued to
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Respondent had A submit to a UDT at her next visit on.January 14; 2013. The
results, as documented in a January 15, 2013, report were again negative for Percocet
and Fentanyl. Respondent noted that A was experiencing stress due to her daughter’s
personal and legal situa;cion. He reviewed her medications and counseled Aon
- "appropriate usage” of meds. His plan contained the sameléngUage from the
December 2012 note. Respondent refilled A's medications in the same dosages and

amounts previously ordered.

At her February 11, 2013, respondent discussed with her a consolidation and
reduction program. He c.autioned her that if she was unable to remain complia.nt with
the progrgm “dismissal is likely.” His plan consisted of the same language he uséd in
prior notes. Respondent refilled A’s prescriptions in the same amounts and dosages

previously ordered.

In a note dated April 8, 2013, A told respondent that her daughter tried.to turn
in a prescription given to A and “is now [in] a legal process,” suggesting her daughter
was criminally charged. A wanted her meds refilled and respondent described her as
under a lot of stress. Respondent said he talked to A’'s primary doctor and provided
her a copy of a previous note. At this boint he noted that A was in violation of her pain
agreement. His plan provided as follows: “No change in medicine. She is subject to
UDT to address compliance and diversion. [f] Medication refills as listed above.
Safeguarding of medicine discussed. Counseled with CURES repbrt review. [TI].Stable
dosing. Reduction program commenced today. Discussed prgscribing situation with

her primary doctor.” This tapering program consisted of discontinuing the Lortab

document that he copied this doctor in subsequent notes through February 2013. It

appears from these subsequent notes that this doctor was A’s primary care doctor.
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prescription but, otherwise, respondent issued prescriptions to A'in the same amounts
and dosages for the other meds he had previously issued. A urine screen taken from A
that day was negative for Percocet. Respondent did not document in subsequent-

notes that he discussed this result with A.

A note dated April 15, 2013, docurhented a call A made to‘respondent in which
she asked respondent to see her for “chronic pain and takes her medication as
directed and her-and her husband are able to take care of her g'randson until [her
daughter] is released [from jaill.” She called again on April 18 and wanted respondent
to give her that noté by Friday of that wéek. If he was unable to write the note she
asked that respondent call her. The note further documented that respondent “will not

write letter he can not [sic] confirm she is fit for child care not his specialty.”

A returned to see respondent on May 6, 2013, with her granddaughter. She said
she needed to discuss her daughter’s situation and she wanted her meds refilled.
Respondent said he was going to reduce her medications and con_sdlidate "over time."
His plan consisted of the exact same Ianguage from his prior note. Regarding the
reduction of her meds, respondent again did not prescribe Lortab but otherwise issued

prescriptions to A in the same amounts and dosages previously ordered.

At A's May 30, 2013, visit, respondent asked for refills, respondent added back
the Lortab he had breviously discontinued under the-tapering and/or consolidation
program and he issued prescriptions for tHe meds in the same amounts and dosages
he previously ordered. At this point, respondent did not explain why he added back
the Lortab or why A’'s meds were neithef reduced nor consolidated. He wrote that he
counseled her regarding appropriate usage. His plan contained the same language
from prior notes including langﬁage that he was commencing a reduction program
"today.”
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At her Juhe 27, 2013, ap'po_intment, A reported that she was having more back
pain, she was doing more lifting at home, and she was réceiv_ing massage therapy
every week with good results. Respondent stated that he sbent significant time with A
going over her medications to make sure she understood “the medications
appropriately behaved and prescribing.” He added that she was going “to
consolidation reduction program requiring significant additional time and effort for
education.” His plan consisted of the same language he used ih the April and May
2013 notes. Despite stating he was going to consolidate or redu'ce her meds,
respondent continued her on all the same meds, including Lortab, in the same

amounts and dosages he previoUs_Iy ordered.

On July 23, 2013, A told respondent that she was stopping her Fentanyl patches
and needed meds “to restore Her oral medicine.” Respondent noted he supported her
effort here, she was "under close medical scrutiny,” and “she has_beeh consolidating
her medications.” It is not clear what respondeht meant when he wrote that she was
“consolidating her medications.” Reépondent‘discontinued the Fentanyl patch but
continued all her oral meds in the same amounfs and dosages he previously ordered.

His plan used same language as in the notes starting in April 2013.

Frorh this date in July 2013 through October 201 31 respondent continued to
write prescriptions for A for Lortab, Dilaudid, Percocet, Valium and Cyclobenzaprine in -
the same amounts and dosages he préviéuély’orderedé Inéugust A reported that she
~had her gallbladder'removed and on Octol.oe.r< 15, 2015 shel came to his office with her
~ grandson and reported that she was having some low level abdominal pain and “some
bleeding.” She said she was found to have an enlarged appendix, had a colonéscopy
and was found to have colitis anol was treated with antibiotics. At this visit A

~underwent a urine screen which tested negative for Dilaudid, Hydrocodone and
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Lortab, according to a report dated October 17, 2013. Respondent did not record
whether he discussed these specific results with A in subsequent notes. His plan for
the October 15,2013, visit was in the same language he used in A’s notes for April,

n

May and June 2013 and indicated he was commencing a reduction program “today.

\

At A's March 4, 2014, appointment respondent recorded the following:

She is asking about zohydro™ and we discuss it. I explained
~ that I am not comfortable with this medication for her.I'm
trying to work in a strategy to consolidate and reduce her
[medications]. I do nbt feel that this medicatioﬁ is
‘appropriate. I refill her usual medications with instructions. I
challenge her with the urinary drug testing results. She
indicates that she has been using her medications less
often. I have explained to her that we will be increasing

~ surveillance for her utilization.

According to A's urine screen taken this date, she tested negative for Dilaudid,
Hydrocodone, and Lortab. Notably, for the first time, respondent docﬁmented he
questioned A specifically about the inconsistent urine screen results. Despite |
numerous prior inconsistent screens, he had not previously recorded that he asked A
about the results. Notwithstanding his concerns about A’s med use, and A's comment

that she was taking less meds, respondent’s plan was essentially the same plan he had

14 Zohydro (Hydrocodone Bitartrate) is an extended-release opioid oral
formulation of hydrocodone without acetaminophen. It is a controlled substance and

dangerous drug.
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previously provided for A’s care' and treatment. He provided respondent with
prescriptions for 120 pills of Percocet, 90 pills of Dilaudid, 90 p‘ills of Cyclobenzaprine,
- 90 pills of Valium. In place of Lortab he prescribed A 90 pills of Hydrocodone-
Acetaminophen 5/325 mg. . '

On May 1, 2014, per respondent’s record, A called and stated that after knee
surgery “somebody came in and stole all of her medications.” She said that usually the
meds were in a safe, but she kept the meds “under her couch cushion and. now they
are gone.” She wanted respondeht to replace her meds. Respondent documented that

he refused to do so consistent with her pain agreement.

At her next appointment after this call, on May 27, 2014, she came to her
appointment with her grandson, told respondent she was not recovering well after her
knee surgery and wanted her meds refilled. She told respondent she now has an alarm
system to safeguard her meds. Respondent noted that A was not wearing her knee |
brace. He provided her with prescriptions for 120 pills of Percocet, 90 pills of Dilaudid,
90 pills of Hydrocodone-Acetaminophen, and 90 pills of Diazepam.’® He did not
provide her with Cyclobenzaprine or Valium. A urine scre-en taken that day was

negative for Percocet. He did not document discussing this result with her at any time.

Respondent in June and July 2014 reinstated A's prescriptions for

Cyclobenzaprine and Valium and provided her with prescriptions for Percocet,

1> These prescriptions were handwritten, as opposed to computer generated
prescriptions that respondent typically made. (Exhibit 7, AGO 299-301.) Hydrocodone-
Acetaminophen, another short-acting opioid, is the generic name for Norco. Norco is a
/

Schedule II controlled substance.
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Dilaudid, and Hydrocodoné—Acetaminophen. A reported to an HQIU investigator that
in JUIy 2014 she was transported to Palomar Hospital for a headache and a “brain
tumor” was discovered. However, respondent’s July 22, 2014, and August 15, 2014,

- notes for his treatment of A do not record that she told respéndent this. On December
9, 2014, according to the note from this date, she told respondent she had a “tumor
near her pituitary.” At her August 15, 2014, visit with respondent, A told respondent
she was going on vacation to Mexico and, in effect, wanted an eafly refill of her | ,
prescriptions which respondent gave her. He wrote that he emphasized to her that she

must be compliant with the program.

On August 16, 2014, respondent had A submit to a UDT which tested negative
in a Millennium lab report dated August 19, 2014, for Percocet. Respondent initialed
next to the lab results “ok” and “prn”.'® He did not document he discussed these

results in subsequent notes.

A note dated September 5, 2014, documents that Palomar Pharmacy called
respondent to inform him that another phafmacy informed Palomar that A was not
going to treat-with respondent anymore. Palomar wanted to verify that A had no

appointments with respondent. Respondent documented this call.

Another doctor called respondent, as recorded in a note dated September 8,
2014, and advised respondent that A went to his office and told the doctor that she

was no longer treating with respondent and wanted prescriptions because she was

' In the lab results discussed in this decision, respondent wrote “ok,” “prn” or
his initials next to the inconsistent results. Except for select instances, respondent did

not document he discussed these results with his patients.
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about to run out. Thié doctor stated that he considered A to be a “high risk” patAieht
baséd on a CURES report the doctor had run on her. The doctor’s office advised
respondent that they wanted him to know that the doctor had treated A and refuéed
“to provide her with prescriptions. Interestingly, a CURES report that respondent pulled
in November 2014 that covered this period showed that A was obtaining hydrocodone
and Diazepam from numerous other providers. Respondent wrote the following in the

note: “The above information is noted. Surveillance will continue.”

At her next visit on September 16, 2014, respondent showed her the CURES
report, dated September 16, 2014, which showed that A wés obtaining Hydrocodone -
- Acetamin‘ophen and Diazepam from numerous other providers between September
2013 and September 2014, inciuding R.B., M.D.; G.L, D.D.S,; T.K,'.M.D.; R.S., M.D.; M.S,,
M.D.; F.A., M:D.; and J.H;, M.D., in addition to respondent. (Exhibit 7, AGO 0224-0228.)
Respbndent had her sign a new pain agreement that day which he documented he
reviewed e'xtensively with her. He issued prescriptions for her for the meds he

previously had ordered in the same amounts and dosages previously ordered.

Despite his September 16, 2014, consult with her, a note dated October 2, 2014,
stated respondent received a call from another doctor to advise him that A Was
“doctor shopping”; this doctor suggested that respondent shéuld run a CURES on her,
and this doctor further advised respondent that he had given A a prescription in
September. Respondent documented he was aware of the situation and “Close |

surveillance will take place.”

‘At her next appointmeht on October 14, 2014, respondent documented he gave
A "another epidural injection,.” and that he reviewed appropriate prescribing behavior
and the Sepfember 16, 2014, CURES report with her. He again issued prescriptions for
her for the meds he previously had ordered in the same amounts and dosages
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previously ordered. For some reason this note did not contain a plan for monitoring

her treatment and medications.

On November 11, 2014, respondent had A submit to another UDT which tested
negative for Dilaudid, Hydrocodone/APAP and Percocet in a report dated November
13, 2014. At the bottom of the lab resuit report he placed his initials and wrote
“11/24/14 out of meds.” In this note, he recorded that result was not “acceptable” and

he counseled A."7

From this date to December 9, 2014, respondent continued to issue
prescriptions for meds in the same amounts and dosages respondent previously
ordered. In his Dec.;ember 9, 2014, note, respondent notated that he “confronted” A
“with her negétive urine screen for her normal medicine.” This was a reference to the
urine screen taken of A at her November 11, 2014, appointment, which tested negétive
for Dilaudid, Hydrocodone, and Percocet. Respohdent also noted that that A told him
that a CT Scan of her Ahead taken at a hospital revealed “a tumor near her pituitary.”
Respondent did not seek corroboration from any éther providers regarding whether A
had a tumor or was being treated for cancer. For his plan respondent stated he
educated A regarding cbmpliance and that “noncompliance could lead to untoward
health.outcomes.” He issued prescriptions for her in the same amounts and dosages

previously ordered.

The December 9, 2014, visit is notable because it occurred after respondent ran
a CURES report on November 6, 2014, which documented A’s prescription history from

November 2013 through November 2014. This report shows that during this period A .

17 Respondent electronically signed the result on March 9, 2015.
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obtained large quantities of Hydroéddone and Diazepam from numerous other
providers, including R.B, M.D.; G.L, D.D.S; TK, M.D.; RS, M.D,; M.S,, M.D,; F.A, M.D,; and
J.H., M.D,, in addition to respondent. (Exhibit 7, AGO 0404-0408.) This is also after the
'September 16, 2014,"CU_RES report he obtained which showed the same behavior.
Notwithstanding the'information he gained from feviewing CURES reports, respondent

continued to prescribe to A opioids. ~

7. During her treatment with respondent, A obtained prescriptions from
other doctors for the same medications respondent was prescribing her and from
pharmacies other than listed in her pain agrgements with respondent. The large
quantify of medications A obtained was notable. To highlight the- extent of A's ability
to obtain opioids and benzodiazepines from different doctors, several times A filled
prescriptions for these drugs at different pharmacies the same day or within several -
days written by different doctors. On April 25, 2011, she filled a prescription for 105
tablets of Diazepam at CVS Pharmacy written by Dr. KM. That same day, she filled a
prescription for 40 tablets of Diazepam at a different pharmacy, Balboa Pharmacy,
written by Dr. W. U. Just four days earlier, on April 21, 2011, she filled a prescription at

Leo’s Pharmacy for 90 tablets of Diazepam written by respondent.

As another example, on October 28, 2011, she filled a prescription for
Diazepam, 10 mg, 60 tablets, as prescribed by a Doctor R.N. at Costco Pharmacy. On
November 11, 2011, she filled prescriptiqns for Diazepam, 10 mg, 30 tablets, and
Alprazolam,™ 1 mg, 90 tablets, as prescribed by Dr. C.G. at a Sav-On Pharmacy. As

another example, on July 23, 2013, she filled a prescription respondent wrote for her

18 Alprazolam is a benzodiazepine and a Schedule IV controlled substance. It

has the brand name Xanax.
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for Diazepam, 10 mg, 90 tablets at Mercy Care»Pharmacy. On July 31, 2013, she filled a-
prescription for Diazepam, 2 mg, 15 tablets at Costco Pharmacy, from a prescription by
Dr. D.M. On August 4, 2013, she filled a pre.;.criptioh for Alprazolam, .5 mg at CVS
- Pharmacy prescribed by Dr. R.J., an osteopath. Two days later, on August 6, 2013,
Patient A filled a prescription for Diazepam, 10 mg, 30 tablets, at Target, prescribed by
Dr. P.R,, and Hydrocodone Bitartrate Acetaminophen, 500 mg-5 mg, prescribed by Dr.

" RB,an osteopath. Less than two weeks earlier, Patient A filled a prescripfion
- respondént had written for Hydrocodone Bitartrate Acefaminophen, 500 mg-7.5 mg,

90 tablets, which she filled at Mercy Care Pharmacy.

On Q.Ctober 15, 2013, Patient A filled yet another prescription for Hydrocodone
Bitartrate Acetaminophen, 500 mg-7.5 mg, 90 tablets, respondent had written for her
at Mercy Care Pharmacy. That same time she also filled a prescription at Target for

Hydrocodone Bitartrate Acetaminophen, 500 mg-5 mg, written by Dr. P.R.

8. As discussed earlier, between 2010 and 2014, many of Patient A's urine
drug test results were inconsistent with the medications respondent prescribed to her.
Throughout that time on approximately 14 occasions, Patient A's urine test results
showed the absence of medications respondent prescribed to her, including on or
about Nove.mbe..r 11, 2014, when A’s drug test detected no controlled substances in
her system. .This suggested either she was not taking the meds as respondent directed
or she was diverting them. Respondent failed to document and/or adequately
document any detailled discussion with Patient A regarding these inconéistencies and

continued to prescribe controlled substances to her.

9. Despite obtaining large quantities of high-dose opioids during the time
. A treated with respondent, A reported a lack of adequate analgesia, continued chronic
pain, and decreased function. She, further, as detailed above, presented to multiple
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emergency departments for pain relief; she made requests for early refills of
medications; reported medications lost or stolen; and she obtained medication refills
from 10 prescribers at seven different pharmacies, according to one CURES report.

(Exhibit 9.)

10.  From 2011 to 2013, respondent prescribed to A a daily combination of
medications that contained acetaminophen' as follows: six Hydrocodone Bitartrate-
Acetaminophen 7.5/500 mg pills (based on 180 pills prescribed in a 30-day supply
monthly divided by 30 days) and four Oxycodone-HCL and Acetaminophen 10/325
pills daily (based on 120 pills prescribed monthly divided by 30). Thus, during this

" entire-time frame, respondent prescribed to A 4,300 mg of acetaminophen per déy.

11.  However, during a more select time frame, from December 1, 2011,
through the end of November 2012, respondent wrote 29 prescriptions for.
medications containing acetaminophen to Patient A as follows: 15 prescriptions of 120
tablets of Percocet (Oxycodone-HCL and Aéetaminophen 10/325 mg) and
14-prescriptions of 180 tablets of Lortab (Hydrocodone Bitartrate-Acetaminophen
7.5/500 mg).

During this one-year time period, considering the amount of acetaminophen in
the doses of these meds, respondent prescribed to A a daily average of 5,052 mg of

acetaminophen daily.'®

1% During this one-year period, according to a CURES report (Exhibit 9), another
doctor wrote nine prescriptions to A for 180 pills of Hydrocodone Bitartrate-
Acetaminophen 5/325 mg. A second other doctor wrote one prescription for 16 pills of

Hydrocodone Bitartrate-Acetaminophen 7.5/200 mg.
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. PATIENT B

12.  Patient B ("Patient B or "B") was 47 years old when she began treating
with respondent on February 27, 2013, for pain management. At her initial visit she
brought her medical records, including a letter from J. Carl Luistro, M.D., a Kaiser
doctor, dated Noyem_ber 30, 2012, and clinic records from HealthNet. In his letter Dr.

- Luistro stated that B had a chronic pain condition that was then stable on her regimen
of Norco and morphine. Dr. Luistro added that B was taking Norco 10/325 tablets and
~long acﬁng morphine 30 mg, two in the morning, one in the afternoon and two in the
evening for pain control. In his note documenting her first visit with him, respondent

reported that B had six c-sections, had abdominal recon.’struc'.cion and for pain she did-

well with long acting morphine.

At this initial visit respohdent went over a CURES report he printed out on the
déy of her visit and made this report part of B's chart. It showed thaf Dr. Luistro was
for the most part writing B's prescriptfons at the time. Respondent recorded that he
performed a physical exafnination of B, but he did not record a paih séore to identify
fhe pain level B believed she had, and he did not have B sign a pain agreement.
Respondent did document that he discussed the importance of compliance with the
course of action and that “non-compliance could lead to untoward health outcomes”

- as a general matter, b.ut he did not record that he discussed with her the specific fisks
and benefits of taking opioid pain meds. Respondent identified B's goals as follows:
“Increase the patient’s ability to seI_f-rhanage pain and related problems. Maximize and

maintain optimal physical activity and function. Reduce subjective pain intensity.”

In his notes, respondent did not document that he conducted an appraisal of
prior non-opioid-treatments for chronic pain, and/or an assessment of B's

psychological and/or addiction risk, and a baseline urine drug screen. Under the
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“General Exam” category respondent documented B's Orienfation/Mobd/Affect as
follows: Oriented to person, place, time and present circumstances. Mood and affect

appropriate.”

Respondent, further, identified B's plan as follows: “CURES report, Medicine
provided as listed. Medicine checked for conflict.” Respondent provided B with
prescriptions for 90 tablets of MS Contin?® 30 mg and 180 pills of Hydrocodone-
Acetaminophen 10/325 mg. She was scheduled for a follow-up appointment 30 days

from the date of this visit.

- At her March 21, 2013, appointrhent B stated that’s she “has had to take 6-8"
Norco pills per day and she needs a change in her program. He increased her
prescription of Hydrocodone-Acetaminophen 10-325 mg from 180 pills for a 30-day -

period to 240 pills with three refills.
J

At her April 18, 2013, appointment B reported that she needed “better pain -
control.” In résp‘onée respondent noted that he “will give her a trial of oxycodone 10
mg up to 2 times a day as an alternate to Norco.” He thus added a prescription for a
second short acting pain medication 90 pills of Oxycodone 500 mg to be taken up to
three times a day in addition to the short ac;cing'pain medication, Hydrocodone-
Acetaminophen 10-325 mg, which he prescribed to B on Mar;h 21, 2013, with three

refills. ‘

20 MS Contin is a Schedule II confroiled substance. It is a controlled release or

long acting opioid medication.
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At B's May 16, 2013, appointment respondent issued prescriptions for 90 pills of
MS Contin and 60 pills of Oxycodone.

Following this appointment, on June 6, 2013, he issued a prescription for 240
pills of Hydrocodone-Acetaminophen 10-325 mg with 3 refills, 90 pills of MS Contin
and 60 pills of Oxycodone. ’

Respondent next saw B on July 13,' 2013. B reported that she was Very stressed
v by her father’s health situation and she stated she had to travel. She went to
respondeht’s office with her son. B told reépondent she had “four days of medicine
left.” Respondent documented that he discussed with her appropriate dosing. He
“added "Her pain condition will not bé responding to any other intervention. She has
been successful in managing her situation with medication. She has remained stable
and functional during the day.” Respondent providéd B with prescriptions for 90 pills

of MS Contin and 60 pills of Oxycodohe.

B’s next visit with respondent was on August 1, 2013. Réspondent hotéd that B's
father was still alive, respondent had only four days of medicine Iéft, and he again
discussed with her appropriate dosing. Respondent noted that he discussed With her
"reduction consolidation” but postponed such a program for now. He issued

prescriptibns for 60 pills of Oxycodone and 90 pills of MS Contin.

On August 13, 2013 B’'s pharmacy sent a fax to respondent to report to him that
“[B] is wanting us to contact you to release for early refills resp;ndent's prescription of
240 pills of Hydrocodone-_AcetaminopHe’n 10-325 mg.” A note at the bottom of the fax
with the date August 14, 2013 states “May fill now.” »

7 ~ Ten days after this fax, at hef August 23, 2013, appointment, respondent noted
that “She is going to get to her father who is still quite ill. . . She has four days of
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medicine left. She needed to fill today.” Respondent discussed with her “appropriate |
| dosing,” and he noted that "her pain condition will not be responding to any other

intervention. She has been successful in managing her situation with medications. She

has remained stable and functional during thfe day.” He wrote prescriptions for her of

' 90 pills of MS Contin and 60 pills of Oxycoddne on this date.

At her next appointment onvSepte_mbler 18, 2013, B stated that she had to leave
to take care of her father's remains, and she asked for an early refill. Respondent
stated that her medication program was “resected,” appropriate téaching takes place,”
and “she is showing good analgesia with good function,” and he.noted she continued
to have significant pel\)ic and abdominal pain secondary to multiple surgeries.

Respondent provided her with a prescription for 60 pills of Oxycodone.

At B's appointment on October 15, 2013, respondent reported tHat he reviewed
her medication program. He stated that she was showing good analgesia with good
- function and she still had sign‘iﬁcant peIVic pain and abdominal pain sécondary to
multiple surgeries. Respondent reported. that she showed good daytime functioh with |
her medications. He issued prescriptions to her for 90 pills of MS Contin and 60 pills of

» Oxycodone.

At B's November 20, 2013, appointment B reported that she had been in the -
hospital with an unspecified infection. Respondent wrote that, “Her medications are
discussed with appropriate expectations.” Respondent again recorded that he
discussed with her in Qeneral terms the importance of compliance with the course of
action and that “non-compliance could lead to untoward health outcomes.” o
Respondent >provi_ded B with prescriptions for 90 pills of MS Contin and 60 bills of

Oxycodone.
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At her December 12, 2013, appointment, B reported that she was having gall
bladder issues, exacerbation of her abdominal issues, and was throwing up her
medicine. Respondent reviewed her medication pfogram with her and stated that
appropriate pain medications were being provided to B with instructions. He
documented he spent significant additional time with B assessing her daily function.
On this date he provided her with prescriptions for MS Contin, Oxycodone, and three

refills of 240 pills of Hydrocodone-Acetaminophen 10/325 mg.

At her January 7, 2014, apbointmeht, B stated that she was needing more help
“with post op pain control with her gall bladder removal.” Respondent counseled her
regarding appropriate medication usage and "breviewed" her “pain agreement.” This is
the first (and only) reference in the records to indicate that ‘she had entered into a pain
agreement. Howevef, this pain agreement is not in B's records. Respondent noted B
had “fair" analgesia. He provided B with prescriptions for 90 pills of Oxycodone and 90
pills of MS Contin. He fncreased the dosage of Oxycodone from 60 pills to 90 pills at

this visit.

B next saw respdndent to refill her medications on J‘anua'ry"30, 2014.

| Respondent néted that B was at the appointment early “due to a car issue.” From this
comment it appears that respondent meant that B had an appointment sooner than

‘the 30 days after her January 7, 2014, appointrhent because of this car issue.
Respondent gave her prescriptions and noted that B said she would fill the
prescriptions the fo'llowing week. He said she had fair analgesia with no side effects,
énd he counseled her regarding safeguarding her meds. In his plan respondent noted
"UDT to be considered.” Respondent wrote prescriptions for the MS Contin and

Oxycodone in the same amounts and dosages he previously ordered.
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On February 19, 2014, B called respondent’s office to te" Him that she lost "her
Norco on a ride at Disneyland” and wanted an early refill. Respondent called in a 12-
day supply of Hydrocodone 10/325 mg. | o |

, One week later, respéndent’s‘ofﬁce received another call that respond.ent -
needed a resupply of Hydrocodone because she was goihg to be out of the
medication in one day and her next office visit was on March 4, 20_14'.‘|V=romAthe note it -

is not clear if the pharmacist or B called re’spondent’é office. Respondeht calledin a

six-day supply df 50 pills of the medication.

At B's March 4, 2014, visit, B reported tHat her back-pack was taken, and she
needed to have her'medicatio'ns replaced. Respondent did not document that he
discusSéd with B the situation or her compliance with the medication regimen she was
- under. He issued 'prescript_ions‘fof 240 pills of Hydrocodone-Acetaminophen with
three refills, 90 pills of MS Contin, and-90 pills of Oxycodone. Respondent again noted
in the plan tHat "UDT to be considered” and added “Request .auth to perform for |

compliance.”

On March 26, 2014, B's pharmacy called respondent’s office to report to him
that B wanted an early refill of the Norcoll. B also called that day to see if her
medfcatibn had been refilled and told respondent’s staff person that she was out of
the medicatioﬁ because she had the flu and was vomiting and took extra pills.
Respondent refused to provide her this early refili and notified B. He noted that B
needed to co‘m_e to her n’»e')r(t appointment. in-April for any changes to the medication

regimen.

At her next appointment on April 3, 2014, B emphasized that she needed to

restore her medicine. She mentioned that the instructions for taking the meds were
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different from the instructions on the paper prescriptions she was given. Responaent
did not document that he discussed with her compliancé. That day respondent issued
her pfescriptions for 240 pills of Hydrocodone-Acetamihobhen with three refills, 90
pills of MS Contin, and 90 pills of Oxycodone. In his note of this date respondent did

not mention the UDT. -

On May 1, 2014, B noted that she had an unplanned surgery on April 1, 2014,
and was recovering}from the bruising from the surgery. Respondent noted that B was
attempting to resolve her financial issues and she asked him for “periodic ativan” for
anxiety. Respondent wrote a prescriptioln for 30 pills of Lorazepam 1 mg.2! He did not
advise her‘ regarding the risks an'c/i of combining the benzodiazepine with opioids.
Respondent also did not document in his note that he referred B to a thérapist‘or

psychiatrist to address her anxiety.?

J
Between this'a_ppointment and her appointment on August 14, 2014,

respondent continued B on the prescriptions in the same amounts and dosages,

including for Lorazepam, he previously issued. At her August 14, 2014, appointment B
wanted another eérly refill because she was going to visit her sister in New Mexico. He
stated, "she is taught about her use of Tylenol.” It is unclear what he meant by this. He

issued pfescriptions for her for the Lorazeparh, MS Contin and Oxycodone.

21 | orazepam is a benzodiazepine and a Schedule IV controlled substance.

Ativan is the brand name for Lorazepam.

22 In his report of the physical exam he performed, which included an
examination of her “Orientation/Mood/Affect”, respondent found B's “"Mood and affect

appropriate.” He did not record that she displayed signs of anxiety..
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On this date, respondent refused to authorize a refill of the Hydrocodone-
Acetaminophen because as he wrote in the request form “Pt ad 3 rf on rx from
6/24/14. Too early.” This suggests that B was taking more of this medication than she

should have been taking.

At her September 8, 2014, appointment reépondent noted that B advised him
that she was taking too much acetaminophen as follows: "her liver enzymes. She is
needing to reduce her acetaminophen.” He did not directly address B's comment in his
note, the basis of her concerns about her “liver enzymes,” and he did not order liver
enzyme testing, refer her to her primary doctor to have such testing done, or advise
her to talk to her primary doctor about the testing. He contihued B on Hydrocodone-
Acetaminophen 10/325 mg without refills and issued her prescriptions for the other

meds he had prescribed in the same amounts and dosages he previously ordered.

13.  The record includes B’s medical chart through March 23, 2015.
Complainant, in the second amended accusation, identifies respondent’s prescriptions
of meds and treatment of B through September 2014 as the cause for discipline.
Respondent’s notes regarding treatment of B after September 2014 are not
summarized except to note these records do not contain a pain agreement and that
respondent d.id not have B to submit to a UDT until February 23, 2015. The lab results
were negative for Oxycodone Hydrochloride, and positive for Hydrocodone

Acetaminophen and MS Contin. This was the first UDT that B took.

14.  As documented in a CURES report published December 31, 2014,
between December 27, 2013, and September 18, 2014, respondent wrote the following
prescriptions for Hydrocodone-Acetaminophen 10/325 mg (Exhibit 13, AGO 9590-
9593) and B filled prescriptions for this med during this time frame in the following
amoﬁnts and on the following dates: 240 pills on December 27, 2013, 240 pills on
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January 18, 2014, 240 pills on February 9, 2014, 96 pills oh February 19, 2014, 50 pills .
on February 27, 2014, and 240 pills on March 4, 2014. After this she filled prescriptidns
for 240 pills of Norco 10/325 mg at two different pharmacies in the same months: 6n-
April 1, 2014, which she filled at Rite_Aid pharmacy, and 240 pills on Apﬁl 15, 2014,
which she filled at CVS pharmacy.

After this B obtained 240 pills of Hydrocodone-Acetaminophen on May 1, 2014,
from a Rite Aid Pharrhacy, 240 pills on May 14, 2014, from a CVS Pharmacy, 240 pills
on May 29, 2014, from a Rite Aid Pharmacy, 240.piIIs onJune 11, 2014, from a CVS
Pharmacy, 240 pills on June 26, 2014, from a-Rite Aid Pharmacy, 240 pills on July 8,
2014 from a CVS Pharmacy, on July 23, 2014, 240 pills, from aa Rite Aid Pharmacy, on
August 14, 2014, 240 pills from a CVS Pharmacy, on August 21, 2014, 240 pills on
August 21, 2014, frofn a a Rite Aid Pharmacy, on September 11, 2014, 80 pills from a a
CVS Pharmacy, and on September 18, 2014, 240 pills from a a Rite Aid Pharmacy.

Thds, according to CURES, B obtained during this time a total of 4,166
Hydrocodone-Acetaminophen 10/325 mg pills. To calculate the number of pills B was
taking daily it is noted that there were 265 days between December 27, 2013, and
September 18, 2014. Dividing the humber of days by the number of pills B obtained
during this time means that B obtained, on average, 15 pills of Hydrocodone-
Acetaminophen 10/325 mg for use on a daily.basis. If one subtracts the 240 pvills she
obtained on September i8, 2014, it is reasonable to conclude that B used 3,926
Hydrocodone-Acetaminophen 10/325 mg pills from December 27, 2013, to September
18, 2014. If one further subtracts the replacement pills she obtained in February 2014
(96 and 50 pills) due to the claimed loss of her meds at that time this leaves 3,780 pills
she obtained. This means that from December 27, 2013, through September 18, 2014,
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B took per day on average 14 Hydrocodone-Acetaminophen 10/325 mg pills.? This
amount was in excess of the dosage of 1 to 2 pills every six hours which respondent

i

instructed B that she may take daily.

-

The CURES report (Exhibit 13) also documents that B obtained controlled
substance medications respondent was prescribing her in excess of 30-day supplies.-
During the 10 months respondent treated B in 2013, B filled 12 prescriptions for 90
piIIs' of MS Contin 30 mg, 15 prescriptions of Norco 10/325 mg (10 prescriptions for
240 pills, four prescriptions for 180 pills and one for 30 pills) and 10 prescriptions of

23 As discussed below, complainant’s expert, Dhiruj Kirpalani, M.D., testified that
B was taking 13 pills daily during this time frame, and this amount exceeded the 4,000
mg of acetaminophen an individual can safely take per day. In contrast, respondent’s
expert, Greg Polston, M.D., as discussed below, testified that respondent issued
prescriptions between December 2013 and September 8, 2014, for B to use daily in
amounts which were less than 4,000 mg per day and, thus, B was safely taking
Hydrocodone-Acetaminophen 10/325 mg during this time. (Exhibit I, referencing
specific parts of Exhibits 10 and 11.) But, Dr. Polston did not consider the number of
prescriptions for Hydrocodone-Acetaminophen 10/325 mg from respondent that B |
filled, and the amount of pills she obtained during this time, based on respondent’s
prescriptions and refills the December 31, 2014, CURES report documents. (Exhibit 13,
AGO 9590-9593.) As noted, respondent instructed B to take 1 to 2 pills daily as needed
up to four times a day, which amounted to eight pills a day of Hydrocodone-
Acetaminophen 10/325 mg for 2,600 mg of acetaminophen; however, B was taking far

in excess of this. amount according to the CURES report.
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Oxycodone. In 2014, B filled 13 prescriptions of 90 pilis 6f MS Contin 30 mg, 20
p.rescriptions for Norco 10/325 (15 prescriptions for 240 pills, 3 for 180 pills, and 1 for
50 pills), and 13 prescriptions for Oxycodone 10 mg (10 prescriptions for 90 pills and 3
for 120 pills). |

Despite the amount of opioid pain meds she was téking, B did not have a pain
agreement. Respondent, in addition, did not run CURES reports other than at the time
of her first visit, and he did not have B submit to UDTs after he obtained a CURES

report for B at her initia_l visit on Februéry 27, 2013.
PATIENTC

15. Patient C (”IE’atient C" or “C") initially saw respondent for chronic arm.and
shoulder pain management on August 8, 2008, when he was ih his late 20s, and
respondent treated with him through May 28, 2014. Patient C signed »a pain agreement
August 8, 2008, and this was the only pain agreement C signed. Before seeing
respondent, C underwent two shoulder surgeries in 2003 and 2006. To manage C's
pain, respondent prescfibed him high dose opioids, including Oxycontin, Oxycédohe, .
Dilaudid and MS Contin. ResQondent also prescribed Soma, Ambien, Lorazepam, and a
muscle relaxant.?* Dﬁring the period of time at issue hefe, respondent administered
numerous joint injections to C's shoulder to help alleviate the pain. He also had C

submit to UDTs. However, despite results that raised concerns regarding C's

24 Soma, known by its generic name carisoprodol, is a Schedule IV controlled
substance which is classified under Health and Safety Code section 11057, subdivision
(d)(18), as meprobamate, a metabolite of Soma. Ambien, which is known by the brand

name zolpidem, is also a Schedule IV controlled substance.
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medication use, respondent did not document he discussed these results with C or

explain his thinking about the results.

Respondent documenfed his treatment of C and the prescriptions he issued
to Cin his records. The following records describe respondent’s prescribing
practices for the time period complainant’s expert, Dhiruj Kirpalani, M.D., discussed

in his testimony:

At C's January 12, 2012, visit C wanted to “add back the hydromorphone for
a back up.” C said he noticed “seasonal problems that he is experiencing
secondary to weather changes."’ Respondent encburaged"C to maintain his
medication program: He issued prescriptions to C, for a 30-day supply, for 360 pills
of Oxycodone 30 mg, 90 pills of _OxyCOnfinzs, SO mg, 90 pills of Soma, 350 mg, 30
pills of Ambien 12.5 mg, 30 pills of Dilaudid, 8 mg, and 60 pills of Cymbalta, 60 |
mg. Respondent instructed C that he may take up to two Oxycodone pills up to six
times a day as néeded. Respondént recorded that he performed a physical '
examination. In his plan he wrote “UDT to address compliance and di-version. Itis
consistent.” The basis of respdndent’s comment that C's UDT was consistent is not

clear from the record.

C, at his next visit on February 8, 2012, reporte‘d that thé medications Had
been working and was getting propei' pain control. He stated he was getting
anxiety attacks with his pain. He stated further that if the pain was controlled he
did not experience the anxiety attacks. Respondent discussed with him methods to
control his anxiety. Respondent added, “He needs to stay ahead of the pain. He is |

having more issues with the weather.” Respondent documented, under the “Plan”

_ 25 Oxycontin is a Schedule II controlled substance. It is a long acting opioid.
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section under a section captioned “Patient Education,” “The importance of
compliance with the agreed upon course of action was stressed and that
noncompliance could lead to untoward health outcomes. Discussed informétion,”
It is not clear what “information” respondent discussed with C. Respondent

continued C on the same medications in the same amounts and dosages.

At C's March 6, 2012, visit, fespondent administered a UDT to C which came
back negative for Dilaudid in a lab report from Millennium dated March 11, 2012.
Considering C was prescribed Dilaudid this result raised the question whether C
was diverting the medication, did not need to-use it, or he had run out of Dilaudid
because he was taking more Dilaudid than he should have been. Respondent did
not document he discussed this result with C at his subsequent visit on April‘3,
2012, and he continued to prescribe medications to‘C fn the same amounts and in
the same dosages he previously prescribed. Respondent did not document in the

March 6, 2012, note any goals for C.

On March 21, 2012, C called respondent and stated he “is running out of
medication.” Respondent noted that C should have plenty of medications to make
it to his next appéintment and, per his pain treatment agreement, “it may not be
possible to replace lost or stolen medication.” This note raised fhe possibility that

C was using more meds than he was being prescribed.

At C's April 3, 2012, visit, as noted, respondent did not discuss the
inconsistent UDT and prescribed C's meds in the same amounts and dosages he

previously prescribed.

On May 1, 2012, C reported that he had an issue with work and "was having

a tough time going in the morning.” He asked for a note that “reflects his difficulty
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in getting going in the morning.” Respondeht commented that C was “having
some tolerance issue,” he noted also that C was having “some issues” with “his
relationship in that when he is-having more pain hej'ust checks out.” Respondent
stated that he was reluctant to increase C's medications and he was hopeful there
was a “nonmedication means for controlling his pain.” He added that C continued
to have significant pain with functional deficits with respect to his shoulders.
Respondent maintained C on the same médications and a muscle relaxant, 30 pills
of Tizanidine?® 4 mg to be taken at bedtime as needed with three refills.
Respondent’s note from this date repopulated the same note under the caption
“Patient Education.” For a goal, responderit wanted C to increase his ability to self-

manage pain and related problems.

At this visit, respondent again had C undergo a UDT. Again, C tested -
negative for Dilaudid according to the Millennium lab report dated May 3, 2012.
As noted immediately above, this suggested that C may have been diverting the
med, using more than he should have been or did not need to take it. Respondent,
once again, did not discuss this result with C at his next visit on May 24, 2012, or

-for that matter at any time.

Oddly, at C's May 24, 2012, office visit witH respondent, respondent wrote in |
his note, under ”Plan,’-’ “UDT to address compliance and diversion. It is consistent.”
This is the same language previously used in prior notes and appears to be
boilerplate language that respondent repopulated. At any rate, respondent did not
explain in the note how the May 3, 2012, negative lab result for Dilaudid could be

deemed a consistent result.

26 Tizandine is a short-acting muscle relaxer.
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According'to this note, respondent continued C on the Oxycodone,.
Oxycontin, Dilaudid, and Soma. He added Wellbutrin and a Flector patch.'27 He had

previously prescribed these meds to C in 2010.

Prior to C's next visit on June 21, 2012, respondent administered a joint
injection to C on June 13, 2012. C reported at his June 21, 2012, visit that the [ast
two weeks he was having’ a tough time and he left arm had gone “very numb.”
Respondent increased the qﬁantity of Dilaudid he was prescribing C from 90 to
120 pills despite the two recent negative UDTS. He added once again the

Tizanidine muscle relaxant and Naproxen Sodium.

Respondent administered another joint injection to C at his July 18, 2012,
appointment and he issued prescriptions to C for Oxycodone, Oxycontin, Dilaudid,
and Soma in the same amounts and in the same dosagés previously ordered.
There is, however, no corresponding note indicating that respondent conducted

an exam of C this date or that documents C’s level of pain.

Respondent administered a third joint injection to C on August 15, 2012,
and he issued the following prescriptions for C that day: Oxycodone, Oxycontin,
Dilaudid, and Soma in the same amounts and doses previously ordered. He added,
however, 60 pills of Lorazepam 1 mg. He also added a Voltaren Transdermal Gel.
There is, again, no corresponding note indicating that respondent conducted an

exam of C this date or that C's level of pain was documented.

27 Wellbutrin, which has the generic name Bupropion, is a medication used to

treat depression. It is a dangerous drug pursuant to Section 4022.

46



On this date, respondent had C undergo a UDT. The August 17, 2012,
Millennium lab result was again negative for Dilaudid. This was the third straight
urine screen that was negative for Dilaudid. Yet, respondent in subsequent notes

did not document that he discussed this result with C.

C called respondent on August 30, 2012, and said that the pHarmacist
“shorted” him 30 Oxycodone pills. Respondent’s office called the pharmacy and
was told that the pharmacy did not short respondent’s Oxycodone pills. Of
concern in. this note, C asked “to go on detox.” He also wanted to see respondent
on September 10 instead of September 12 due to transportation issues. The next
day C called and said he thought he would be in withdrawal by the middle of next
week. He ésked if he could stop his medication for the three-day weekend to avoid

missing work to ease the withdrawal symptoms.

Per respondent’s note, “The patient is brought in and his program is

redone.” No other information was provided.

C saw respondent on Se-ptember 5, 2012. Respondent stated he reviewed all
of C’'s medications to check them for “conflict.” He found “[n]o conflict.”
Respondent noted that C had responded “to intermittent injection” [sic]. His plan
consisted of “UDT to addfess compliance and diversion. It is consistent.”
Respondent refilled C's medications and he issued prescriptions for Ambien and
Cymbalta. He changed the prescription for Oxycodone from 30 mg to 15 mgin a
quantity of 720 pills as opposed‘to the 360 pills thaf he was prescribing. He
changed the Oxycontin to 40 mg from 80 mg and increased the quantity of the
pills from 90 to 180. He did not issue a prescription for Dilaudid this date and he

did not document in his September 5, 2012, that he was stopping this prescription.
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On September 12, 2012, respondent administered the fourth joint injection
to C. Respondent again had C submit a UDT and again respondent tested negative
for Dilaudid. This was the fourth UDT in a row where C tesfed negative for
Dilaudid. Respondent did not document that he discussed these results with Ciin
any of his notes, what, if any action he took in response to the results, or his

thoughts regarding the hegative screens.

On October 3, 2012, respondent issued 'prescriptions to C for 12(5 pills of
Dilaudid, 90 pills of Oxycontin, 360 pills of Oxycodone, and 60 pills of Lorazepam.

There is no accompanying note for this date.

C had joint injections on October 31, 2012, and November 28, 2012. On
October 31, 2012, respondent issued prescriptions for the same medications
ordered on October 3, 2012, in the same amounts and dosages. On November 28,
2012, he issued paper prescriptions for 360 Oxycodone pulls, 90 Oxycontin pillé,
and 120 Dilaudid pills. There are no accompanying progress notes for these dates.:
On November 29, 2012, for somé reason, respondent issued an electronic
prescription for 60 Lorazepam plills-,' although he signed the prescription on
December 19, 2012. There is, again, no acCompanying progress note for this date.
There is no explanation why this prescription was issued in a digital form while the

- prescriptions issued on November 28, 2012, were issued by paper prescriptions.

On December 19, 2012, respondent administered another joint injection to
C. He issued prescriptions to C for Oxycodone, Oxycontin, and Dilaudid in the
same amounts and dosages preVioust ordered this date. There is no
accompanying progress note for this date. Respondent submitted to another UDT
on Deéember 19, 2012, which this time showed Dilaudid, as eXpected, inC's
system.
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On January 16, 2013, respondent issued prescriptions for C for 360
Oxycodone pulls, 90 Oxycontin pills, and 120 Dilaudid pills. bn this date, he added
90 pills of Soma 300 mg, which he had ordered in pasf visits. There is no
accompanying progress note for this visit and, as a result, respondent did not

explain why he added the Soma. ‘

At C's February 13, 2013, appointment wfth respondent, C asked “for a
change in his quantity prescribing [sic].” Respondent noted that respondent was
functioning better with the injections. He checked C’'s medications for conflict and
found no conflict. Respohdent identified the goal to increase C's ability to self-
manage pain and related problems. Under the caption “Patient Education,”
respondent wrote: “Questions were encouraged to stated satisfaction from the
patient. The importancé of compliance with the agreed upon course of action was
stressed and that noncompliance could lead to untoward health outcomes.
Discussed information on activity and restfictions body mechanics, chronic pain,
depression.” On this date respondent issued prescriptions to C for 360 Oxycodone
pills, 90 Oxycontin pills, and 120 Dilaudid pills. ’

C next saw réspondenf on March 13, 2013. At this visit, he had C submit to
another UDT. According to the Millennium lab report dated March 15, 2013, C
once again tested negative for Dilaudid. Also, hydrocodone was identified ih his
system. According to the lab report, the hydrocodone was not matched to any of
C's prescriptions. The lab report noted further that hydrocodone “is also a minor
metabolite of codeine.” Despite this information respondent did not document he
discussed these results with C. Respondent issued prescriptions for Oxycontin,

Dilaudid, 360 pills of Oxycodone 15 mg and 360 pills of Oxycodone-30 mg. It is not
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clear from the record why respondent was prescribing two different dosages of

Oxycodone. There is no accempanying progress note for this date.

On April 10, 2013, C had another joint injection. Respondent issued
prescriptions to C for 360 30 mg Oxycodone pills, 360 15 mg Oxycodone pills, 120
Dilaudid pills, and 90 pills of Oxycontin on this date. There is no accompanying

progress note in C's records for this date.

At C's May 8, 2013, appointment with respondent, C stated that he was
“trying to wean himself from his medication due to cost but he is having some
issues.” H.e reported he had been placed on disability. C told respondent he was
down to one 80 mg Oxycontin. He said he was willing to use morphine, as he had

used morphine in the past. Respondent stated, “Reduction, consolidation and A
weaning program is in process.” On this date, respondent issued the following

prescriptions to C: 90 pills of MS Contin 60 mg, 360 pills of Oxycodone, 30 mg.

On May 23, 2013, C called respondent’s office and asked for prescriptions
for Oxycontin, Oxycodone and Dilaudid because “he has insurance for now but will
be cancelled tn 6/1." Respondent did not document his response. On May 24,
2013, respon.dent issued to C a prescription for 120 pills of Dilaudid 8 mg. In
response to a note from C’s pharmacy dated May 25, 2013, respondent authorized

three refills for Soma 350 mg on May 28, 2013.

C called respondent’s office again on May 29, 2013, and advised respondent
that his insurance was running out at the end of May and he would like to be seen
at end of the month. Respondent noted C's request. On May 30, 2013, C reported
that he was running low on funds and needed.to rework his medications. C also

reported he was having very little use of his left upper extremity. Respondent
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stated that he reviewed options with C .and will try to havé him “rely on short |
acting generics.” He said that C's functional level was about the same.
Respondent’s plan for C was identified as follows: “Medication reduction program
in process.” His goal for C was the same goal he previously identified. Under
“Patient Education” he used the same language he previously used in this seétioﬁ.
Respondent issued prescriptions for 360 pills of 15 mg Oxycodone and 90 MS
Contin pills.

On June 12, 2013, C called respondent and stated that the Oxycodone 15 mg
was not helping with his pain and he wanted “something stfonger.” Respondent did
not document in his note his response, but he issued another prescription for 180 pills

of 30 mg Oxycodone.

C saw respondent on June 27, 2013. At this visit C told respondent that he
could not afford Oxycodone and he was not working. Respondent stated that C
was stable but would like to get more relief. He reviewed his program and
provided refills. His goal for C was the same. For his plan for C, respondent stated
that the medication reduction pIa>n was in place and respondent would try to come
in for a shoulder injection if he could afford it. On this date, respondent issued

prescriptions to C for 360 pills of 15 mg Oxycodone and 90 MS Contin pills.

C called respondent’s office on July 24, 2013. He stated that his wife would
vbe starting a new job on July 25, 2013, and they had only one car. As a result, he -
wa-s not able to make his appointhent. He asked respondent to write prescriptions
for him for that month. Respondent issued prescriptions for 360 pills of 15 mg

Oxycoddne and 90 MS Contin pills that day.
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On August 20, 2013, C saw respondent and reported that he was able to get
only one half of his short acting medicine and was having continued financial
issues. Respondent stated that he would try to balaﬁce his progfam to make it
“more affordable." He documented the same goal for C and patient education he
had previously documented. This date, respondent issued to C prescriptions for
180 pills of Oxycodone 30 mg for a 15-day supply and 90 pills of MS Contin for a
30-day supply. Previously, on August 18, 2013, C's pharmacy asked respondent to
authorize refills of Soma for C. Respondent authorlzed one refill of Soma on

August 19, 2013.

C called respondent’s office on August 26, 2013, and asked whether “[gliven
15-day supply of Oxycodone” he can pick up the remaining amount. Réspondent
did not notate his response, but he issued on this date a prescription for 180 pills

of Oxycodone 30 mg.

C called respondént again on September 10, 2013, and stated he needed a
prescription for Oxycodone because he had run out of his medication, he was not
doing well and he took more than usual. He asked to be able té pick up the
medication when he got paid. Per th.e note, resp‘ondent stated that he was unable
to give medication early. Two days later, on September 12, 2013, respondent, at

the pharmacy’s request, authorized C to have two refills of Soma.

C then saw respondent on September 16, 2013. C told respondent he was

using the TENS unit® respondent had recommendéd. He told respondent he was

28 A transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation'(”TENS") unit is a battery-

operated device that some people use to treat pain.
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using distraction to control pain. Respondent documented that he reviewed C's
medications and provided C with “appropriate” refill prescriptions with
instructions. C reported he was still having trouble with sleep. Respondent
documented that the medicatibn reduction program was in progress and he was
going to schedule C for a shoulder injection. He documented the same patient
education he previously documented. He issued C prescriptions for 180 pills of

Oxycodone 30 mg and 90 pills of Soma.

Two days later, on September 18, 2013, C called and stated he needed a
prescription for MS Contin. He said he could not do without the medication and
wanted to pick up the mediation. Respondent issued a prescription for 180 pills of

Oxycodone 30 mg and 90 pills of MS Contin that date.

On October 9, 2013, C called to ask to pick up a prescription for a later date
because he had to go to Ohio because his grandfather was ill. No action was
documented. On this date, respondent issued prescriptions to C for 180 pills of

Oxycodone, 90 pills of MS Contin, and 90 pills of Soma.

On October 21, 2013, C saw respondent and reported that he had to buy
two seats on an airplane because his weight had increased to such an extent he
needed the two seats. Respondent documented C was using his medications as
prescribed, but he was having trouble filling them because of his finances. He
documented the same plan, goals and patient education he previously
documented. He issued prescriptions to C for 360 pills of Oxycodone 30 mg and

90 pills of MS Contin.
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On November 6, 2013, the pharmacy called respondent’s office and advised
respondent that C wanted to refill his MS Contin prescription 6 days early.

Respondent was recorded to say it was ok to do this.

16.  During an approximate ten-month period when respondent was treating
C, he wrote prescriptions for opioid meds in more than 30-day supplies according
to a CURES report complainant obtained, which was received into evidence,

(Exhibit 17, AGO 5559-5562) as follows: .

17.  In 2012, 14 prescriptions of 90 pills of OxyContin 80 mg. (Exhibit 17,
AGO 5559-5562);

1In 2012, 14 prescriptions of 360 pills of Oxycodone 30 mg. (Exhibit 17, AGO
5559-5562); © .

In 2012, 14 prescriptions of Hydromorphone 8 mg. (Eig.ht prescriptions for
120 pills 5 for 90 pills and 1 for 30 pills) (Exhibit 17, AGO 5559-5562); and

In 2013, 20 prescriptions of short acting Oxycodone (15 mg or 30 mg tablets)
(Exhibit 17, AGO 5559-5562);

18. In March, April, May, June, Septémber, and October of 2013, C filled
two prescriptions of short acting Oxycodone each of these months. According to
the CURES report admitted into evidence, in March 2013 he filled prescriptions for
360 pills of Oxycodone on March 13 and 22, 2013, April 10 and 18, 2013, May 8
and 30, 2013, June 13 and 27, 2013, September 16 and 30, 2013, and October 12
and 26, 2013.
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TESTIMONY OF COMPLAINANT'S EXPERT, DR. KIRPALANI, REGARDING

PATIENTS A, BAND C

19.  Complainant called Dhiruj Kirpalani, M.D., as an expert witness to address

- respondent’s prescriptions of high dose opioids and other meds to Patients A, B and C.

Dr. Kirpalani has been board certified in Pain Medicine since 2009 and Physical
Medicine & Rehabilitation since 2008. He obtained a Doctor of Medicine Degree from
the Rosalind Franklin University of_ Medicine & Science (formerly named Finch
University of the Health Sciences)/The Chicago Medical School. He completed an
internship at St. Joseph's Hospital, a residency in Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation
at Stanford University Medical Center and a fellowship in pain medicine also at
Stanford University Medical Center. He has conducted résearch in the field of pain
_ medicine and authored articles based on his reseafch. Since 2008, Ee has worked at
Kaiser Permanente in Santa Clara. At Kaiser, he practices pain management as part of a
multidisciplinary team which includes p'sych‘ologists and other clinicians. He is licensed

to practice medicine in California.

To assess respondent’s prescribing practices and treatment of these three

~ patients, complainant asked Dr. Kirpalani to review medical records, CURES reports
and other materials relating to réspondent’s care of them. Dr. Kirpalani reviewed these
materials and prepared a report dated Méy 4, 2017, in which he identified specific
departures from applicable standards of care relatihg to the préscription of pain meds.

Dr. Kirpalani's testimony in this hearing was materially consistent with his report. -

Dr. Kirpalani identified the applicable standards of care and the degrees of
departures from standards of care in his review. In identifying the standards of care,

Dr. Kirpalani referenced the Board's 2007 and 2014 Guidelines for Prescribing

55



Controlled Substances for Pain ("Guidelines,” 2007 and Nov. 2014). As he put it, these
Guidelines helped “inform” the basis of his opinions. Dr. Kirpalani acknowledged
differences between the 2007 and 2014 Guidelines and that standards for prescribing
pain medications have evolved between 2007 and 2014, which incIuded the time
respondent prescﬁbed meds to Patients A, B and C. The notable differences be’_cWeen
these Guidelines involve the use of Pain Agreements, UDTs and CURES to monitor

patient compliance with a pain medication regimen.

20. In November 2011, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)
declared prescription drug abuse to be a nationwide epidemic. (Guidelines for
Prescribing Controlled Substances, Nov. 2014, p. 1.) After "chis, as Dr. Kirpalani stated,
the standard of care “started to move,” and the care and treatment of pain
management patients changed. By this time, Dr. Kirpaléni testified doctors within the
pain management field knew that patients may abuse medications, and also, doctors
were-aware of research that showed the limited _effitacy of extensive opioid use. As a
specialist in the field of pain management, respondent seemed to recognize the
standards changed before November 2014, as before November 2014, respondent
monitored Patients A, B, and C, using pain agreemenfs, UDTs and CURES reports, to

varying degrees.

The 2014 Guidelines recommend using UDTs and CURES (Pain Guidelines, Nov.
2014, page 15). Additionally, in the 2014 Guidelines, pain management agreements
(page 11) are recommended for patients expected to receive more than three months

of opioids.

While the 2014 Guidelines recommend the use of UDTs, CURES and pain
>agreements, the 2007 Guidelines recommended a doctor to periodically review the
course of pain treatment of the patient and any new information about the etiology of

56 -



the pain or the patient’s state of health. In this regard, the 2007 Guidelines provided as

follows:

[Clontinuation or modification of controlled substances for
management therapy depends on the evaluation of
progress toward treatment objectives. If the patient's
progress is unsatisfactory, the physician and surgeon should
assess the appropriateness of continued use of the current
treatment plan and consider the use of other treatment

modalities.

The 2007 Guidelines, further, recommended required that a doctor “provide

ongoing and follow-up care as appropriate and necessary.”

While the Board in its November 2014 Guidelines formally recommend the use
of UDTs, CURES, and Pain Agreements for monitoring purposes, before this date
respondent used these tools to monitor Patients A, B and C. This is consistent with

changes in the standard of care that took'place after 2012.

As a pain management specialist, respondent seemed to recognize the
standards changed after 2012 and before the Board promulgated the November 2014
Guidelines as exemplified by the fact that respondent monitored Patients A, B, and C,
by the use of pain agreements, UDTs and CURES reports, to varying degrees, before
November 2014. Thus, by 2012, it is apparent that, as a standard of practice, pain
managehent specialists had as tools to monitor their pain management patients’

compliance with their medication regimens, pain agreements, CURES and UDTs.
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DR. KIRPALANI'S ASSESSMENT OF RESPONDENT'S TREATMENT OF PATIENT A

21.  Dr. Kifpalani identified four issues involving respondent’s prescription of
pain meds to Patient A: Monitoring while on controlled substances, acetaminophen.

toxicity, informed consent, and inconsistent urine screen results.

Regarding monitoring while on controlled substances, Dr. Kirpalani identified

the standard of care as follows:

§
/

If the patient is consideréd appropriate for opioid therapy, a
moni‘toring plan should be implemented to ensure patiént
safety. Elements of the monitoring plan ihclude periodic
review of the treétment plan and progress towards goals
(more frequently in high risk patients), rahdom_urine
screens, and frequent review of PDMP [Prescription Drng
Monitoring Progrém or “CURES"] report, 30 day refills and
pill counting (when appropriate). Patients should be |
tapered off opioids if they engage in aberrant behaviprs,
have adverse side effects, or make no progress towards

therapeutic goals.

Dr. Kirpalani stated that resp‘on.dent committed an extreme .depa-rture from this
standard of care because respondent did not adeduately -monifor A in a number of
ways: He ignored respondent’s repeated aberrant behaviors, which included frequent
ER visits, her daughtef taking her pain meds, she obtained opioids from other doctors,
aﬁd she had numerous inconsistent urine screens. Dr. Kirpalani stated that lever{

“though the standard of care did ndt réquire respondent to have A undergo these

screens until 2014, respondent elected to have A undergo these screens as part of his
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monitoring of A and he was still responsible to monitor A in light of the results of the
inconsistent screens. Yet, respondent continued to prescfibe Patient A pain

medications. Dr. Kirpalani commented that it was hard for him to imégine any doctor )
continuing the meds respondent prescribed A considering the severity of her aberrant

behaviors.

Further, Dr. Kirpalani did not see from respondent’s records that A was
obtaining any functional improvements in her condition despite receiving large
quantities of high-dose opioids. He notéd that between 2011 to 2013, respondent
prescribed opioid medications to Patient A, including morphine equivalent doses
(MED) that exceeded 300 MEDs. Dr. Kirpalani explained that MEDs are used to equate
differént opioids into one standard value. MED calculations permit all opioids to be
converted to an equivalent of one medication, for ease of comparislon and risk
evaluations. The CDC has cautioned that taking above 90 MEDs per day poses a high

risk, but pain specialists are not limited in the amount of MEDs they may prescribe.?®

The second issue Dr. Kirpalani identified relating to respondent’s care of A was - .
"acetaminophen toxicity.” He identified the applicable standard of care here as follows:
To avoid significant liver damage, the maximum recommended dose of
acetaminophen is 4,000 mg per day. Dr. Kirpalani testified that respondent, for a two-

year period from 2011 to 2013, was prescribing six pills of Lortab 7.5/500 mg and four

29 During the hearing respondent emphasized that there is no upper MED limit
for pain management specialists to prescribe. The parties’ experts agreed, however,
that while there is no upper prescribing limit for opioids a pain, a management
specialist still has a duty to exercise appropriate clinical judgment when prescribing

the amount of opioids.
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pil_ls of Percocet 10/325 mg daily to A. This equaled 4,300 mg per day for this period.
He noted in his report that from December 2011 to November 2012, the average

amount of acetaminophen respondent was prescribing A was 5,000 mg per day.

Due to the length of time respondent was prescribing this amount of |
acetaminophen and the risk of liver damage to A that this amount of acetaminophen
posed, Dr. Kirpalani found that this represented an extre_rhe departure due to the
length of time respondent was prescribing this amount of acetaminophen and the risk

of liver damage to A that this amount of-acétarhinop'hen posed.

Dr. Kirpalani next identified the third issue he found as “informed consent.” He
articulated this standard of care as follows: "Risks and benefits of the use of controlled

substances and other treatment modalities should be discussed with the patient.”

Dr. K‘irpalani testified that respondent had A Sign pain agreements on June 26,
2008, July 18, 2011, and September 16, 2014. Although the standard of care did not
require respondent to use these pain agreements, respondent had her sign them and,
as Dr. Kirpalani noted, she repeatedly violated them and as part of his duty to monitor
A respondent could not ignore these results. He, thus, was responsible to act on the
results. Despite the agreemehts, C obtained pain meds from multiple providers and
pharmacies and often reported her meds were lost or stolen. In his report Dr. K'irpalan‘i
faulted respondent for allowing A to obtain one emérgency room (ER) visit pér month

for pain exacerbations.

Dr. Kirpalani concluded that considering the number of violations of A’s pain
agreements and the fact that respondent allowed her to go to the ER as part of her

controlled substances agréement and he continued to prescribe high doses of opioids
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to A déspite her repeated violations of these agreeménts, respondent committed an

extreme de'parture from the standard of care.

The fourth issue that Dr. Kirpalani identified related specifically to A’s

inconsistent urine screens. He identified the standard of care as follows:

After controlled substance therapy is initiated, random
urine screens should be performed periodically to ensure
' compliance with treatment. If urine -drué\tests are
repeatedly inconsistent with medications prescribed,
particularly if the medication is not detected in the urine,

the medicatio_n(s) should be discontinued.

Dr. Kirpalaniidentified 14 times between 2011 and 2014 that urine screens that
respondent had A undergo were inconsistent with medications he was prescribing her.
Dr. Kirpalani noted specifically the Novem_ber 11, 2014, urine screen result that showed
A had no controlled substances in her system. Despite this result, in A's records
respondent did not detail that he discussed with her these inconsistent results.

Moreover, he continued to prescribe her hlgh dose opioids.

Dr. Kirpalani characterized respondent’s violations of this standard as an

extreme departure due to the number of inconsistent results.
DR. KIRPALANI'S ASSESSMENT OF RESPONDENT’S TREATMENT OF PATIENT B

22.  Dr. Kirpalani identified the following issues with respect to respondent’s
treatment of Patient B: Respondent's Screening of B for opioid therapy, informed
consent, overprescribing pain medications, acetaminophen toxicity, and monitoring B

while she was using controlled substances.
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Dr. Kirpalani first identified the standard of care for screening patients for

opioid therapy as follows:

i

Proper patient assessment and selection is essential before
initiating and continuing opioid therapy for chronic pain.
Elements of this screening process include a thorough
history and physical exam, appraisal of prior non-opioid
treatments, asses‘sment of psych'oldgical and addiction risk,
“baseline urine drug screening, and review of the PDMP

report.

Dr. Kirpalani testified that respondent.did not meet this standard of care when |
he assessed B at B's initial February 27, 2013 visit. Respondent did not assess B's prior
non-opioid treatments for pain, assess B's psychological or addiction risk, and he did
not order a urine drug screen. Dr. Kirpalani‘characterized the level of departure from

this standard of care as simple.

With respect to the informed consent issue he idehtified, Dr. Kirpélani stated
that the standard of care required respondent to discuss with B the risks and benefits
of using controlled substances and respondent should have discussed other treatment
modalities with her. Dr. Kirpalani also testified that respondent was required to have
this discussion when B’s medications changed and, in particular, when he added the
benzodiazepine fo B's treatment regimen. He C6mmented that most doctors would
have docu.mented this discussion or have their patients sign pain agreements. Dr.
Kirpalani foﬁnd it notable that respondent did not have B sign a controlled substances

agreement. No such agreement was in B's records.
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Dr. Kirpalani opined that respondent departed from this standard- of care
because he did not document he discussed the risks and benefits of controlléd
substances. Regarding the degree of departure Dr. Kirpalani believed that this
violation of the standard of care represented an extreme departure. He said that
respondent, even if there was a pain agreement in place, should have discussed with B

the risks and benefits of benzodiazepines when he added it to her treatment regimen.

Regarding the overprescribing of &:ontrolling substances to B issue, Dr. Kirpalani
testified that the standard of care required respondent to provide B with 30-day
supplies without refills of the controlled substances he was prescribing. Respondent
departed from this standard of care multiple times and the departure was extreme in

Dr. Kirpalani's opinion.

Dr. Kirpalani identified from the CURES report for 2013 to 2014 (Exhibit 13) that
in the ten months respondent treated B in 2013, B filled 12 prescriptions for 90 pills of
MS Contin 30 mg, and 15 prescriptions for Norco 10/325 mg (10 prescriptions for 240
pills, four prescriptions for 180 pills and one for 30 pills). For 2014, B filled 13
prescriptions of 90 pills of MS Contin 30 mg, 20 prescriptions for Norco 10/325 (15
prescriptions for 240 pills, 3 for 180 pills, and 1 for 50 pills), and 13 prescriptions for
Oxycodone 10 mg (10 prescriptions for 90 pills and 3 for 120 pills).

Because B was able to fill these prescriptions in these amounts during the 2013
and 2014 time frame, B routinely obtained in excess of 30-day supplies of each of
these controlled substances because reépondent was seeing B in less than 30 day
increments and also, was providing B with early refills of controlled substances. As
noted, during this time frame, respondent did not obtain a CURES report to assess the

amount of prescriptions B was obtaining.
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Regarding the fourth issue Dr. Kirpalani identified, acetaminophen toxicity, the
maximum recommended dose of acetaminophen should never exceed 4,000 mg per
day. From December 27, 2013, through September 2014, B was taking well in excess of
this amopnt. During this time, .respondent pfescribe’d 240 pills of Norco 10/325 mg
(which included one prescription for 180 pills of Norco) 17 times. As a result, B
appeared to be taking an éverage of 14 Hydrocodone-Acetaminophen 10/325 mg pills
per day. Considering that each pill contains 325 mg of acetaminophen, B was
exceeding the 4,000 mg maximum amount she should have taken. Had respondent
run CURES reports for fhis time, respondent would have been able to see this. In an
effort to highlight the extent to which respondent was overprescribing Norco to B, Dr.
Kirpalani stated that betweeh December 2013 and thropgh ‘May 2014 respondent
wrote 16 prescriptions of Norco 10/325 mg for B. Respondent, in fact, wrote 13
prescriptions for Norco for B during this time, which included three three-time refills

and a prescription for 50 Norco pills.
Dr. Kirpalani found the degree of departure here to be extreme.

Regarding the fifth issue, monitoring B while she was taking controlled

substances, Dr. Kirpalani identified the standard of care as follows:

If the patient is considered appropriate for opioid therapy, a ‘
~monitoring plan should be outlined to ensure patiént
safety. Elements of,this. monitoring plan include periodic
review of the treatment plan and progress towards goals
(more frequently in high risk patients), random urine-
screens, and freq‘uent review of PDMP report, 30 day refills
and pill counting (When appropriate). Patients should be
tapered off opioids if t‘hey engage in aberrant behaviors,
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have adverse side effects, or make no progress towards

therapeutic goals.

Dr. Kirpalani testified that respondent violated the standard of care in the
following respects: AlthoUgh he saw B on a regular basis to review her treatment plan,
he did not idéntify specific treatment goals in his documentation. He only idehtified
the treatment goal in general terms as follows: “Increase the patient’s ability to self-
m>anage pain and related problems. Maximize and maintain optimal physical activity
and function. Reduce subjective pain intenéity." He did not have B submit to a UDT
until Feb'ruar‘y 23, 2015, two years after respondent began prescribing controlled

substances.

B engaged in concerning aberrant behaviors: she reported that her medications
were lost and stolen, she needed early refills for travel, and she was filling prescriptions
at more than one pharmacy in less than 30-d‘ay intervals. Dr. Kirpalani gave as an
example'réspohdent’s failure to mo-nitor that B filled 240 pills of Norco 10/325 mg on
April 1, 2014, at Rite Aid Pharmacy and just two weeks later on April 15, 2014, she
filled another prescription for 240 pills of Norco 10/325 mg at a CVS Pharmacy. He
identified the same pattern of filling prescriptions for 240 pills of Norco 10/325 mg on
May 1, 2014, May 14, 2014, May 29, 2014, Juﬁe 11, 2014 and June 26, 2014. He found
it concerning that respondent was not running CURES reports on B in 2013. Dr.
Kirpalani also found it concerning that réspondent did not ask B to bring in her

medications for pill counting.

Dr. Kirpalani concluded that respondent’s breach of the standard of care

 constituted an extreme departure because respondent continued to prescribe

controlled substances to B despite lack of clear functional goals, lack of adequate
monitoring, and B's aberrant behaviors.

65



DR. KIRPALANI'S ASSESSMENT OF RESPONDENT’S TREATMENT OF PATIENT C

Al

23.  Regarding Patient C, Dr. Kirpalani initiaﬂy identified the following four
issues, as charged in fhe'second amended accusation: Screening, informed consent,
overprescribing pa.in medic.ations, and inconsistent urine screen results. However, at
the start of the hearing, eomplainant withdrew the screening issue (Paragraph 57,
subdivision (c), page 1\7). Dr. Kirpalani's summary of the three standards of care

applicable to each of the remaining three issues is identified above.

Regarding the informed consent issue, Dr. Kirpalani concluded that respbndent '
departed from this standard of care for these reasons: Respondent only required C to
sign one pain managemen"t agreement in six years, af his initial visit on August 6, 2008,
and C vio]ated this agreement multiple times with frequent requests for early refills
due to selif-escalating medication use, losing his prescriptions, or reporting them as
stolen. The fact that reSpondent continued to prescribe high dose opioids to C given
his behavior, in Dr. Kirpalani's opinion, represented an extreme departure from the

7

standard of care.

Regarding overprescribing pain medications te C, Dr. Kirpalani found that
respondent repeatedly prescribed these medications to C in greater than 30-day
supplies and, thus, violated this standard of care as detailed above }as. follows: In 2012,
14 prescriptions of 90 pills of OxyContin 80 mg. (Exhibit 17, AGO 5559-5562); in 2012,
14 prescriptions of 360 pills of Oxycodone 30 mg. (Exhibivt 17, AGO 5559-5562);in 2012,
14 prescriptions of Hydromorphone 8 mg. (8 prescriptions for 120 pills 5 for 90 pills
and 1 for 30 pills) (Exhibit 17, AGO 5559-5562); and in 2013, 20 prescfiptions of‘s.hort
acting Oxycodone (15 mg. or 30 mg. tablets) Exhibit 17, AGO 5559-5562). Also as
detailed above, in March April, May, June September, and October of 2013, C filled

two prescrlptlons ofshort acting Oxycodone each of these months. Accordlng to
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the CURES report, in March 2013 he filled prescriptions for 360 pills of Oxycodone
on March 13 and 22, 2013, April 10 and 18, 2013, May 8 and 30, 2013, June 13 and
27,2013, September 16 and 30, 2013, and October 12 and 26, 2013.

- Dr. Kirpalani then concluded that these multiple instancés where C obtained
pain medications in greater than 30-day supplies represented an extreme

departure from the standard of care.

Finally, regarding C's inconsistent UDTs, Dr. Kirpalani found that C departed
from this standard of cére because, despite incOnsisfent UDTs on numerous ‘
occasions, respondent did not document that he discussed these results with C
- and the‘ fact that he continuéd tolprescribe medicatiohs to C despite these results
represented an extreme departure from the standard of care. With this noted, only
those inconsistent UDTs after October 5, 2010, seven years before the filing of the
initial accusation in tﬁis mattér, afe considered as a possible cause to impose

discipline on this basis.

Summary of Respondent’s Treatment and Care of Patients D and E

and Dr. Verdolin’s Testimony Regarding Patients D and E
PATIENT D

24: OnJune 21, 2010, Patient D (“Patient D" of “D"), a thén 45-year old
female patient, first saw respondent for chronic péin and headaches. D’s health plan., in
a letter dated May 14, 2010,'auth'orized D to see respondent as a'pain management
spééialist. At this initial visit Patient D brought progress notes from Her primary care
provider for the period.from November 2, 2009, to February 15, 2010. These notes
contain a number of her prima’ry doctor’s assessments of D's physical and mental -

health condiAtions relevant to the issues in this matter as follows: Per the February 10,
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2010, progress note, D was assessed with: “Bronchitis” and “Asthma, exacerb_ation." In
thé January 28, 2010, brogregs note, shé was assessed with 1) Chronic H/A [headaches]

| 2) Chronic neck paih 3) Anxiety. In her doctor’s December 30, 2009, progress note, D

was assessed with."thrdnic pain” and “ADD vs. bipolar D/O vs/ anxiety.” On December

2, 2009, she was assessed with "Chronic pain,” “Neck pain,” “Anxiety d/o vs ADD vs/

. Bipolar d/o." Also, among the records Patient D provided respondent was a physical

| therapy plah of care document dated January 13, 2010.

'

At her first visit with respondent, Patient D“reported taking medications for pain
beginhing in 1994. These meds included Fentanyl, Sbma, Vicodin, and cortisone shots.
Patient D reported she had an MRI of the cervical area in 2009; and prior treatment
with acupressure and chiropractic. Respond.ent did not order any imaging studies, did
not request the patient's prior MRI report from 2009, and he did not order a baseline

urine drug screen at this visit.

“As part of his aésessment of D at this first visit, respondent performed an initial
history and physical examination of Patient D. However, respondent did not include
vital signs, a reported pain score, an appraisal of prior nqn-opioid treatments for
chronic pain, or an assessment of psychological and/or addiction risk. He identified her
. "Orientation/Mood/Affect” as follows: "Oriented to person, place, time and general
circumstances. Mood and affect appropriate.” This same language appears in all of
respondent’s subsequent treatment notes. He did not identify that she suffered from
anxiety. The patient's chart for this visit included a musculoskeletal exam. Respondent

documented the exam as follows:

Head/neck [posterior] shoulder girdle; no erythema,
ecchymosis or edema. Generalized moderate tenderness
over the neck and shoulder girdle, moderate tenderness
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“over the right occipital groove, moderate tenderness over
the scapular area. Held head in a forward position. Full,
'painléss'range of motion of the neck. Normal stability.

Normal strength and tone. |

Spine, Ribs, Pelvis: No erythema, ecchymosis or edema.‘No
tendefness of spine, ribs or 51joints. No kyphosis, lordosis,
or scoliosis. Full, painless range of motion of the thoracic
and lumbar spine. Normal stability. Normal strength and

tone. .

This language for the musculoskeletal exam was the same for each of D’s visits

with respondent throughout the time respondent treated her.

Respondent assessed D with “Radiculopathy Cervical” and “Numbness

Paresthesia of Skin.”

Respoﬁdent’s plan for D was as follows: 1) Agree with present medication -
program [T] 2) Consider trigger poiht injections/occipital nerve injection on tvhe right |
side with lidocaine and sarapin if approved [T] 3) Consider PT to the cervical area
pending approval [1] 4) Consider but hold in reserve electrodiagnostic evaluation to

address cervical radiculopathy.

For D's goals respondent identified the following: “Increase the patient's ability
to self-manage and related problems. Maxirize and maintain optimal physical activity
and function. Return to productive activity at home, socially, and/or at work. Reduce

subjective pain intensity.”
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At tHis initial visit Patient D signed a Pain Agreément.»The terms of this Pain
Agreement, in part, prohibited early refillls_; doctor shopping, the use of more than one
pharmacy, indicated that D may be subjééted to random pill counts where respdndent
may require her to bring in all opioid and adjunctive medicines in their original bottles.
for respondent to review. She was also advised that respondent may reqﬁrire her to
submit to random urine drug tésting, and that e_vidence of misuse may be groundé for
termination. Misuse was defined as h'darding, dose escalation, obtaining medicati.ons'
from other providers, and loss of prescriptions. The Pain Agreement also defined
: Aaddictio_n and withdrawal from pain medications. In the agreement, D authorized
respondent to contact any health profession;él, family member, or pharmacy to obtain - ~
or'provide inforfnation about her Eére. Patient D identified her husband as her |
emergency contact in her intake sheet with respondent and provided respondent with

her husband’s name and number.

Patient D signed no additional pain agreements throughout her care and
treatment with respondent, and respondent had no additional documented

discussions with the patient regarding opioid medications’ risks, benefits, and

alternatives.

vReépondent identifi‘ed that D had prescriptions for Norco 10/325 mg, Soma 350 ~

mg, and Ativan 1 mg, among other medications.

- D nvext saw respondent on July 28, 2010. D then said she was out of her
medicine and needed to have her program “reworked today."” She said that she had
been using a Fentanyl patch. She told respbndent‘she’had a new job teaching criminal
justice. Respondent reviewed D’s medication.program and went over ”pfoper
medication usage” with her. He stated that he would track and record her medication
usage and he "will also try to manage her to her maximum functional level.”
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Respondent noted that he spent significant additional time with D going over the
medication program with her to make sure she understood expectations of each type

of medication.

He issued prescriptions for the following medications: 60 pills of Xanax with a
_three time refill supply, a Duragesic transdermal patch, 180 pills of Norco 10/325 mg
with a three time refill, 90 pills of Soma 350 mg with a three time refill. It is not clear

why he decided to issue D a prescription for Xanax at this visit.

/

Less than two weeks later, o.n August 10, 2010, D called respondent’s office and
stated that she was having problems with the fentanyl patch constantly falling off and,
as a result, she was taking up to 10 Norco pills a day. She also advised respondent that
she obtained a “blue pill” from sofneone to relieve her pain and she took it. In the note
recording this call, respondent acknoWIedged D’s report regarding her medication
' qsége and stated that D. needed to come in to have her medication program reset to

get her back on track.

On August 18, 2010, D saw respondent. Respondent noted'thaf D was having
problems with the Duragesic patch and he cbnfirmed with her pharmacy that she was
_given a certain type of patch. It is not clear from his note tHis date how he changed, or
* "reset” as he stated in the August 10, 2010, note, D's meds except that he issued

prescriptions for 180 pills of Oxycodone 15 mg and the Duragesic patch.

On September 7, 2010, D's pharmacy contacted respondent to advise him that
D was séeking early refills of Norco, Soma and Xanax. At the bottom of the pharmacy's

fax, respondent documented that he authorized the eafly refills.

" At D's September 14, 2010, visit with respondent, D reported that she had a
headache. She reported that she continued to have significant pain problems in the
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cervical and suboccipital area. He noted that she was a candidate for suboccipital
| injections. He stated that there were no significant changes to her medication

program.

On this date he issued prescriptions for 90 pills of Soma with three refills and
120 pills of Oxycodone 30 mg. This represented an increase in dosage for the

Oxycodone from 15 mg. He continued the Norco and Xanax prescriptions.

Patient D called respondent’s office on October 5, 2010, and stated that she
wanted a prescription of Oxycodone 30 mg to cover the time before her next |
appointment with respondent on October 14, 2010. Respondent issued a prescription

of 30 pills of this medication.

At her October 14, 2010, appointment with respondent, D stated that she had a
“situation in that she ran out of her oxy.” She was taking 30 mg at the rate of four
every four hours. Respondent documented he counseled her regarding appropriate
medication usage. He reviewed all of her medications. He issued a new prescripﬁon for
180 pills of Oxycodone 30 mg to be taken once every four hours és needed. He also
issued to her 90 pills of Soma with three refills, 240 pills of Norco 10/325 mg and 60

pills of Xanax with three refills.

Patient D reported at her November 9, 2010, appointment with respondent that
she has been taking more medicine and she had a new symptom in her hands and’
fingers. Respondent added Oxycontin 40 mg as a “fill in” medication. He documented
that he spent significant additional time going over her medication program and
making a plan. In addition to adding Oxycontin to the plan, respondent added a.
Pennsaid' Transdermal Solution. On this date he issued prescriptions for 60 pills of

Oxycontin; 240 pills of Norco with 3 refills, 60 pills of Xanax 1 mg with three refills, and
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90 pills of Soma with three refills. With respect to the Norco, Xanax and Soma |
prescriptions it appears that respbnde‘nt lost track that he had issued prescriptions in
these amounts with these refills on October 14, 2010. He also issued a prescription for

180 pills of Oxycodone.

Patient D called respondent on November 20, 2010, and stated that she Was
going to be out of her medications before her December 7, 2010, appointment.
Respondent stated that he did not understand why she was out of her meds
considering that he wrote p'résc_riptions for Oxycfodone and Oxycontin on November 9,
2010. He asked his staff to have hér explain. Patient D stated that “she will cut her

medication in half to make it Iést."

At her December 7, 2010, appointment, Patient D stated that she liked her
medicine, but it needed to be reworked. Respondenf discontinued the Oxycontin and
issued a prescription for 240 pills of Oxycodone 30 mg. Otherwise, respondent kept
~ - the same medfcation regimen in place. He noted that he couhseled-D regarding

proper medication usage.

On January 4, 2011, D reported that she had not been functioning well with
Xanax; she stated that she liked Valium better. She told respondent that she_wa$ A
" willing to go on Ativan. Respondent issued prescriptions this date for 90 pills of Ativan

1 mg with three refills, 240 pills of Oxycodone 30 mg, and a Duragesic patch.

D next saw respondent on February 1, 2011. She repérted that she missed the
Norco she had previously faken, but she was extremely pleased with her present
medications. She also stated she needed a Work note to go back to work on Friday.
Respondent gave her a note that stated that D hay returh to work on February 4, 2011

“due to respiratory problems;" It is unclear from his records what her respiratory
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problem. involved. It is noted that s-he was taking medications for asthma. At the same
time, she stated that she -had some uncertainty regarding her employment, and she |
”tries”. to remain functional. Respondent issued prescriptions for 240 pills of 90

* Oxycodone, 90 pills of Soma 350 mg with three refills, 240 pills of Norco with three

refills, and 60 pills of Xanax with three refills.

D reported at her March 1, 2011, appointment that the work note he wrote for
her worked. She stated that she was pleased with her present medications. She said he
was getting a good result with the Ativan. D stated that she was trying to remain
- functional. He issued préscriptions for Fentanyl transdermal patch and 240 pills of

Oxycodone 30 mg on this date.

At her March 22, 2011, appointment D stated that she was taking more
medicine than expected, she was having difficulty staying with the medication
program, and she was having a “cervical exacerbation.” Respohdent instructed D to
not unilaterally change the way she took her medications. He issued prescriptions for
Fentanyl transdermal patch and 240 pills of Oxycodone this date. Respondent

recorded that D’s mood and affect were appropriate.

On April 5, 2011, respondent wrote a prescription for D for physical therapy two
times a week for four weeks. In a subseqUent note from the physical therapy provider,
" dated May 31, 2011, respondent was advised that D did not make her initial

appointment.
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At D’s April 21, 2011, visit"with respondent, D stated that she needed Soma
because it helped her sleep and she was having right shoulder pain.?® Respondent
stated that he would like to consolidate her medications in the future to simplify her
" program. He commented that D may need to go through a weahing and reduction
program in order ultimately for the medications to work more effectively. Despite his
comments, respondent maintained her on the same program. He issued prescriptions
for 90 pills of Soma with three refills, 240 pills of Oxycodone 40 mg, 90 pills of Ativan 1
mg with three refills, and a Fentanyl Transdermal patch. Respondent again recorded

that D's mood and affect were appropriate.

Five days later, on April 26, 2011, D called respondent’s office and stated that
“she needs to discontinue the Soma due to her taking so many of them.” She said she
would discuss this further with him at her next appointment. Respondent documented

he "noted” her call.

On May 10, 2011, D called respondent and stated that she got pulled over for
child endangerment for being under the influence of controlled medications. She said
she needed respondent to write a letter for her, and she neéded thislletter by May 19,
2011, when she was scheduled to‘appear in court. The note also documented that she -

had called on April 26, 2011, and asked not to be prescribed Soma.

Before her next scheduled appointment, on May 12, 2011, D’s pharmacy called

respondent to advise him that D wanted an early refill for 60 pills of Alprazolam

30 Starting in 2012, Soma (known by its metabolite as meprobamate) was
classified as a Schedule IV controlled substance and, as such, was identified in the

CURES report admitted as evidence (Exhibit 2).
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(Xanax) 1 mg. Respondent had last prescribed D Xanax on February 1, 2011, with three
refills. Respondent authorized the refill. He did not document the reason he authorized

this early refill at this time.

25.  Four days after this call from her pharmacy, on May 16, 2011, D called
respondent stating that she was in withdrawal and needed something to ease her
frustration. She believed she was going to have a seizure and wanted Suboxone.?!
Respondent commented that her situation was to be addressed at her May 16, 2011,

appointment, but she missed this a‘ppointment.

| 26. On May 18, 2011, D called and was "very upset stating that she has not
heard” from resbondent and she needed respondent to write a letter stating that he
prescribed Norco to her. She repeated that she felt she was going through withdrawal
- and needed something to prescribed to her‘for this. Respondent stated he would |

handle her situation at her May 19, 2011, visit. -

On/May 18, 2011 respondent wrote a summary of his care of D since 2010 and
that D asked that he no longer prescribe Soma to her on April 26, 2011. He then listed

her medications.

27.  On May 23, 2011, D’'s pharmacy notified respondent that D was seeking

to refill Norco nine days early. Respondent did not authorize this early refill.

28. On J'uly,7, 2011, D's pharmacy, which appears to be a different pharmacy

than the pharmacy she had been going to, asked D to provide a new prescription for

31 Suboxone (buprendrphine and naloxone) is a Schedule II controlled substance

vu_nder Health and Safety Code section 11055.
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. Ativan. Respondent issued a prescription for 30 pills of Ativan on July 8; 2011, without
any refills. He noted next to the prescription that D needed a follbw-up appointment.
Despite his note that she needed a follow-up appointment with him, there is no
documentatipn in the record between July 7, 2011, and October 26, 2011, that

respondent attempted to have D come in for an appointment with him.

29. OnJuly 8, 2011, D’s pharmacy, the pharmacy she identified in her pain
agreement, asked respondent to provide refill authorization for Hydrocodone/APAP

10/325, which respondent authorized on July 11, 2011.

30.  OnJuly 20, 2011, D sent respondent an authorization for release of

information from Community Health Systems, Inc,, which respondent signed.

31.  The last progress note in D’s chart is dated October 25, 2011, which
documents that D called respondent to advise him that she lost her insurance and had .
been_able to see him. She said she made her Norco last during the time and had one

_more refill of the medication and wanted an early refill. She stated that she left her
prescription ét her m-other’s home and she wanted respondent to call her pharmacy to

authorize an early refill.

32. At this point, rés'pondent pulled D’s CURES report and found that she
had obtained medications from two other doctors and, as a result, he advised D that
he was not going to authorize the. refill. D called him back “very upset.” She said that
the one doctor worked at a clinic and had given "her reduced quantities of
medications as listed in the CURES report.” Respondent then authorizéd the early refill

of Norco and documented that he was going to send her a discharge letter.

33. The next dbcument in D's chart, is the CURES report dated October 25,
2011, which respondent ran on D. This is the first and only time he ran a CURES report
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regarding D’s medication us_agé. This report documented that two other doctors had
issued prescriptions for D for 90 pills of Hydrocodone-Bitartrate 10/325 mg and 90
pills of Alprazolam on July 20, 2011, August 17, 2011, September 9, 2011, September
20, 2011, and September 22, 2011. In the CURES report, there are handwrittén
notations that D obtained 240 pﬂls of Norco on October 6, 201'1, and Xanax on
‘October 21, 2011. In addition, there are the following handwfitten notations: “Dr. -
Ferreras 33 days 9/22 #120 33 days #360" vénd Dr. Chesler 10/6 #240-Billed Ins.
Cleared. Original Date 7/11" and “Patient has ins. P/U Xanax 10 21 11 cleared.”

'34.  The next day, October 26, 2011, respondent sent a letter to D by certified
mail advising her that he was withdrawing from her care due to the change in her '

insurance coverage and her treatment with another doctor.

35.  About five fnonths later, on May 3, 2012, D was fdund dead in her home
where she lived with her husband. The San Diegb County Medical Examiner’s
inveStigative report dated May 10, 2012, noted that shehad a history of years of |
prescription medication abuse. The Medical Examiher’s repﬁrt documented her
‘husband's concerns about her prescription drug abuse over the eight years they were
married. The Medical Examiner contacted D’s primary care doctor, who Was prescribing
the medicatio_ns identified in the CURES report respond'ent rén on October 25, 2012.
This doctor reported that D had a history_c'n.c chronic neck pain, anxiety, debression,

- possible bipolar disorder,.and opiate dependency.

3'6.' In a report signed August 16, 2012, Deputy Medical Examiner, Bethann
Schaber, M.D., concluded that D died as a result of an acute mixed drug overdose due
to the combined toxic effects of oxycodone, carisoprodol, diphenhydramine, and

clonazepam. Dr. Schaber classified the manner of death as accidental.



37. Between on or about June 21, 2010, through on or about October 25,
2011, respbndent provided care and treatment to Patient D that included issuing the
following:

e 30-day supplibes of the following prescriptions, including refills;

~

7

e Ten prescriptions of 60 pills of Alprazolam 1 mg:

~ e Six prescriptions of Lorazepam 1 mg. (one for 30 pills, one for 40-pills,

and four for 90 pills);

e Ten prescriptions of Oxycodone 30 mg. (one for 30 pills, one for 40 pills,
one for.120 pills, two for 180 pulls, one for 200 pills, four for 240 pills)
and one prescription of 180 pills of Oxycodone 15 mg. #180;

¢ One prescription of 60 pills of Oxycontin 40 mg;

o Two prescriptions of Fentanyl 25 mcg: (one of #10 and one of#15), two"
prescrip'ti‘ons of Fentényl 50 mcg. #15, and one pfescfiption of Fentanyl

75 mcg. #1 5;

e Nineteen prescriptions of Norco 10/325 mg. (one for #50, one for #60,
one for #80, two for #7100, one for #140, four for #180, and nine fOr#240).'

e Six prescriptions with three refills of 90 pills of Soma 350 mg.

-Soma, specifically its metabolite meprobamate, which respondent prescribed -to
D, was identified in CURES as a Schedule IV substance starting in 2012, although it was
classified as é Schedule IV controlled substance under Health and Safety Code section
11057 before 2012. Thus, tﬁe medication did not appeaf in the CURES repo_rt'that

respondent ran on D on October 26, 2011.
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38. Between June 21, 2010, and April 21, 2011, D-saw respondent for
approximately 13 clinical visits. Throughout that time, including at clinical visits on
March 22, 2011, and Aprif 21, 2011, treatment goals documented by respdndent were
generic, rather than specific, clear functional patient goals, and the musculoskeletal

examination notes for each visit were identical.

39.  While under respondent’s care, including at clinical visits on March 22,
2011, and April 21, 2011, no urine drug screens were performed on Patient D, no pill
~ count was ever conducted or documented, and respondent never referred D for

imaging studies, behavioral management, psychiatry, or addiction treatment.

40. While under respondent'é care, Patient D displayed aberrant behaviors,
including but not limited to, admitting to overusing her medications, repeatedly
requesting early refills, and filling pres;riptions at different phérmacies.'bespite her
repeated noncompliance with the Pain Agfeement, respondent continued to prescribe
D controlled substances including high-dose opioids with little documented discussion
regarding her repeated instances of noncompliance, and limited changes to plan to |

address her noncompliance.

41.  Between April 22, 2011, and October 25, 2011, Patient D did not present
to respondent for treatment due to an apparent change in her insurance coverage. -
During that time, Patient D contacted respondent'’s office on multiple occasiohé to

report that she was in withdrawal and needed medications.
PATIENT E

42. Patient E ("Patient E” or “E”) was a 62-year old man who had been

treating with respondent for chronic pain management from 2008 until his death on
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February 12, 2012, from a combination of opioid, methadone®, oxycodone,
hydrocodone, alprazolam, citalopram-and alcohol. E signed a pain agreement with
responden\f on June 30, 2008, Which‘ advised him of the risks of opioid use. Regarding
the combination of alcohol and opioid medications the pain agreément stated the

following; “The use of alcohol and opioid medications is contraindicated.”

According to E's records, respondent assessed E with cervical pain with
radiation, ceNicaI radiculopathy, and parestheéia of the skin. He did not assess him
with any other medical conditions. During the time he treated E, he prescribed to him
high dose opioids, Ndrco and Percocet, Xanax, and Lexapro, Wellbutrin and Buspar for

anxiety and depression.

43.  During the time reépondent treated E, respondent was hospitalized on
two occasions related to overdosing on-medicatio‘ns in October 2009 and abuse of
alcoho! in December 2010. In October 2009 he was admitted with aspiration
pneumonia with MSSA,3* and confusion. On December 7, 2010, E was admitted
involuntarily under Welfare and Institutions Code section 5150 after he was brought to
the hospital because he was hallucinating and believing people were in his home while

he wielded a loaded gun. The Palomar Hospital Admission Report described, under his

32 Methadone is a Schedule II controlled substance. It haé the brand name.

Methadose.
33 Lexapro, Wellbutrin and Buspar are medications used to treat depression.
34 Methicillin-sensitive Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA) is a bacterial infection.
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social history, that E “[d]rinks heavily.” A summary of this hospitalization ié provided

below.

44,  E's first recorded visit with respondent was December 23, 2008.
Respondent stated that he was an “established” patient, meaning that there were
records prior to this date that were not part of E's records admitted as evidence. E
stated that he needed his medications refilled, he had been using methadone
- appropriately, and he had been expefiencing more pain with the cold weather.
Respondent noted that he had hospitalizations or ER visits. Respondent assessed E
with cervical pain and radiculopathy and numbness paresthesia of the skin. He issued
preﬁcriptions tlhis date for 600 pills of Methadone 10 mg, 240 pills of Hydrocodone-
Acetaminophen 10/325 mg with three refills, 120 pills of Xanax 1 mg with 3 three
refills, 120 pills of Wellbutrin 100 mg with three refills, 120 pills of Gabapentin 600 mg

with three refills.3?

In this note, respondent identified E's goals as follows: Increase the patient’s
ability to self-manage pain and related problems. Maximize and maintain optimal
physical activity and function. Reduce subjective pain intensity. These goals remained

the same throughout respondent’s treatment of E.

Respondent continued E on the medications he prescribed E until September

17, 2009, when he added 90 pills of Percocet 16/325 mg.

On October 21, 2009, E's wife called respondent to advise him that respondent

was found unresponsive on October 18, 2009, and taken to the hospital where he

35 Gabapentin, also known as Neurontin, is used to treat neuropathic pain. It is a

dangerous drug pursuant to Section 4022.
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remained unresponsive and was placed on a ventilator. Respondent advised her to
keep him informed regarding how he was doing. E's hospital records were not part of -
respondent’s record. According to the Medical Examiner’s investigative narrative,
which was admitted into evidence as an exhibit, E was taken to Palomar "for an
overdose on his prescription medic‘ations” and he was on a respirator for five days

~ before he was discharged. (Exhibits 28 and E, AGO 9043.)

E saw respoﬁdent with his wife on November 12, 2009. At this visit, E said he
was getting his pills filled by his wife and his wife was now a “partner in the setting of
his medications and maintaining his usage.” Respondent noted that E was not. moving
that much and needed physical therapy. E asked about enrolling in a chronic pain
management support group.and “mentioned alcoholic anonymous as a support group
as well." E's comment regarding attending Alcoholics Anonymous suggested that his
hospitalization was due to his abuse of alcohol. Respondent documented that he
spent a significant amount of time reworking his medication program and
discontinued meds E was no longer using, namely Percocet, Hydrocodone-
Acetaminophen, Methadose, Lipitor, and Chantix. Respondent issued new
prescriptions-for 120 pills of Norco, 180 pills of Methadone, and 45 pills of Xanax 1

mg.

Respondent had E submit to a urine screen this date to assure compliance with
the program. Oddly, respondent did not have E undergo testing for alcohol. This was
the one and only time respondent had E submit to a UDT during E's treatment with
respondent. The results, dated November 16, 2009, were negative for Percocet, which
given E was being prescribed this drug, was expected to be seen. The negative result
was, accordingly, an inconsistent result. Notably, respondent did not document

whether he talked to E about this result in his subsequent visit with him.
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Between this \}isit and E's visit on December 14, 2010, after his second |
hospitalization, respondent continued E on Gabapevntin, Lexaprd, Methadone, Xénax,
Norco and Percocet. On Sep;tember 14, 201 O; he n‘o;c'ed that E was taking Buspirone, an
anti-anxiety medication. During this time, E reported that he lost weight, which he

\wanted.to do, and was approved for Social Security disability benefits.

As noted, on December 7, 2010, E was admitted involuntarily under Welfare and
Institutions Code section 5150 after he was brought to the hospital beca-tfse he was
: hallucinatjng believing peop-le were in his home while he was wielding a loaded gun.
The Palomar Hospitél Admission Report described, under his social history, that E

’-’_[d]rinké heavily.”

45.  The admitting emergency room doctor provided the following
assessment of E's admitting condition: “Alcohol withdrawal with hallucinations”;
- "Hallucinations ,secohdary to alcohol withdrawal”; “Toxic encephalopathy secondary to
alcohol withdrawal with hallucination presentation” and “History of chronic pulmonary -
disease.” E was diagnosed with alcohol and opiate dependencies, psychoéis, and
chronic pain with cervical surgery. (Exhibit 12, AGO 9043-9044) According to the
emergenvcy cjepartment's_behavioral health assessment, the social worker’s DSM IV
impression was “Major Depression” and “alcohol and opiate abuse.” Respondent was
assessed with global assessment of functioning scale score of 20, meaning his
functional capacity was limited. The social worker in this aésessment described him as

a danger to himself and others. (Exhibit E, MCER-0041.)

E's wife reported at the hospital that respondent was joroviding pain

~ management for E and E had been drinking 1.5 liters of vodka and "loverusing hlS pain
: médication and methadone at home.” (Exhibit E, MCER-0073.) She also stated that he
relapsed six months before his admission. She said that respondent lost his bélance
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and became increasingly incoherent with dis_organized speech and he had multiple

-bruises because of falls.

46. On December 7, 2010, E's wife called'respondent's office to advise
respondent that E was hallucinating and was admitted to tne hospital. She said she
wanted to speak with respondent because “there are thin.gs' going' on that you dont
know about.” Notably, respondent did not call E's wife back to discuss her concerns.
Instead, he noted; “This issue is handled at nis visit.” There is no evidence in E's records

that respondent contacted E's wife.

- 47. Respondent saw E on December 14, 2010, and c'ovunseled him about
”abstinenee of alcohol” and appropriate medication usage.vHe referred E back fb his
- June 30, 2008, pain agreement. He characterized E's 5150 hold episode as follows: “He
has hed an episode when.he was drinking and that caused hlm to be taken to ER."\He
told respondent that firearms were removed from his home. Respondent did not take
any of E's vital signs, including his blood pressure. In fact, respondent never took E's
 vitals at any subsequent visits. Respondent, further, did not refer E to a psychiatrist or
therapist, he did not discuss support groups with E, and .he did not have E submit to a
UDT. Respondent similarly did not refer E to a behavioral health specialist or have him
snnmit to a UDT in E’s subsequent visits. In this note respondent stated that he would
communicate with E's wife regarding the episode. However, there is no record that
respondent had such a discussion with E's wife er talked to‘ her. He did not change the -
goals for E or his plan for E. Respondent refilled E's prescriptions as follows: 120 pills of
Norco, 90 piIIs of Xanax, 180 pills of Methadone, 90 pills ef Percocet and maintained
him on the Lexapro, Gabapentin and Buspirone. Respon_dent.did not authorize fefills_of
the meds he issued prescriptions for this date. Reepondent stated that he intended to

obtain E's hospital records.
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48.  OnJanuary 11, 2011, respondent met E and respondent reported that E
then went over his hospital records. E asked respondent for a letter about his
condition and said he was getting a letter from his marriage counselor in order to get
his “rights back for his firearms.” The records respondent obtained from E's
- hospitalization are not in E's records. It is, thus, not poésible to know what records E
went over with respondent or the nature of their cohvef_sation regarding E's
hospitalization. Respondent’s note for this date is brief and notably contains no
advisements regafding possible treatment for alcohol abuse or referral to a
psychiatrist or therapist. Respondent did not document that he asked E abo.ut his
alcohol use. He also did not have E submit to a UDT. Respondent"s assessment and
plan for E remained the same. He continued E on the same medications and issued
prescriptions for 90 pills of Percocet, 120 Norco pills, 180 pills of Methadone, and 90
pills of Xanax. There is no record that respondent wrote a letter on E's behalf to allow

him to have his firearms back.

49.  On April 14, 2011, E's health plan sent respondent a letter with an alert
regarding respondent’s prescription of multiple opioids, Alprazolam, and Gabapentin
to E. Respondent marked on a form the health plan asked respondent to complete

that E “was compliant prior to receipt of this communication.”

50. At E's April 26, 2011, visit with respondent, E reported that he had been
using his medications correctly and his refjlls were on track. He stated that he wanted-
to restart Chantix to'help him quit smoking.‘E told respondent he fired his primary care
doctor but offered no explanation. On this date, respondent issued prescriptions for
120 pills of Wellbutrin 100 mg, 30 pills of Lexapro 20 mg, 180 pills of Methadone 10
mg, 90 pills of Percocet 10/325 mg, 90 pills of Xanax 1 rﬁg, 120 pills of Norco 10/325

mg, and Chantix. The Lexapro and Wellbutrin were authorized for three refills. Again,
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respondent did not take any of E's vitals, or inquire of his alcohol use, or discuss

behavioral health treatment.

51.  AtE's next appointment on May 24, 2011, E reported that he was still
looking for a primary care doctor. Respondent fssued refills for Methadone, Norco,
Pefcocet, Xanax and Chantix. At this and other appointments during this time,

.respondent did not take E's vitals, did not a.sk him about his alcbhol use, and did not
discuss with him behavioral health treatment. E told respondent that the police

returned his firearms.

52.  From May 2011 to November 8, 2011, respondent maintained E on the
same medication regimen. At E's November 8, 2011, appointment E said that he did
not need all of his meds and he had a “list." He wanted help losing weight, and he
reported he was approved for a diagnostic ultrasound of his shoulder. Respondent did
not ask respondent about alcohol use, did not take his vitals and did not discuss with
him behavioral health treatment. He issued prescriptions for 90 pills of Buspirone 15
" mg with three refills, 90 pills of Percocet, 180 pills of Methadone, 120 pills of Norco, 90

pills of Xanax.

53. At his December 6, 2011, appointment, respondent documented that E
has been responsible with his medication use, he saw no conflict, he discussed with
him the "expectations” regarding his mediation use and he reviewed his pain
treatment agreement. Respondent educated E regarding appropriate shoulder
exercises to minimize pain. Respondent again did not ask respondent about alcohol
use, did not take his vitals and did not discuss behavioral health treatment with him.
Respondent issued prescriptions for the- medications in the same amounts and

dosages he previously ordered.
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54.  E's last visit with respondent before his death was on January 31, 2012. At
this visit E reported to respondent that “He is happy with his pain program and he is
“not needing any changes. He is stable and he has had no new needs today.”
Respondent did not ask respondent about alcohol use, did not take his vitals and did
-not discuss with him behavioral health treatment. He issued prescriptions for 90 pills
‘of Buspirone 15 mg with three refills, 90 pills of Percocet 10/325 mg, 180 pills of
Methadone 10 mg, 120 pills of Norco 10/325 mg, 90 pills of Xanax.

55.  Less than two weeks later, on February 12, 2012, E's wife found him dead
in their home. E's wife told responding paramedics she considered E to be an alcoholic

and he was known to overdose or take too much of his medications with alcohol.

56. Inareport signed April 20, 201.2,AChief Deputy Medical Examiner,
J_onathbn R. Lucas, M.D., concluded E's cause of death was the “combined effects of
alcohol, methadone, oxycodane, hydrocodone, alprazolam, bupropion, and
citalopram.” The manner of death Was described as an accident. (Exhibit 28 AGO 9046.)

Dr. Lucas noted the following:

Although none of the medications were excessively
elevated and the methadone concentration appeared
consistent with the chronic dosing, the combined effects of
the medications coupled with the alcohol would have had
additive central nervous system and respiratory depressant

effects.

With this noted, Dr. Lucas stated that E's “pill counts were consistent with some

overuse of alprazolam. . .”
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According to the toxicology report, E had 0.12 percentv of alcohol by weight and
volume; 0.62 mg/L of methadone volume in his blood and 7 mg in his gastric system,
and was positive for opiates, benzodiazepines, and the other controlled substances

respondent prescribed E.

57.  As part of its investigation, a Health Quality Investigation Unit
investigator asked respondent to respond ih writing to four questions about his care
and treatment of E. Respondent provfded written responses to the four questions in a
document HQIU received on February 15, 2018. Respondent stated in this document
that he obtained a sighed pain agreement from E and he referred E for UDTs on more
than one occasion. However, contrary to that representation,.according to the medical
records, Respondent had only had E submi}t to a UDT on one occasion. Respondent

submitted a pain agreement E signed in 2008 to HQIU in which E acknowledged that

the use of alcohol and methadone were not compatible.

In response to HQIU's the question regarding whether respondent referred E for
a mental health assessment at any, time in 2010 to 2012, respondent said he did not.

nou

But, he said he “did participate” in “contributing to his care” “surrounding” E's A
admission tb the behavioral unit at Palomar Hospital. In fact, there is no e\}idence in
~the recdrd that respbndent particjbated in E's psyéhiatric vcare at Palomar.. Respondent
- did not document in E's chart that he ever talked to any cIiniciahs at Palomar or

exchanged information with these persons.

To support, apparently, his contention‘that he participated in E's mental health
treatment, respondent wrote that he obtained and reviewed E's Social Security
Disability “comprehensive psychiatric evaluation.” Respondent was referring to a six-
‘page report dated April 10, 2010, entitled “Complete Psychiatric 4Eva|ua'tion," signed by
Romuldo R. Rodriguez, M.D, “a board eligible psycﬁiatrist." E sent this report to

!
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respon.den't on April 29, 2010, and it is part of respondent's records for E. (Exhibit 30,
AGO 9377-9381.) Dr. Rodriguez evaluated E to determlne only whether he quallfled for
Social Security Disability; he was not evaluating h|m for treatment purposes. The
evaluation is not comprehensive or even complete. The only information Dr. Rodrigﬁez
obtained was from E, who described his family and medical history in broad strokes. E
also told Dr. Rodriguez that he considered himself to be an alcoholic, but he had not
drunk alcohol for 13‘ years, which Was incorrect in light of his October 2009
hospitalization and E's statement to respondent he rhight attend.AA. Dr. Rodriguez
conducted a cursory, or m-ini, mental health examination of E without more formal
psychiatric assessmerits or testing. Based on this evaluation, he found that E suffered
from Major Depressive Disorder, in remission, an'd. he concluded that E had minimal
functional limitations or work restrictions due to this co‘ndition. He did not make any

other assessments of E.

Testimony of Complainant’s Expert, Michael Verdolin,'M.D.

Regarding Respondent’s Treatment of Patients D and E

58  As noted earlier, complainént called Michael Verdolin, M.D., as an expert
to address respondent’s care, treatment and prescription of pain medications to |
Patients D and E. Dr. Verdolin is a board-certified anesthesiologist an-d pain
management physicfan. He received his medical degree from the University of Miami
School of Medicine in 1996. He completed an internship in internal medicine in 1997
at the National Naval Medical Center in Bethesda, Maryland, and a residency in
Anesthesiology in 2000 at the National Naval Medical Center and Walter Reed Army
Medical Center (Walter Reed) in Washington, D.C. Dr. Verdolin completed a feIloWship
in interventional pain management at Walter Reed in 2004. He is a Diplomate of the

American Board of Anesthesiology. Since 2006, he has been an Assistant Professor of
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Anesthesiology at the Uniformed University of the Health Sciences in Bethesda,
Maryland. Since 2008, he has been a member of the clinical faculty in pain.
~management teaching services at Scripps.Mercy Hospital in San Diego and is the
founder and president of a pain management clinic. Since 2014 he had been the
Medical Director, Synovation Medical Group. He has authored or co-authored a
number of peer-reviewed articles in the field of anesthesiology and has given
“presentations on topics in the field. Dr. Verdolin has served as an expert reviewer for

the Board since 2007.

Dr. Verdolin reviewed the evidence of record in this matter and prepared a

detailed report dated March 17, 2018, which was received into evidence.

Dr. Verdolin’s Assessment of Respondent’s Care and

Treatment of Patient D

- 59.  Regarding respondent’s care and treatment of Patient D, Dr. Verdolin

identified the following issues:

Did respondent follow the Board's 2007 prescribing practices guidelines that
required that he perform a good faith physical examination of D, take sfeps to ensure
against diversion of controlled substances, assess the benefits of the controlled
substance respondent was prescribing D and adjust treatment according to risk and
harm, provide D with informed consent regarding the risks and benefits of the
contrq.lled substances he was prescribing her, conduct periodic reviews, appropriately

consult with D, and maintain accurate and adequate and accurate medical records?

When respondent learned that D was noncompliant with'opioid therapy did

respondent attempt to obtain any subspecialty consultation?
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When D was found to be non-compliant with opioid therapy and the mutually
binding pain management agreement did respondent attempt to have D submit to a

UDT or undergo a pill count?

When presented with repeated departures from the mutual pain agreement did
respondent consider and act on D’s obvious misuse of‘prescribed meds and her

addiction to these meds that might have saved Her life?

Dr. Verdolin summarized the standards of care relevant to these questions as -

follows; )

Respondent was required to conduct a good faith examination of a pain
management patient at the outset of prescribing controlled substaﬁces. This good
faith examination consists of vital signs including blood pressure, heart rate,
temperéture, and respiratory measurements. Informed consent for treatment with
controlled substances must be obtained from the patiént which delineates the risks
and benefits of taking controlled substances. A pain agreement may be used to
provide informed consent. Before'prescribihg opioids, there must be an identifiable,
documented diagnosis causing chronic pain in the patient. Opioid therapy must not be
considered an ongoihg, ever escalating therapeutic plan. Rather, it should be part of a
- comprehensive treatment plan that includes referral to sub-specialists, including
addiction specialists, psychiatrists, therapists, physical therapists and surgeons when

appropriate.

Treatment objectives including specifically identifiable pain management goals
must be clearly identified in the provider's plan. Periodic review by the provider of
response to treatment must be documented in the treatment plan.and appro'pria_te

adjustments made as appropriate. A clear plan of action by the physician must be
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identifiable and the logic in the treatment objectives clearly delineated in the plan
section. Response to plan objectives must be identified in the treatment plan and if
the patient fails to respond adequately to the goals then it is incumbent on the -

provider to taper and stop the opioid prescriptions.

In addition to assessing the efficacy of the treatment (i.e., back to work, quality
of life, goals being met) the prescriber must assess for possible diversion. This means
urinalysis, review of CURES reports or other objective means. When urinalysis identifies
illicit substances or possible diversion due to thé lack of prescribed substances or their
metabolites in the patient’s system, a frank discussion must be had with the patient
and the prescriber must thoroughly assess, and document, the patient for possible
diversion. If this assessment i'ndicates .Iikely diversion, prescription of controlled
substances must be stopped. Also, suspicion for use of illicit substances or misuse of
controlied substances requires the prescribing doctor to refer the patient to an
addiction specialist. It is also problematic to prescribe opioids to a known addict
witk'wutvthe involvement of a specialist. Continued unexplaiﬁed increases in dose
requirements without concurrent improvement in quality of life should spur a referral

to a pain management specialist to help guide treatment.

J

Unequivocal peer-reviewed studies demonstrate that the chronic use of opioids
is associated with depression, opioid tolerance, dependence, addiction potential,
decreased immune‘functioning, risk to a fetus, and significantly compromised
endocrine functioning. These negative side effects must be discussed with the patient
and addressed in the form of written informed consent identifying risks, benefits and
alternatives. Additionally, there are relative contraindications to co-prescribing
benzodiazepine medications and opioids concurrently given the risks of respiratory

depression and death.
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As the fifth vital sign, the level of pain sheuld be entered as a numerical value
also known as the visual analog scale. In the absence of any objectifiable scan to
indicate the patient’s pain, a patient’s response to therapy is accepted as a standard
As such, at a minimum, when treatrng pain, its number-should be recorded in the
record. Additionally, focused system evaluation is indicated. However, copy/pasting of
findings from one visit to another indicates that an examination may not have been
performed, from the perspective of Medicare’s chart auditing. To that end, verbatim

copy/pasting of physical exam findings cannot meet the standard of care.

When a physician witnesses evidence of self-harm, or addiction, the prescribing
physician has a duty to rescue, or at least offer intervention. This includes stopping or
tapering medications, providing appropriate psychiatric referrals, and involving family

members to the extent permitted by the patient.

60.  Dr. Verdolin concluded that respondent departed from each of the
standards of care he identified with respect to his care and treatment of D. In his
analysis regarding these departures, based on the records he reviewed, and consistent
with the prescribing guidelines in place at the time, Dr. Verdolin concluded that
respondent did not document in D's records any objectiVe findings to explain D’s
history of chronic pain. D was not reported to have a history of surgical intervention in

her cervical spin‘e and respondent did not identify any imaging studies in the record.

Dr. Verdolin found it notable that D’s records indicate that D appears to have a
history of substance misuse because she was seeing multiple doctors and she was
obtaining multiple opioid medications which were prescribed with Soma, a muscle
relaxant, and also a benzodiazepine, Ativan. Respondent did not document that D was
considered for treatment with a psychiatrist for anxiety with respect to the Ativan
prescription.
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Dr. Verdolin further found it notable that D repeatedly violated the June 21,
2010, pain management agreement she signed, as recorded in 12 visits she had with
respondent. Yet, despité thése violations, respondent did not utilize a pill count or
have D submit to a UDT. Here, Dr. Verdolin directly addressed whether respondent was
required to have D submit to the urinalysis becaﬁse her insurance would not pay for it.
Dr. Verdolin did not accept respondent's explanati'on as a reason why he could not
have utilized point of care, or “cup” testing. He noted in his réport that the board and
subspecialty pain management societies encouraged the use of urinalysis to monitor
compliance. As discussed earlier in this decision, respondent appeared to accept the
importance of UDTs in monitoring patients because, pre-2014 pain guidelines, he
regularly had patients in this matter submit to UDTs. At any rate, Dr. Verdolin stressed
that at the very least respondeAnt could have required D to bring in her medications for

- a pill count.

Regarding respondent’s record keeping, Dr. Verdolin found it concerning that
respondent copied/pasted critical portions of D's exams into D’s records. He cited the
following identical note regarding D’s physical exam that appeared in D's records as

an example of respondent’s practice:

Head/neck [posterior] shoulder girdle; no erythemé,
eccHymosis or edema. Generalized modera.te tenderness
over the neck and shoulder girdle, moderate tenderness
over the right 6ccipita| groove, moderate tenderness over
the scapular area. Head held in a forward position. FuvII,
painless range of motion of the neck. Normal stability.

Normal strength and tone.
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Dr. Verdolin commented that this note was maintained in D's records e.v'en
when D cémplained of new 'synimptoms in November 9, 2010. Despite this, respondent
did not perform a directed neurological exam of D, 'did not -order tests, even though
~ he had considered ordering tests since June 21, 2010, he did not record vital signs or

pain scales to follow whether D was in withdrawal.

Dr. Verdolin further noted that respondent copied/pasted the same plan from
the start of D's treatr;went with him in later notes, and this pian was not implemented.
There was no attempt to consider behavioral or interventional pain options.
Respondent only once, in April 2011, a year after D's initial visit with him, identified

that D went to physical therapy. The plan reads as follows:
PLAN: 1) Agree with present medication program.

2)Consider trigger point injections/occipital nerve

injection on the right side Lidocaine and sample if approved
3)Consider PT to the cervical area pending approval.

4) Consider but hold in reserve electrodiagnostic

evaluation to address cervical radiculopathy.

—

GOALS: Increase the _pétient’s ability to self-manage pain
and related problems, optimal physical activity and
function. Return to productive activity at home, socially

and/or at work. Reduce subjective pain intensity.

It appeared to Dr. Verdolin that respondent did not appreciate the dedree of
D's medication addiction and/or her misuse of the meds he was prescribihg her. Dr. -

Verdolin stated that since 2011 CURES has been available online to doctors as a useful
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tool to see if D was doctor shopping. In essence, respondént did not follow the pain
agreement in piace. His responses to violations of the agreement were to increase the
doses and formulations. As an example of this, Dr. Verdolin testified that, without
seeing D, respondent issued her a prescription for Alprazolam on May 12, 2012, after
he had issued a prescription for. 90 pills of Ativan on April 21, 2011. He issued this
prescription for Alprazolam two days after she was stopped by law enforcement.on
May 10, 201 1; for child 'endangerment'due to the sideAeffect‘s of medications she was
taking. Dr. Verdolin testified that thére was no reason for respondent to give D both
Alprazolam and Ativan. At this point, respondent should have intervened due to D's
misuse of meds and becaﬁsé she was addicted to opioids per the definition of
addiction as defined by the pain management agreement she signed on June 21, 2010.
In this agreement, D acknowledged the nature of addiction to opioid medications and
dependence upon these meds. D agreed to allow respondent to contact family
members and provide ihformation about her care to others, including pharmacies, or

to obtain information if he felt it was necessary.

61.  Regarding the degrees of departures he’fou»nd, Dr. Verdolin concluded

| “that respondent committed an extreme departure from the standard of care regarding
the first issue he identified because he continued to prescribe medications to D
despite her repeated aberrant behav-ior, possible addiction and her repeated failure to
follow the pain agreement she signed with respondent. Ih reaching this conclusion, Dr.
'Verdolin considered that respondent failed to perform a perform a good faith physical
examination of D, fake steps to ensure against diversion of controlled substances,
assess the benefits of the controlled substance respondent was prescribing D and
adjust treatment according to risk and harm, obtain D's informed consent regarding

the risks and benefits of the controlled substances he was prescribing her, conduct

97



periodic reviews, appropriately consult with D, and maintain accurate and adequate

medical records.

‘Dr. Vérdolin concluded that respondent committed an extreme departure from
the standard of care when he failed to have D undergo a UDT or conduct a pill count
after she repeatedly failed to comply with the pain agreement. Although he identified
the level of departure as extreme in his report, respondent is charged with a simple
~ departure in the amended accusation regarding this conduct. As such, his opinion is
only considered in terms of assessing respondent’s conduct as a simple departure fo

the extent a departure from the standard of care is found.

Dr. Verdolin further concluded that respondent committed a simple departure
from the standard of care when he failed to consider D for a psychiatric consultation. .

Respondent’s expert, Dr. Polston, agreed with Dr. Verdolin on this point.

Dr. Verdolin's Assessment of Respondent’s Care and

Treatment of Patient E

- 62 Regarding respondent’s care and treatment of Patient E, Dr. Verdolin

identified the foIloWing issues:

_ Were the 2007 prescribing guidelines as promulgated byAthe Medical Board of
California for controlled substances followed including: good faith physical
examination, prevention of diversion, assessment of benefit and adjust treatment
accord'ing to risk and harm, informed cohsent of the patient, periodic review,

appropriate consultations, and adequate record keeping?

When the patient was found to have an alcoholic decompensation was there

any attempt to modify therapy-or obtain subspecialist consultation?
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Were the standards of care regarding co-administration of multiple negatively
interacting medications with Methadone, which have the absolute potential to cause

sudden cardiac death, ever taken into consideration or addressed with the patient?

Dr. Verdolin articulated the same standards of care he identified regarding his
evaluation of Patient D with respect to the first two issues. With respect to the third

issue Dr. Verdolin identified the standard of care as follows:

Potential fatal interactions between methadone and multiple drug classes have
been known for decades. There are three major interactions to be concerned with: 1)
interaction with cytochrome P450.3° Any drug that interferes with the basic liver
metabolic function has the 'potential to prolong the respiratory depressant effects of
methadone; 2) interaction and prolongation of the QT interval®’; co-administration of
methadone with several drugs, including Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors
(SSRIs), place the patient at risk for sudden cardiac risk and as a result, since 2003 and
formalized by 2009, the recommendation for an electrocardiogram (EKG) prior to
" and/or continuing during methadone treatment has been made, such that complete
and total avoidance of SSRIs -(Iike Lexapro) is a guidelihe recommendation; 3).
interaction and potentiation of respiratory depressant effects with co-administration of
beniodiazepines (like Xanax) and abuse of alcohol must be avoided with methadone.
The guidelines state: "Before starting methadohe, take a patient history for syncope,
seizures and cardiac conditions. Take a family history of cardiac conduction defects or

sudden death. Withhold methadone if a strong history is present. Perform a physical

36 Dr. Verdolin did not define this medical term.
37 Dr. Verdolin also did not define this medical term.
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and look for cardiac arrhythmia, severe atherosclerosis, or abnormal blood pressure.
Withhold methadone if cardiovascular disease is clearly evident. Before starting
fnethadone, determine if a patient is taking any of these agents which may interfere
- with CP450 activity, either stop these agents or withhold methadone: a)
antidepfessants (TCAs, SSRIs) b)vantibiotics."

63. Based on the records he reviewed Dr. Verdolin formed the opinion that
respondent committed a significant and extreme departure by prescri.bing medications
to E in violation of the board's 2007 guidelineAs. He reached this conclusion because E
had a history of alcohol abuse, with a relapse, and E’s wife contacted respondent with
significant concerns about E's behavior. Yet, déspite such concerns and E's histoi'y,
'réspondent_did not refer E for psychiatric treatment.3® Dr. Verdolin testified that after

E's second hospitalization respondent should have tapered E's Methadone.

64. Dr. Vérdolin explained in his report that respondent did not complete at
any time a systematic history of E including follow through on potential cardiac
disease. Respondent did not record vital signs during E's office visits, and he did not
identify nuherical ratings for E's pain. Respondent recorded multiple times that the

* “patient is happy with his pain program.” As Dr. Verdol_iri put it in response to a cross-

38 Respondent’s only reference to psychiatric treatment for E is found in a.
document from April 6, 2009, captioned “Primary Treatihg Physician’s Progress
Report.” ‘The purpose of this document is not clear except it appears to be related to
some kind of civil action. Respondent documented fhe following in this note: “[E] is
‘asking about a substitute for Wellbutrin and buspar. He is directed to a psychiatrist if
he is to change his bsych meds. He can get angry when he does not have good pain

control.”
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examination question, respondent recorded the same physical exam results at every
one of E's visits and gave E his medications. Respondent administered two co-acting
opioids (Norco and Percocet) at the same time while he prescribed Xanax without
péychiatric evaluation or reas-oning. Respondent also administered to E three anti-
depressants/anti-anxiety medications (Lexapro, Wellbutrin and Buspar) without |
psychiatric consultation or supervisién. Respondent never referred E for follow-up
imaging and procedural options such as injections. Despite a major deviation from the
plan, which included an involuntary psychiatric hold and confiscation of E's firearms in
December 2010, respondent did not change prescribing habits or obtain a A

subspecialty consultation. Respondent did not have E provide a pill count.

65.  Dr. Verdolin stressed that the one and‘only time when E was required to
submit to a UDT, the results were inconsistent because Percocet was-not found in his
system when it should have been. Oddly, on this one UDT that was administered to E,
respondent did not have E tested for alcohol metabolites. In response to a question
poséd to him during cross-examination, Dr. Verdolin stated that it appeared that
respondent was not looking for indications of alcohol abuse; con;c,idering E's history it
was important that respondent look for such indications. In this context he also noted

that taking E's vital signs was imporfant.

66.  Regarding the second issue, failing to refer E for a subspecialist
psychiatric or behavioral health consultation, Dr. Verdolin found that respondent
departed from this standard of care and this departure was extreme. In reaching this
conclusion Dr. Verdolin found the following facts important: E was reported to have
firearms, at the hospital E reported that he was drinking a liter and half of vodka, and

E's wife reported to respondent that he was hallucinating.
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Notwithstanding evidence that E had an ongoing alcohol abuse problem,
respondent did not alter his treatment plan for E or suggest that E obtain treatment

for detoxification.

Dr. Verdolin questioned the accuracy of respondent’s written statement to the
board’s medical cbnsultant that he “participated” in E's psychiatric .treatment while E
was at Palomar. (Exhibit 30.) Dr. Vefdolin found no documentation in E's records that
respondent participated in E's psychiatric treatment. Dr. Vérdolin commented on
respondent’s -writtenA response to the board’s medical consuitant iny which he
acknowledged that he reviewed E’s “full psychiatric report.” Dr. Verdolin noted that the
psychiatric report respondent was referring to was a Social Security Disability
psychiatric report relating to E's application for Social Security Disability. According to
this report, E stated he was not an “active” drinker, but he admitted he was an
alcoholic. Regardless whether this was true, Dr. Verdolin believed that th.is information
required réspondent to have E formally evaluéted for addictioh, given other

information in E’'s records and E’s behavior.

67.  With respect to the third issue he identified, prescribing certain
medications with Methadone, Dr. Verdolin found that respondent departed from the
standard of care he identifiéd above, and this departure was extreme. Dr. Verdolin also
stated that respondent displayed a lack of knowledge in preécribing Methadone to E

without aAdequately assessing him..

-Dr. Verdolin gave the following reasons for his conclusions on this issue: By .
2007 it was well known to pain management specialists that methadone can cause
sudden cardiac death, and this was of particular concern for patients with pre-existing
cardiac arrhythmias or elevated blood pressure. Since at least 2008, there have been
recommendations to provide a screening EKG and continue to do so periodically
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during treatment. Resp'ondeht did not take E's vital signs, including E's blood pressure,
and he did not order an EKG for E. In addition, he prescribed Xanax and Lexapro to E,
both of which have contraindication warnings, while he préscribed Methadone to E. -
Respondent, further, did not document he discussed the risks and benefits for these
particular medications with E. Also, as noted above, respondent did not documént he

referred E for any subspecialty psychiatric consultation. -

In addition, respondent did not document in E's records that he considered that
E, a known alcoholic, was using alcohol, the ultimate interacting chemical. Dr. Verdolin
found it notable that E was hospitalized with reépiratbry depression while he was
respondent’s patient. Yet, based on the record, respondent did not consider the
specia.l circumstances regarding Methadone. Dr. Verdolin also found it(notable that
respondent’s health plah, Anthem Blue Cross, sent warning letters to respondent
regarding side effects and aCcepted standards of care. But it appeared to Dr. Verdolin
- that respondent merely checked the boxes on the forms and did not modify the

prescriptions to E accordingly.

On cross-examination, Dr. Verdolin acknowledged that E reported he was
seeing a marriage counselor and after his second hospitalization he was referred to an

after-care program. These considerations did not change Dr. Verdolin's opinions.
Respondent’s Testimony

_ 68. Respbndent obtained his 'medical degree from the Uhiversity of
Minnesota and has been practicing in tHe area of rehabilitatioh and paih management
medicine since 1989. In 1989 Palomar Hospital recruited him to set up a rehabilitation
program ét that facility, and he set up his oWn practice in 1991. He has held staff

privileges at Palomar for 30 years without restriction. Respondent has been board
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certified in rehabilitation medicine since 1990, with subspecialties in neuromuscular,
electrodiagnostic and pain medicine. Respondent passed the pain management
boards in 2003. Respondent’s testimony was supplemented by a declaration he signed

dated May 22, 2018.

Over the years his practice evolved where he now treats patients with
intractable pain where they need a “safe spot” to obtain pain management
medications. Respondent regards himself as this safe spot. Respondent obtained
board certification in his area for this reason. Respondent's practice grew from 20
patients to 200 patients seen on a weekly basis. He had to hire more people due to the
“collapse of community in pain management.” It is understood that respondént meant

by his comment here that fewer doctors specialize now in pain management.

Respondent emphasized that the goal of pain management is the functionality
of the pain management patient. He said that due to the opioid crisis he has h.ad to be
more vigilant in prescribing pain meds to patients to achieve this functionality. He
noted that the Guidelines have changed since 2000. Now, due to these changes, he
has to respect the “chemical boundaries,” the risk versus the benefits of pain
management. He discusses these risks versus benefits with patients at the first visit
and he assesses realistic goals for the patients to improve their functionality.
Respondent described this as a balance like an artistic balance, “more art than
science,” where he customizes the treatment for patients. Respondent analogized
treatment of a .pain r'nanager_nent'patient to treating. “smoking” with efforts to titrate

| and or reduce the activity. Respondent emphasized that the most important factor to
him is the patient doctor trust relationship. He listens to patients and makes u'nique-
connections to these patients. In this regard, he sees patients monthly to maintain this

unique connection.
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Respondent said that he has treated tens of thousands of patients and has
di,schargédjust a few for violations of their pain agreements. He is reluctant to
‘terminate the patient doctor relationship and he keeps trying to observe and guide
patients who are not compliant. Respondent believes his supervision of the patients is
safer that the supervision provided by a family doctor. As he put it, he is concerned
that another doctor would be less vigilant than he is in terms of supervising a pain
management patien‘t. Respondent expressed concern that pain patients may seek their

pain relief elsewhere.

Respondent said that .he does not use a pain scale. Alpain scale would be like
turning poetry into math. He looks at functioh, which he described as a rough
approximation. He gave as examples a patient who said he or she walked his or her
dog or aftended church. Such descriptions mean more to him than a numerical péin
evaluation. With this said, respondent stated that he now uses a numerical pain scale

but he again stressed that it is more meaningful to identify functionality.

69. Respondent discussed his care and treatment of the five patients at issue

in the second amended accusation.

| Regarding Patient A, he first saw this patient in 2004. He described her as one
of his most challenging patients, a “big challenge” as he described her treatment, but
| he said, despite the challenges he faced treating her, he would not give up on her and
‘'was intent on closely following her. He noted that A had cervfcal injury and fusion and
other pain complaints. He was also concerned because she had a cancer‘diagnos.is
while under his care. Respondent said that the protocol for a patient with cancer
changes where the doctor can use different medications. However, A’s records do not

document that A was diagnosed with cancer.
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Respondent examined A’s records and detailed his discussions with A, his

~ rationale for continuing to prescribe pain medications to her, and his advisements to
her to remain <.:ompliant‘wi'th her pain \agreements and to take pain medications only
as prescribed. Respondent said he regularly discussed with her proper-ﬁse of pain
medicine, issued paper prescriptions to her, and limited the prescriptions to 30-day
supplies. He told her that she needed to use just one pharmacy. He "severely
counseled” her after she reported that her medication was stolen. He did not prescribe
more medications to herlafter"she reported her meds were stolen from her safe.
Respondent said he set limits “all the time” and did not increase her Valium as one
example. He took steps to limit her ability to obtain refills, and he did not refill her

- medications. Respondent said he started a medication tapering prografn, but he also
noted that tapering. A's medications was a “challenge” and “difficult.” In response to a
question on cross-examination, he said she was a “complicated patient,” but it was his
professional responsibility to not abandon her. Respondent did not, however, explain
why A was a complicated, challenging and difficult patient. He said he discussed with
her a consolidation program, but he said that this required her “buy in” and he Has
found that forced reductions are not successful. Respondent also said in this regérd
that as a general matter, patienfs are terrified when their meds are reduced because
they fear their pain will return. He also noted that patients get angry when they do not
get their medications. He said in general he advises patients to skip a dose. But
respondent did not document in A’s records that he advised A to skip a dose. |

Respondent noted he discussed with A possible dismissal from his treatment.

Regarding A's ER visits, respondent said that her visits to the ER were warranted
and within the pain managemeht agreements he required her to sign. Respondent

stressed that he talked with ER doctors where she went for pain'treatment.
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Respondent also talked about his efforts to have her seek non-opioid therapies.
Respondent said he tried to incorporate as many different modalities, including
electrical stimulation, as possible to try to reduce her medications. He noted that she
was seeing an acupuncturist. In his March 3, 2015, notes he recorded that respondent

was seeing a psychiatrist.

Regarding the UDTs respondent had A submit to, respondent cited one
occasion, on March 4, 2014, where he talked to her about UDT “test results.”% Between
2010 and 2014, by his count he had A submit to 13 screens in an effort to monitor her
compliance. He discounted the value of UDTs and noted that in 2010 it was not the
standard of care to administer UDTs. He noted that the testing at the time was
unreliable, and a “cup test” at the cost of six dollars could have false positive results.
Respondent recognized that lab confirmation was more helpful. In 2010 to 2012, cup
tests were available, but he used them only for laboratory confirmation. He stated he
was not able to pay the cost of the confirmatory lab tests himself due to the cost,

which can be up to $1,100.

At the same time, respondent noted that he sought to have Sharp Community

Medical Group (SCMG) endorse and pay for UDTs before screens were required as

* According to this note, when respondent “challenged” her with her UDT test
result, A told him that “she has been using h.er medication less often.” This calls into
question respondent’s testimony that it was a challenge to have her reduce or taper
her pain medications since A, by her own account, was apparently willing to take less

pain meds.
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matter of the standard of care. At the time, SCMG was not authorizing UDTs because

SCMG did not believe they were medically necessary.

70.  With respect to Patient B, respondent described her as a complex pain
management patient due to the six caesareans she had and the abdominal and vaginal

issues she was experiencing as a result.

Respondent addressed the lack of a pain management agreement. He was
puzzled it was not in the file, and he noted that he referenced it in the January 2014

record where he indicated he “reviewed” the pain agreement with B.

Respondent disputed the contention that he prescribed B meds in greater than
30-day supplies as alleged in paragraph G (page 15) of the second amended
accusation. He said he never wrote prescriptions for-greater than 30-day supplies
during a 10-month period in 20i3, and was'puzzled by the allegation. This period of
time represents the start 6f B's treatment with respondent in February 2013 through
December 2014. In only one sense respondent was correct: he did not prescribe pain
meds to B in greater than 30-day supplies. But, he is fundamentally incorrect because
B's abpointments during this time with respondent were more frequent than 30 days
apart, and as a result, B obtained greater than 30-day supplies ofvpain meds based on
the timing of respondent’s prescriptions and refills of these prescriptions. As detailed
above, during this 10-month period, respdndént issued 15 prescriptions for
Hydrocodone-Acetaminophen 10/325, 12 prescriptions fof MS Contin, and 10
prescriptions for Oxycodone. (Exhibit 13, AGO 9588-9590.) This means that respondent
was giving B access to greater than 30-day supplies of meds during this 10-month

time frame. A review of CURES at this time would have shown this.
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In response to questions posed to him on cross-examination, respondent
denied that he lost track of the 30-day supplies of pain prescriptions he issued to B.
He blamed the pharmacy for “stacking up” B's pain meds. In response to another
question posed to him on cross-examination, respondent acknowledged that he could

have written prescriptions that stated when the fill dates were due.

Respondent also disputed the alle'gatioh that he violated thé standard of care
by prescribing B pa‘in meds containing acetaminophen in doses greater than 4,000 mg
per day. He specifically disagreed with the claim in the second amended accusation at
sub-paragraph “H" at page_15 whfch alleges that between December 2013 through
September 2014 respondent wroté prescriptions for meds containing acetaminophen

“with daily dosages of 4.6 grams (4,600 mg). He said that in fact duriﬁg this time he was
prescribing daily dosages of 2.6 grams. He added;that in general» he was providing B
with a prescription for meds containing 325 mg of acetaminophen to be taken 6 times

a day. This would amount to 1,950 mg of acetaminophen per day.

'Also as discussed above, r'esﬂpondent’s calculation here is incorrect because,
according to CURES, B was able to obia/n during this time at /east 3,780 Hydrocodone-
Acetaminophen 10/325 mg pills based on his prescriptions to her between December
2013 and September 2014. From December 27, 2013, through September 18, 2014, B
took on average 14 Hydrocodone-AcAetaminophen 10/325 mg pills per day, even
taking into account meds that she claimed she had lost, by dividing the 3,780 pills B
obtained during this time by the 265 days between December 2013 and September
2014. This amount is well in excesé of fhe 4,000 mg limit of acetaminophen Dr.

Kirpalani identified as safe to use.

With this noted, respondent questioned the 4,000 mg Dr. Ki.rpalani identified as
the amount of acetaminophen a person can take.séfely daily. Respondent said that the
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CDC reported in 2016 that 90 MED is the daily limit, which is 18 Hydrocodone-
Acetaminophen 5/300 mg pills that may be prescribed safely. This may mean that
5,400 mg of acetaminophen (300 mg of acetaminophen multiplied by 18) is the safe

daily amount an individual can take, according to respondent.

Respondent also disputed the allegation: at paragraph I of the second amended
.accusation (page 16) that he did not document or discuss with B her aberrant

behaviors. He cited two instances when he documented he discussed her behavior: he

went over her CURES report with her to note he was tracking her medication use,'and

he documented the importance of safeguarding her medications.

71.  With respect to Patient C, respondeht stressed the nature of C's pain

condition due to the amputation of his arm and reconstructive surgery he had.

" Respondent stated that after August 2008, when C signed a pain management |
agreement, he discussed numeroué times with C the risks and benefits of opioid use.
As a “template” of these discussions regarding the risks of opioid use, respondent
referenced his April 3, 2012, note, where he documented the following: “The
importance of co‘mpliénce with the agreed upon course of action was stressed and
that noncompﬁance could lead to untoward health outcomes.” He further cited
instances in C's record where he ndted he “counseled” C. However, respondent -
testified that he did not specifically identify “risks” as the subject of his discussions
with C. He also stated he counseled C about his pain managementvagreemen"c and

advised C not to change his meds without authorization.

Respondent also disputed the contentions at paragraphs K and L of the second
amended accusation. Paragraphs K and L (page 16) allege that in 2012 and 2013,

respondent frequently prescribed C extra controlled substances and/or two short
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acting Oxycodone prescriptions in the same months in March, April, May, June,
September and October 2013 and during aﬁd_approximate 10-month time frame he
wrote prescriptions for more than a 30-day supply, ”including extra prescriptions and
refills.” He said, with re%pect to the allegation in paragraph K, that he had a purpose
for writing the prescriptions he wrote. Respondent added that his practicé was not to
prescribe greater than 30-day supplies of meds with certain exceptions. With respectA
to the allegation at paragraph K, respondent explained that he may have written the
prescriptions for Dilaudid, a short acting médicine, as a bridge. He said that there were
times mid-month that the medications needed to be adjusted due to the strength of
the medications C obtained from the pharmacy. It is not clear from his testimony herel

what he means.

72.  With respect to Patient D, respondent disagreed with the allegations in
the amended accusation that he inappropriately prescri'bed pain meds to her despite
her aberrant behavior, possible addiction topain meds, and her non-compliance with
her pain-agreement. Respondent believed he appropriately presﬁribed paih meds to D
and he emphésized that he referred her to physical therapy, reduced her meds and did
not approve early refills. When he learned she was treating with another doctor he

terminated the doctor patient relationship and wrote a letter to her in this regard.

Respondent explained that D was another “complicated” patient, but she
showed no outwafd signs of addiction. Her mood and affect were appropriate, and she
arrived on time for her-appointments. He did not believe referral to a psychiatrist was
needed. Because of his “battle” with the SCMG medical group regarding paying for the
confirmatory labs, respondent did not have her submit to UDTs. However, based on
D's records, there was nothing to indicate he asked SCMG to authorize UDTs for D. He

did not do a “pill count” because he did not believe pills counts were valid or useful.

111



He explained he held this view because he did not want patients carrying around their
meds, and patients can get meds frqm other persons. Respondent expressed concern
that having patients bring their meas to the office would create._"chain of custody”
issues. Despite his belief that pills counts were not useful, respondent acknowledged
that the pain agreement D signed allowed him to reqdire D to bring all of her opioid

and "adjunctive” medications in their original bottles upon his ‘request.

With regard to his record keeping of D’s care, réspondent admitted his record
keeping was “lacking,” he did not document D's headaches specifically, the electronic
records repopulated records from prior visits, and the plans and- goals for D should

have been better.

In response to questions on cross-examination, respondent acknowledged that
he was concerned D was addicted to the pain meds he was prescribing, but despite
this concern he authorized refills). In hindsight, respondent said he should have
referred her to a psychiatrist. He noted that this was not the standard of care at the
time. Later in his testimony, on cross—ekamination, he said he was perhaps
“overcompassionate” in his decisfon making to authorize refills despite his concerns

about D. ' B

73.  Regarding his care and treatment of Patient E, respondent stated that he
“really had a connection” with E, and as an indication of this connection, respondent
noted that E frequently brought his young son to his appointments with him because E

wanted to be a good example to his son.

Respondent testified that E displayed no “outward signs” of alcohol abuse, was
stable, wanted to work, and E reported that he was improving and experiencing less

pain. He noted that the last time he saw E before his death, there were no issues
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regarding his alertness or slurring of his speech. If E displayed such behaviors,
respondent stated he would have recorded them. Respondent emphasized that E was

“stable” on the program.

Reépondent admitted that he did not refer E to an addiction specialist, he did
not take E's vital signs, after E's second hospitalization for alcohol abuse he did not
document any discussion with him inquiring of his alcohol use, and he never | _
requested that E undergo an EKG. In hindsight, respondént said that he probably
should have more aggressively involved himself with E’'s whole family, and in
retrospect, he wished he had more meetings with E's wife to ensure he was taking his
' meds appropriately. In response to a quesﬁon on cross-examination regarding
whether he referred E to AA, he said it was his “understanding” that E was in AA,
though he did not document that E was attending AA. He said he found a pain
support group for E to attend and he "made some recommendations,” though it was
uhclea_r' what these recommendations were. Respondent testified that he told E that he
. should see a psychiatrist. However, he did not document that he referred E to a

psychiatrist in E's medical records.

~ Respondent admitted his treatment of E fell below the standard of care and
there are a number of things he would now do differently with respect to his treatment
of E. He said that having E submit to UDTs would have been “reasonable,” and taking
E's vital signs would have allowed him to assess whether E was ”hiding'f his alcohol
use. He also stated he would have had more Idetailed discussions with E regérding how
E was taking his meds, like having him to recite "I know this is for. . ." and the times
during the day E was taking his meds. Respondent comn;ented that with patients in -
general if they are taking their meds correctly “they're going to come up with their

schedule and say it straight away.”
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74.  Since his treatment of the patients identified in this matter, resbondent
- testified that he has made changes to his practice. He is now more vigilant and his
record keeping has i.mproved. He records the MEDs in every prescription and tries to
limit MEDs to 90. He has a new more robLlst ele'ctron.'ic medical recordkeeping (EMR)-
system that allows him to get UDTs paid for and is “more active” with CURES. He runs
CURES réports monthly for his patients. Respondent now takes vital signs of each of
his patients and purchésed machines that take blood pressure, respiration and pulse
readings, and a machine to record a patient's weight. He now records each patient’s

weight, blood pressure, and respiratory rates.

Respondent took and completed the Univ‘e.rsity of California Physician
Assessment and Clinical Education (PACE) program’s medical record keeping course
on January 13, 2017, and prescription practices course on April 26, 2017. Respondent.
said he found the PACE program benefiéial and has employed a number of things he
Iéarned into his practice. To show how he has materially changed how he documents
patient cére, respondent submitted a femplate ofé patient record which he created
which contains areas to document a patient's-vital signs, including blood pressure,
pain level, hisfory, and medications. (Exhibit KK.) It also contains templates for advising
patients régarding the risks énd benefits of prescribed medications. Respondent now
regularly checks CURES reports for each pétient. Respondent also provided other
documents to show how he has changed his practice, including a detailed summary of
improvements he has made (Exhibit LL), a Non-Opioid Pain Management Checklist
(Exhibit MM), an Opioid Contréct Violation Notice (Exhibit NN), a Brief Pain Inventory
(Exhibit OO), an 'impro.ved Pain ’Agréement-(Exhibit PP); New Patient Medical History

- Checklist (Exhibit' QQ), an Opioid Informed Consént docﬁment (Exhibit RR), and a

document advising patients of opioid withdrawal symptoms (Exhibit SS). -
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Testimdny of Respondent’s Expert Gregory Pdlston, M.D.

75.  Dr. Polston graduated from the University of Wisconsin Medical School in
1989 and completed an anesthesia residency at the Naval Medical Center in 1.998 and
‘a Pain Fellowship in 2001. Dr. Polston is currently a Clinical Professor of Anesthesia at
UCSD Medical Center and the CIinicaI- Director in Pain Medicine af the Veterans
Administration San Diego Medical Center. He is a Diplomate of the American Board of -
Anesthesiology-with an added qualification in pain management. Dr. Polston is a
Fel|ow,I Interventional Pain Physician, and he has sat on numerous professional
committees. Dr. Polston is also the author of book chapters, articles and abstracts in

the field of pain manabement. He has served and testified as a board expert.

Based on his review of each of the five patient records, and other relevant
records, Dr. Polston initially found, as he stated in his report dated November 3, 2018,
that respondent did not depart from any applicable standardsA of care with respect to
the treatment of these ﬁve patients, Dr. Polston testified that respondent committed
three simple dep.artu‘res from the standards of care, as detailed below. Aside from this
testimony in these aréas, his testimony is for the most part consistent with the

conclusions in his report.

76.  Regarding respondent’s treatment of Patient A, Dr. Polston found the

following:

With respect to the issue of respondent’s monitoring of Patient A, Dr. Polston
found it significant that A had a diagnosis of “bone cancer” and her headaches were
related to a pituitary tumor, and as a result respondent appropriately monitored
Patient A. Dr. Polston reasoned, as he detailed in his report, the cancer diagnosis made

A’s care more challenging, multiple specialists were treating her pain including a
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neurosurgeon and a psychiatrist, and also because the Guidelines did not apply to A as

. acancer patient.

Dr. Polston, however, conceded during his testimony that respondent did not
confirm that A was diagnosed with cahcer, respondent did not consult with any of A’s
doctors to ascertain whether she had cancek, and he should have done so. Further, A's
- record does not support the conclusion that A had cancer and we;s treated for cancer.
~ In addition, a_pathdlogy report dated October 5, 2005, found that A had a “probably
benign enchondroma,” which Dr. Polston conceded was not a cancer diagnosis.

(Exhibit 33.)

Dr. Polston, moreover, conceded that he did not know the specialties of any of
other doctors who were prescribing opioids to A, as documented in CURES reports.

Thus, his conclusion that A was seeing specialists appeared to be in error.

Saliently, when asked on cross-examination whether, in light of A's “significant
aberrant behaviors” and the unsubstantiated cancer diagnosis, respondent complied
with the st_andards of care applicable in Novembér of 2014, Dr. Polston responded that
réspondent displayed "lack of knowledge” because he continued to prescribe
controlled substances in the same amounts. When asked on redirect whether this
represented a simple or extreme departure from the standard of care, Dr. Polston

repeated that respondent’s conduct represented a lack of knowledge.*

40 Dr, Polston here found that respondent’s lack of knowledge constituted
incompetency in the practice of medicine. Complainant alleged respondent was
incompetent under the Ninth Cause for Discipline, but only with respect to Patient E.
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Regarding respondent’s prescripﬁon of over 4,000 mg of acetaminopheh daily
to A, Dr. Polston téstified that respondent was not prescribing Patient A combination
products for her to take in greater than 30-day supplies. In his report he explained that
Dr. Kirpalanivdid not take into account the medications that A “reported” to have been
lost or stolen, and the “daily doses that Dr. Kirpalani used in his report were higher
than the actual doses that the patient was taking." (Emphasis added.) Dr. Polston
added that the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) did not limit the amount of
acetaminophen in combination products until 2014. He did not, however, disagree that
the standard of care requires a doctor to attempt to limit the amount of -
écetaminophen to 4,000 mg daily. Dr. Polston, further, offered, as a basis for his
conclusion that respondent did not depart from the standard of caré, that there was
“not evidence that [A] had liver issues.” He concluded that r'e'spondent did not depart

from the standard of care in prescribing acetaminophen to A.

Concerning the third issue, respondent’s informed consent of the risks and
benefits and alternatives of the medications he was preséribing A, Dr. Polston
conclud‘ed, based on the pain agreements A signed, and the record of his discussioﬁs
with A, that he did not depart from the standard of care. In his report analyzing this
issue, Dr. Polston emphasiied that A had cancer and “this fact” is why respondent did
not abandon A. He concluded that respondent did not depart from the standard of
care on the informed consent issue. It is noted tha_t even with this respondent

continued A on the same medication regimen.

Complainant did not move to amend the second amended accusation to conform this

evidence regarding respondent’s treatment of Patient A to the pleading.
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Co'ncérning A’s inconsistent urine screen results, Dr. Polston identified the
standard of care as invblving respondent’s “interpretation” of the results and not, as
Dr. Kirpalani identified the issue, as involving respondent’s documentation of the
results in A’s notes and his continued prescription of the meds despite inconsistent
results. .Dr.-PoIéton noted that respondent reviewed and notated A's lab report results
and he ”appropriétely used the results in his clinical decision making," as he wrote in
his report. His view here cannot be credited. Dr. Polston did not exblain how
respondent documented in A’'s notes h:e used the inconsistent results in his prescribing |
practices. Only once, on November 11, 2014, respondent did acknowledge an |
inconsistent result, which he described as “unacceptable” and advised Patient A of the
possibility of ”beihg discharged.” Respondent said in this note that he counseled A
about this result. Dr. Polston also questioned the validity of UDTs due to variations in

patient metabolism rates.

Dr. Polston also discussed A’s visits to the ER and addressed Dr. Kirpalani's
concerns about it. He stressed that respondent had A sign a modified pain agreement'
in an effort to limit or control her ER visits and throughout this time reépondent was

monitoring A and appropriately counseling her.
77.  With respect to Patient B, Dr. Polston reached the following conclusions:

Concerning respondent failure to adequately screened B at the first visit, Dr.
Polston disagreed with Dr. Kirpaléni that respondent departed from the standard of
care. Dr. Polston stated that respondent reviewed B's Kaiser medical records, obtained

~a CURES report at her first visit, and reviewed records that showed that she was not a
smoker and had “no history of alcohol.” Dr. Polston also noted in his report that
respondent commented on her psychological ‘st'atus and function in the physical exam
he conducted.
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Concerning the informed consent issue, Dr. Polston found that respondent
appropriately advised B of the risks and benefits of taking the meds he was
prescribing. For his conclusion on this point, Dr. Polston stated that fespondent
documented the importance of compliance with the program numerous times and on
6ne occasion hé advised B that noncompliance could lead to an “untoward” health
outcome. Dr. Polston stated further that respondent met the 2007 Guidelines in place

because these Guidelines did not require written consent.

With respect to the third issue, overprescribing of medications because B was
able to obtain meds in gréater than 30-day supplies during a ten-month period, Dr.
Polston initially concluded, as he wrote in his report, that respondent did not depart
from the standard of care because the individual prescriptions respondent wrote were
not for more than 30-day s‘L.JppIies. However, Dr. Polston changed his view, somewhat,
in his hearing testimony. He acknowledged that respondent wrote at least 14 Norco
~ prescriptions for B during a ten-month period, including refills. (Exhibit 13.) He
suggested however that B's pharmacist.shared responsibility for the supply of Norco B

‘was able to obtafn.

With respect to the fourth issue Dr. Kirpalani identified, acetaminophen toxicity,
Dr. Polston stated that respondent did not depart from the standard of care. He gave
the following reasons for his conclusion: respondeht was following B closely, B did not-
take all of the meds she was prescribed, respondent warned B on Augﬁst 14, 2014,
about takingvtoo much acetaminophen where he recorded that “she is taught about
her use of Tylenol,” and the FDA did not require manufacturers to reduce the
acetaminophen in combination products until 2014. Dr. Polston added that ”genérally"

it was “easy” to go above the 4,000 mg threshold. He further commented that he was
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not sure why liver enzymes go up, but he agreed that higher Tylenol levels worsen “the

situation.”

Regarding the fifth issue, respondent’s fnonitoring of B, Dr. Polston disagreed
with Dr. Kirpalani that respondent departed from the standard of care because
respondent did not conduct periodic reviews, did not obtain regular CURES reports,
did not have B submit to UDTs, did not document B's progress towards identified
goals, and did not have B bring in her medications for respondent to conduct “pill
© counts.” As the baslis,of his conclusion on this issue, Dr. Polston stated that UDTs were
nof requifed until the 2014 Guidelines. Later in his testimony, he conceded that the
2014 Guidelines did not represent a fixed start date where standards in the Guidelines
becéme applicable because the pain management stan‘da‘rds of care were evolving in
light of the opioid prescription crisis before 2014. At the same time, Dr. Polston again
questioned the value of UDTs because of the frequency of false positives. He stated
that doctors were not required to use CURES until October 2018. Dr. Polston further
testified that respondent adequately reviewed the medication program with B, he
reviewed the results of the CURES .report with her on one occasion, and documented
he discussed with her the proper use of medications and safeguarding her medicines.
He stated that the éllegation at Paragraph I of the second amended accusaﬁon was
not accurate because the record identified many examplés where respondent reviewed

B's medicatjons and sought to reduce her dosages.

78.  With respect to respondent’s care of Patient C, Dr. Polston reached the

following conclusions:
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Concerning the first issue, as summarized in P.aragraphJ (page 16)*' of the
second amended accusation,_Dr. Kirpalani's conclusion'th'at respondent violated the
standard of care because he oril'y had C sign one pain agreement on August 8, 2008;
and he had no additionél discussions with him about the risks and benefits of opioid
medications, Dr. Polston stated that respondent did not depart from the standard of
care.and in fact'exceeded the standard of care because respondent was not required
to have C sign a pain agreement at the time. As he put it in his testimony, the August
6, 2008 pain agreement C signed was a living document that a'dvi_sed C of the risks and
benefits of opioid therapy and respondent was not required to have C sign two pain
agreements. In addition, Dr. Polston stated that respbndent met this sfandard wheﬁ
respondent went over the pain agreement with C on July 6, 2009, and also discussed

" n

the dosing schedule at this visit, and respondent “clearly discussed” “concerns” he had
with C when they occurred durinkg his treatment of C. Dr. Polston added that |
respondent stayed within the "Guidelines” framework by his advisements to C,

specifically, his agreements’ terms that allowed respondent the discretion to replace,

41 At the start of the hearing complainant withdrew the allegation at paragraph
57, subdivision (c), which alleged that respondent committed negligence when he
allegedly failed to adequately screen C on August 8, 2008. Dr. Kirpalani characterized
and ﬁumbered his summary of his analysis and conclusion on this issue as “Medical
Issue #1: Screening.” The informed consent fssue is classified as "‘I\‘/ledical Issue #2:
Informed Consent” in his repoft and the remaining two issues are classified in
sequence -accord.ingly. It is noted here that the fourth issue Dr. Kirpalani identified in
his repbrt captioned “Medical Issﬁe #4: Inconsistent urine drug test results” was not

alleged in the second amended accusation.
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taper or modify C's meds if they were reported as lost or stolen and the possibility of

termination if C engaged in aberrant behaviors.

With respect to the third issue Dr. Polston addressed as idehtified‘ by Dr.
Kirpalani, respondent"s over-prescription of pain meds to C, Dr. Polston found
respondAent did not deviate from the standard of care in terms prescribing C pain
meds in greater than 30-day subplies. He reached this conclusion because, although C
obtained rﬁore prescriptions during a 1’2-month period, Dr. Polston believed this was
due to C's increased pain and the 30-day supplieé he was receiving did not cover C's
pain. Dr. Polston also found it important to note in assessing whether respondent
departed from the standard of care thét in May 2013 respondent increased C's
Oxycodone dose but discontinued the OxyContin. As a result, C recéived a lower dose

of the-same medication.
79.  With respect to Patient D, Dr. Polston reached the following conclusions:

Dr. Polston first foqnd, consistent with the 2007 GQideline’s, it was appropriate
to treat D with pain medications even if she was addicted to the medications.
Terminat‘ion'of the patient is not the first option he noted; it is the last option. In terms:
of his treatment and monitoring of D, Dr. Polston commented that respondent, by
havihg D sign a pain-agreément, exceeded the standard of care in piace at the time. In
addition, respondent documented her aberrant behavior and counseled her about it,
though respondent did nct expressly document that he counseled D regarding the
risks and benefits of the medications. Dr. Polston stated that based on his
interpretation of D’s records it was .clrear to him that respondent counseled D in this
regard. In support of this réading, he cited the Octob}erﬂ 14, 2010, note in which

" n

respondent recorded that he spent “[s]lignficant additional time” “going over the
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expectations of her medications” and he “extensively counseled her “to keep to the

medication program without fail.”

Dr. Polston further opined that respondent was not required to have D undergo
UDTs because this was not.the standard at the time. Respondent was also not required
to conduct a pill count of D's medications because in his view a pill count would not

have shown an'ything because D said she ran out of medications.

Dr. Polston agreed with Dr. Verdolin in one respect concerning respondent’s
continued prescription of medications to D. Dr. Polston acknowledged in his testimony
that respondent departed from the standard of care when he prescribed on May 12,
2011, an early refill of 60 pills of Alprazolam to D without seeing her. Dr. Polston
testified respondent should have seen her before he issued this prescription. He stated
that he believed the level of departure was simple and not extreme because
respondent did not display a “wanton disregard of care” of D because he was at least
in “some type of dialogue” with her and he documented his clinicalireasoning.
According to D's records, Dr. Polston’s understanding here is not correct. In the May |
12, 2011, note respondent did not explain his clinical reasoning for preécribing the
Alprazolam and respondent was not in a dialog»ue with D around the time he issued
the prescription. Dr. Polston added for his conclusion that the departure was simple
and ndt extreme because respondent reviewed CURES. Dr. Polston's understanding
here is also incorrect. Respondent did not review D's CURES profile on May 12, 2012.
He ran a CURES report over five months later on D on October .25, 2012, the day he.

discharged:her from his care.

With regard to other issues Dr. Verdolin identified, Dr. Polston also agreed with

Dr. Verdolin that respondent committed a simple departure from the standard of care
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when he failed to refer D to some sort of behavioral health professional in light of her.

aberrant behaviors.
80.  With regards to Patient E, Dr. Polston reached the following conclusions:

Regarding the first issue, as Dr. Verdolin enumerated it, respondent’s failure to
follow the.2007 Guidelines, Dr. Polston found no departure from the standard of care.
He concluded, based on -his review of the record, that fespondent performed physical
exams, had clear “indications,” as Dr. Polston wrote in his report, for the use of
controlled substances and appropriately reQiewed E's plan, respondent was aware of
his history of alcohol abuse, and during his care and treatment of E, E presented
appropriately without any signs he was using or abusing alcohol. Dr. Polston noted
that respondent documented E was “stable” on the progrém, and as an indication of
-his functioning level, E was tryilng to give up smoking. Dr. Polston also found it
significant that respondent referred E to physiéal therapy and provided E's primary
doctor with his notes to ensure coordination of care. Although he did not use a
numeric scale to assess E's pain, according to Dr. Polston, respondent adequately
assessed E's pain level because he asked E qualitative questions about his pain and
function. Based on his interpretation of E's record, Dr. Polston stated that respondent
discussed thé risks and benefits of using controlled substances on a regular basis. Dr.

Polston further stated that respondent’s records were adequate and accurate.

Notwithstanding this, Dr. Polston testified that it was “wrong” that respondent
did not take E's vital signs. At the same time, he said that talking to E was sufficient if
there was any concern. He noted that E was able to speak in full sentences and able to
walk into exam room. It is noted, here, that respondent did not docurﬁent that E spoke

in complete sentences or that he walked into the exam room without any difficulty.
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Dr. Polston emphasized in his testimony that respondent “enlisted” E's wife to
participate in his care. His wife went with E to his November 12, 2009, visit with
~respondent shortly after his October 2009 hospitalization. At this visit E mentioned
that he was considering attending AA and a support group to manage pain. It is noted
that respondent did not document after this visit whether E in fact attended AA or any
support group. Aside from this visit, respondent did not document he had any

additional discussions with E's wife.*?

Regarding the second issue, respondent’é failure to refer E to a behavioral
health specialist, Dr. Polston found no departure from the standard of care. He
reached this conclusion because respondent followed E's hospital care, E's wife was
“actively” involved in his care and E was “back in AA,” as Dr. Polston wrote in his report, |
and E had not been drinking for 13 years. In his hearing testimony he added that he
assumed E was in an aftercare psychiétric program after his release 'from the hospital.
Dr. Polston’s understandings here are not supported by the record/. First, as noted, it
cannot be found that E's wife was “actively” involved in E’s care. Except for attending
one office visit with E, respondent did nbt document that she was involved in E's pain
management caré. Second, E never reported he was in AA; he said he was considering
AA and respondent never asked him whe.the‘r he was in AA or any group therapy.
Additionally, the record does not ihdicate that respondent was involved, or

participated, in E's behavioral health care during his hospital admission or afterwards,

42 At the hearing, Dr. Polston emphasized several times E’s wife’s inclusion in
respondent’s treatment of E. But E's wife was involved with E’s care on a limited basis,
and as a factor in and of itself, her involvement has limited value in assessing the

quality of respondent’s care and treatment of E.
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and E's records do not include records from his Palomar hospital admission. In fact,
according to E's Palomar Hospital records, E mentioned respondent in the context of
his discharge plan, and he was going to cont{nue to see him for pain management.

_ (Exhibit E, MCER 0073.) The Palomar hospital record does not indicate whether E in
fact participated in an aftercare behavioral health program. Finally, contrary to Dr.
Polston’s understanding, E was not abstinent from alcohol for 13 years. E's wife

reported that he had been drinking before he was involuntarily admitted on the 5150
hold in December 2010. |

Regarding the third issue Dr. \/erdolin identified, respondent’s co-administrétion '
of methadone with other medications, failure to have E submit to an EKG or take his
blood pressure, and failure to inquire regarding E's use of alcohol, Dr. Polston did not
find that respondent departed from the standard of care or displayed a lack of
knowledge. He found the folloWing factors signiﬁcant to his conclusion: the
methadone dose E was taking was below the 100 mg level threshold level the 2009
methadone guidelines provided and was, thus, a safe threshold level for E to take even
with the other medications he was taking, and there was no indication that E had any
significant cardiac events. In his report, Dr. Polston noted that the Medical Examiner
found that E did not have significant cardiac disease. He also noted that the Medical
Examiner found that E appeared to have been taking Methadone in prescribed

dosages.

In response to questions on cross-examination, Dr. Polston acknowledgéd that
respondent did not document whether E was drinking. He, however, suggestéd that
respondent documented he discussed E’s alcohol use with E in his January 11, 2011,

note when he went over respondent’s Palomar hospitalization, though respondent did
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not expressly state that he discussed E's alcohol use with him. Respondent advised E of

the importance of abstinence from alcohol and using his medications as prescribed.
Evaluation of Exper_t Testimony and Evidence

81. In resolving the conflicts’in the ekpert testimony in this mattef, Drs.
Kirpaléni’s and Verdolin's opinions are wéighed against Dr. Polston’s opinions. In
making this assesément, consideration has been given to the qualiﬁcation's and
credibility of the experts, the reasons for their opinions,-and the factual bases of their
opinions. California courts have repeatedly underscored that an expert's opinion is
only as good as the facts and reasons upon which that opinion is based. (Kennemur v.

State of Ca//'fornlla (1982) 133 Cal.App.3d 907, 924.)

With certain exceptions discussed below, the testimony of Drs. Kirpalani and
Verdolin are accepted over's Dr. Polston’ testimony. Their testimony was more
persuasive than Dr. Polston’s testimony, and the factual bases for their opinions were

more consistent with the record as a whole.

In conducting this evaluation only evidence within the seveh—year statute of
limitations has been conside'red..For Patients A, B and C this time period is on or after
October 5, 2010. For Patients D and E this is time period is on after.March 21, 2011.

References to dates before these dates are only considered as background.
FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE REGARDING PATIENT A

82. The second amended accusation identifies five areas where respondent is
alleged to have committed gross negligence in his care and treatment of A, under

Paragraph 54, subparagraphs A through E.
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Subp‘araglraph A alleges that between 2011 and 2014 respondent continued to
prescribe high dose opioids while Patient A reported lack of analgesia and continued
chronic pain, and decreased function, and she displayed aberrant behaviors.

Respondent’s conduct in continuing to prescribe high dose opioids in Dr. Kirpalani's
opinion amounted to a failure to adequately monitor A. Dr. Polston relied for his
conclusion that respondent did not depart from the standard of care here, as he wrote
in his report, on the belief that A h‘ad bone can-cer and respoﬁdent was thus not bound
to follow the Guidelines in prescribing high dose opioids to a cancer patient. However,
it is clear that respondent was not treating A with high aose opioids because he
believed she had cancer. Respondent did not co:;ifirm with any doctor that A had
cancer, and/or she was treating for cancer, and respondent never recorded in A’s
records that he assessed A as having cancer and being in treatment for this co.ndition.
Thus, Dr. Polston'’s opinion here is not credited. In contrast, Dr. Kirpalani's opinion is
well-supported by the facts in the record. Res‘pbndent continued to prescribe A with
high dose opioids despite the fact that she continued to experience chronic paih, the
medications were not effective in treating her pain, and she displayed aberrant

behaviors.

Subparagraphs B and C allege that between December 2011 to early 2013
respondent prescribed medications with acetaminophen containing doses of
acetaminophen gréater than the 4,000 mg amount that a person:can safely take daily.
Dr. Kirpalani found that this amount of acetaminophen placed A at risk of liver
damage, and it exceeded the 4,000 mg daily threshold dose. Dr. Polston asserted that
respondent did not issue prescriptions to A of medications contéining acetaminophe-n
that exceeded the 4,000 mg threshold. But Dr. Polston failed to consider that A was

able to obtain medications with acetaminophen that exceeded the 4,000 mg threshold
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based on his prescriptions between December 2011 and November 2012. Dr.

~ Kirpalani's opinion here is fully credited.

Subparagraphs D and E allege that respondent committed gross neg|igence
because he “continued” to prescribe Patient A controlled medications despite A's
repeated violations of the pain agreement. Dr. Kirpalani stated that respondent
departed from the standard of care because he prescribed these meds to her despite
hér repeated ER visits and inconsistent urine screens. D‘r. Polston disagreed With the
conclusion that respondent failed to appropriately monitor A and he agreéd with
respondeht’s_ decision to continue treating A. As Dr. Polston put it, discharge of a pain
management patient is a last option. Further, respondent was aware of A’s ER visits,
and respondent took reasonable steps to mbnitor A. Notably, he modified the pain
agreement to allow A to visit the ER once a month to deal with breakthrough pain,
documented that he was taking steps to have A comply with the pain agreement,
monitored her and counseled her regarding compliance. Respondent’s testimony that
he did not want to gi\‘/é up on the patient was credible. For these reasons, accordingly, -
Dr. Polston'’s opinion here is credited over Kirpalani's opinion. respdndent acted
reasonably in continuing to prescribe A controlled medications in light of her

violations of the pain agreement and inconsistent urine screens.

FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE REGARDING PATIENT B

83.  Subparagraph F of the second amended accusation alleges that
respondent committed gross negligencé because he failed to discuss the risks and
benefits of the use of controlled substarices and/or enter into a pain agreement with B.
Dr. Kirpalani found that respondent’s conduct here constituted an extreme departure
from the standard of care. Dr. Polston believed that respondent adequately

documented that he discussed the risks ahd benefits of her use of controlled
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substances. His opinion here is not credited over Dr. Kirpalani’s opinion for this reason:
Dr. Polston’s reading of respondent’s documentation. was more an exe'rcise of
'a_dvocacy than a dispassionate review. He read respondent’s November 13, 2013, note
that "non-compliance could lead to untoward health outcomes” as meeting the
informed consent standard. However, “Untoward health outcomes” due to
“noncompliance” can mean a lot of things. Similarly, he found that respondent's
documentation regarding B’s need‘for compliance with the program, which he

. documented elsewhere in B's records, met the informed consent standard. Also
contrary to Dr. Polston’s interpretation, the language “noncompliance with the
program” does not Ieéd to the conclusion that respondent adyised B of the risks and
benefits of the medications he was prescribing her. Regarding the lack of a pain
agreemént, respondent stated that he believed there was a pain agre.ement in place
that was not included in B's records. He noted that B's records indicate that he
reviewed the pain agreement With her on January 7, 2014. However, his belief that B

signed a pain agreement does not prove that B in fact signed pain agreement.

Subparagraph G alleges that during a 10-month period in 2013 respondent
frequently prescribed to B more than 30-day supplies of controlled substances. Dr.
Kirpalahi testified this departure was extreme. His opinion on this issue was well
supported factually ih the record. (Exhibit 13.) In defense of respondent on this point,
Dr. Polston asserted that respondent was not issuing B individual prescriptions in
greater than 30-day supplies, but he conceded that B in was able to obtain

prescriptions in greatef than 30?day supplies.

Subparagraph H alleges that between December 2013 and September-2014
respondent wrote prescriptions for medications containing daily average

écetaminophen doses of 4,600 mg. Dr. Kirpalani concluded that respondent’s
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departure was extreme. Dr. Polston did not materially dispute Dr. Kir'pélani’s testimony
in this regard,'and Dr. Kirpalani’s opinion is fully credited. In his assessment of this
issue, Dr. Polston étated that respondent was closely following B, he counseled her
regarding Tylenol usage, and the FDA did not requiré manufacturers limit the amount
of acetaminophen until 2014. However, Dr. Polston did not dispute that the safe daily

dose of acetaminophen was 4,000 mg.

Subparagraph I alleges that reséondent continued to prescribe controlled
substalnces to B despite her aberrant behavior with “no discussion and/or
documentation of discussions” with B about these behaviors. These behaviors included
multiple requests forlearly refills and prescriptions at different pharmacies in less than
30-day intervals. Dr. Kirpalani framed the issue differently than the summary at
subparagraph 1. He characterized respondent’s violation as a failure to adequately
monitor B because respondent did not conduct periodic reviews, did not obtain
" regular CURES reports, did not have B submit to UDTs until February 23, 2015, did not
document B’'s progress towards identified gdals, and did not have B bring in her

medications for respondent to conduct “pill counts.”

Dr. Polston disagreed with Dr. Kirpalani's conclusion based on respondent’s
documentation in B's record. He stated that respondent reviewed the results of the
CURES report with her on one occasion, and recorded he discussed the proper use of
medications and safeguarding her medicines with her. He stated respondent reviewed
B's medications and sought to reduce her dosages many times. He also asserted that
the Guidelines did not require UDTs until November 2014, though he recognized that
the standards were evolving before that date. AtAany rate, he questioned the value of

UDTs to monitor compliance.
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Dr. Polston's opinion here is credited over Dr. Kirpélani’s for these reasbns. First,
Dr. Polston’s testimony that respondent discussed with B her compliance with her
medication program is supported in B's records, which document that respondent
reviewed her “compliance” with the program, reviewed her program, and-discussed
with her safeguarding her medications. It is reasonable to find tvhat respondent had
~ these discussions with B because he was concernéd about her aberrant ~behavior,
contrary to the allegation in the subparagraph.. Second, and more fundamentally, and
again contrary to the allegation at subparagraph I, Dr. Kirpalani did not conclude thatl
respondent violated the standard of care because he did not have “discussions” with
her about her aberrant behavior, but because respondent did not adequately monitor
her use of controlled medications. Thus, Dr. Kirpalani’s opinion did not support the
allegation at subparagraph I and, as such, is not a basis to find that respondent

departed from any applicable standard of care.
FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE REGARDING PATIENT C

84. Subparagraph J alleges that after C signed a pain agreement on August
6, 2008, C signed no additional pain agreements and respondent had no additional
discussions with C regarding the risks and benefits of opioid meds. Dr. Kirpalani found
that this conduct was an extreme departure from the standard of care. Dr. Polston
disagreed with‘D_r. Kirpalani‘s opinion. He stated that lrespondent was not required to
“have two pain agreements and the August 6, 2008, pai_n agreement detailed the risks
and benefits of opioid therapy in clause 14 and respondent counseled C to use
medications as prescribed. He described the pain agree'ment.C signed as a “living”
document. As an example of thié, on October 27, 2010, respondent counseled C about

his medication use and in doing so referred C to his pain management agreement.
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Dr. Polston’s t.estimony on this issue is accepted over Dr. Kifpalani’s opinion for
these reasons: The standard of care Dr. Kirpalani identified does not identify the
duration of any pain agreement and/or the frequency wifh’ which a pain management
doctor must advise a patient of the risks of taking opioids after the patient signs a pain
agreement. Also, the August 6, 2008, pain agreement that C signed contained specific

advisements regarding the risks and benefits of opioid use,

Subparagraphs K and L allege that respondent. frequently prescribed extra
controlled substances to C and/or prescribed short acting Oxycoqone prescriptions
twice a month in March, April May, June, September and October 2013 and wrote
prescripfions in greater than 30-day supplies. Dr. Kirpalani found that this conduct
violated the standard of care andl was an extreme departure. Dr. Polston stated that he
did not believe respondent violated the standard of care because a pain management
doctor may write additional prescriptions if medical necessity requires him or her to do
so and respondent.did not write individual prescriptions in supplies greater than 30

days.

Dr. Kirpalani's opinion is accepted over Dr; Polston’s opinion on this issue. The
record details that repeatedly respondent violated the standard of care by prescribing
controlled high dose opioids to C in greater than 30-day supplies as follows: In 2012,
14 prescriptions of 90 pills of OxyContin 80 rﬁg; in 2012, 14 prescriptions of 360 pills of
Oxycbdone 30 mg; in 2012, 14 prescriptions of Hydromorphone 8 mg (8 prescriptions
for 120 pills 5 for 90 pills and 1 for 30 pills); and in 2013, 20 prescriptions of short
acting Oxyco'done (15 mg. or 30 mg. tablets). Also, in March, April, May, June,
September, and October of 2013, C was able té fill two prescriptions of short acting
Oxycodone each of these months based on respondent’s prescriptions. According - |

to the CURES report, in March 2013 C filled prescriptions for 360 pills of
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Oxycodone on March 13 and 22, 2013, April 10 and 18, 2013, May 8 and 30, 2013, -
June 13 and 27, 2013, September 16 and 30, 2013, and October 12 and 26, 2013. In
C's records, respondent did not adequately document why he believed C required this

amount of opioid medications.
FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE REGARDING PATIENT D

85.  Subparagraph M alleges that be’tWeen M'arch 20, 2011, and October 25,
2011, respondent continued to prescribe to Patient D despite her repeated aberrant
behaviors, possible addiction and noncompliance with Her pain agreement. Dr.
Verdolin concluded that respondent’s conduct violated the standard of care and was
an extreme departure from this standard. In 'reaching this conclusion, Dr. Verdolin -
found that respondent failed to perfofm a good faith physical examinatibn of D, take
steps fo ensure against diversion of controlled substances, assess the benefits of the
controlled substances respondent was prescribing her, adjulst treatment according to
risk and harm, obtain D’s informed consent regarding the riéks and benefits of the
controlled substances he was prescribing. her, conduct ‘periodic reviews, appropriately
consult with D, and rﬁaintain accurate and adequate medical records. Except with
regards to one prescription respbndent wrote, Dr. Polston disagreed With Dr.
Verdolin's conclusions. He stated, based on his reading of the record, respondent
counseled D appropriately and cited one note where he épent “significant” time
counseling her regarding her medication usage. Dr. Polston also did not agree that

respondent was required to have D submit to UDTs or have a “pill count” done.

With this noted, Dr. Polston agreed that respondent departed from the
standard of care when he issued a prescription for Alprazolam on May 12, 201 1

without seeing D and without documenting the reason he issued the prescription. Dr.
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Polston believed however that the departure was not extreme but was a simple

departure from the standard of care.

Dr. Verdolin's testimony is credited over Dr. Polston’s on this issue. In contrast
to Dr. Polston’s testimony, Dr. Verdolin's opinion was well—.supported in the record,
including respondent'’s testimony, and was clear on this issue. In sum, the record
documents that respondent did not adequately monitor his treatment and care of D.
Such monitoring may have included use of UDTs, limited “cup” screens at his office, or
the effort to obtain pills counts given D's notable aberrant behaviors and the
possibility that she suffered from a substance abuse disorder.*® He further failed to
document the reasons he was prescribing her controlled medications. Notably,
respondent did not document why he prescribed 60 pills of Xanax (Alprazolam) to D
on July 28, 2010, and why he issued a prescription for this medication on May 12,
2011, soon after he provided her with a prescription for 60 pills of Ativan with three
refills on April 21, 2011. Respondent did not document that he advised D of the risks
and benefits of using these benzodiazepines in combination with the opioids and

Soma he was prescribing her.

Dr. Polston’s opinion that respondent’s prescription of Alprazolam on May 12,

2011, represented a simple departure from the standard of care is given less weight

43 Dr, Polston testified that he did not believe that D suffered from a substance
abuse disorder under the factors in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental
Disorders (“DSM") IV and/or V. This is an academic point because respondent never
documented he considered whether she had a substance abuse disorder. At any rate,
Dr. Polston admitted that respondent departed from the standard of care by not

referring D to a behavioral health specialist as alleged in Paragraph 57, subdivision (D).
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than Dr. Verdolin's opinion for these reasons: D reporfed that she was stopped a'nd -
possibly arrested for being under the influence of medications and child
endangerment and soon after she reported this, on April 21, 2011, respondent
provided her with a prescription for 60 pills of Alprazolam with fhree refills. |
Considering the risks posed by the quantity of benzodiazepines she was taking in
combination with the opioids and Soma medication she was taking the depafture is
properly classified as an “extreme departure.” (See Kear/ v. Board of Medlical Quality
Assurance (1986) 189 CIaI.App.3rd 1040, 1052, for discussion regarding "extreme |

"departure” and “want of care.”)
FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCI.PLIN'E REGARDING PATIENT E

86. Sﬁbparagrabﬁ N alleges that between February 12, 2009, and January 31,
2012, respondent continued to pfescribe E controlled medications without taking a
systematic and thorough history including vitals, without periodically reviewing and
documenfing efficacy of treatment, without regularly assessing for possible diversion,
and without discussing the risks, benefits, and alternatives of pharmacological

treatment.*

~ Dr. Verdolin testified that respondent’s conduct in this regard represented an
extreme departure from the standard of care. He described respondent’s problematic
conduct as follows: despite E having a history of alcohol abuse with two

hospitalizations related to abuse of alcohol and substance abuse respondent did not -

* Only the period of time within the seven-year statute of limitations is
considered for evaluating whether respondent committed any violations of the

Medical Practice Act.
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complete a systématic history of E that included an assessment or referral for potential
cardiac disease. Respondent also did not record vital signs, including E's blood -
préssu_re, Weight and respiratory rates, during E's office visits with respondent and he
did not identify numerical ratings for E's-pain. Respondent recorded that E was
“happy” with his pain program, and respondent recorded the same physical exam
results at every one of E's visits and simply gave E his medications. Further, respondent
administered two co-acting opioids, Norco and Percocet, at the same time while he
prescribed Xanax without a psychiatric evaluation or any reasoning. Respondent also
administered to E three anti-depressants/anti-anxiéty medications (Lexapro, Wellbutrin
and B'uspar) again without psychiatric consultation or supervision. In addition,
respondent only had E undergo one UDT, which oddly did not include a request to

screen for alcohol, and he did not require him to provide a pill count.

3

Dr. Polston_fc;ﬁnd no departure from the standard of care. However, he
admitted that it was “wrong” for respondent not to have taken E's vital signs. At the
same tirhe, Dr. Polston found that because respondent talked to E, and E was able to
speak in complete sentences and was able to walk into the exam room, concerns of /

about E's alcohol use were adequately addressed.

Dr. Verdolin's opinion here is given greater weight than ‘Dr. Polston’s opinion.
Dr. Verdolin's testimony was based on facts in the record while Dr. Polston’s testimony
is fairly termed more as advocacy than dispassionate analysis. His advocacy is apparenf
in his.di_scussion regarding r_espondent‘s failure to take E's vital signs where he
admitted it was wrong for E not to take E's vital signs, but because E, apparently, was
able to talk in full sentences and walked into the exam room respondent was o

somehow able to assess his condition. But the medical records do not support Dr.
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Polston’s assumptions because respondent did not note E's.abilities to speak and walk

in the records.

Subparagraph O alleges that between Febrﬁafy 12, 2009, and January 31, 2012,
despite two hospitalizations, respondent failed to refer E for behavioral ménagement,

péychiatry, or addiction treatment, and continﬁ_ed to prescribe to E.

‘Dr. Verdolin testified that respondent violated the standard of care and hé
considered the level of departure as extreme. Dr. Verdolin found the following facts
significant in his‘assessment: E was reported to have firearms, at the hospital he
reported that he was drinking a iiter and half of vodka, and E's wife reported to

respondent that he was hallucinating.

Dr. Polston testified that respondent did not violate the standard of care. In
reaching this conclusion he considered these factors significant: respondent followed
E's Palomar hospital care; E's wife was "actively” involved in his care and E was "back in
AA," as Dr. Polston stated in his report. He noted that E had not been drinking for 13
years. Dr. Polston also assumed E was in an aftercare psychiatric program after his

release from the hospital.

- Dr. Verdolin's testimony here is accepted over Dr. Polston’s because his opinion
s well-supported in the record and Dr. Polston’s is not. Contrary to Dr. P_olstoh’s
understandings regarding factors vhe found importaht in his éssessmen_t of this issue,
respondent’s wffe' was not docume_nted to have been actively involved in E's care with
respondent, res’bondent did not participate in E's cafe at Palomar, and also, E was not :

in AA or receiving behavioral health aftercare.

Subparagraph P alleges that between February 12, 2009, and January 31, 2012,
respondent regularly prescribed Methadone to a known alcoholic, in addition to

138



multiple other contraindicated medications known for causing sudden death, and
never ordered an EKG or took E's vital signs. Here, only respondent’s conduct within
the seven-year period under the statute of limitafiohs is considéred(.

In reaching this conclusion, Dr. Verdolin stated that by 2007_'pain rhanégement
specialists knew that methadone can cause sudden cardiac death, and this was of
particular concern for patients with pre-existing cardiac arrhythmias or elevated blood
pressure. Since at least 2008, a screening EKG and péribdic EKGs were recommended
during treatment. Respondent did not take E's blood pressure, or any of E's vital signs,
and he did not order an EKG for E. In addition, he prescribed to E Xanax and Lexapro,
both of which have contraindication warnings, while he prescribed Methadone to E.
Respondent, further, did not document that he discussed with E the risks and benefits
for these rﬁedications. In addition, respondent did not document in E's records that he
considered whether E, a known alcoholic, was using alcohol, the "ultimate” interacting-
chemical. Dr. Verdolin found it notable that E was hospitalized with respiratory
depression while he was respondent’s patient. He assessed the level of departuré as

extreme and also as a lack of knowledge.

Dr. Polston concluded that respondent did not \)iolate the standard of care
because he was prescribing E a safe dosage of Methadone and E displayed no signs of
cardiac disease. He further concluded that E did not display a lack of knowledge by

prescribing Methadone to E, as Dr. Verdolin asserted. ‘

Dr. Verdolin's opinion on this issue is found more persuasive than Dr. Polston’s
for these reasoné.'Dr. Verdolin's opinion is fully supported i_n the record and Dr.
Polston appeafed to discount E's problematic alcohol and substance abuse history.
This history is as follows: After a prescription drug overdose in Octobér 2009, E was on
a ventilator for five days and in December 2010, he was hospitalized due to his abuse
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- of alcohol and, possibly, his abuse of opiates, as his wife believed. After this se;ond
hospitalization, respondent did not document that he asked E about his alcohol use,
took his blood pressure, or ordered an EKG, and did not have him submit to a UDT to
test for alcohol or possible abuse of his medications. He did not return E's wife call to
him on December 7, 2010, after she left a message that she wanted him to know
certain things about her husband. In his testimény, Dr. Polston appeared to believe the
risk of sudden cardiac death poséd by E's Methadone prescriptioh was limited, if
nonexistent, because the prescribed ddse was below 100 mg daily threshold.

~ Nonetheless, it is reasonable to conclude that there was a risk in E's Methadone usage
in combination with the other medicatioﬁs respondent prescribed E and the possibility
that E may abuse alcohol, which given his history was real possibility. The fact that E
~died from a combination of the effects of “alcohol, methadone, oxycodone,
hydrocodone, alprazolam, bupropion, and citalopram” (Exhibit 28 AGO 9046) is proof

of this risk 45

By his testimony, Dr. Polston appeared to ignore an important purpose of
respondent’s~ care of E: In exercising his clinical judgment he had a duty to address’
risk, by taking E's vitals, asking him specifically about his alcohol use, and requiring

him to submit to. UDTs. These tools were available to respondent as a pain

(
{

45 E was not taking the medications in dosages respondent prescribed E. The
Medical Examiner noted the following in his autopsy‘ réport: E's ”pills. counts were
consistent with some overuse of alprazolam. . ." This is mentioned because it
highlights the inherent risk to E in the medications respondént was pfescribing him in

combination with his use of alcohol.
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manaéement specialist to assess the risk to E posed by the opioid meds and

benzodiazepines respondent was prescribing E.

SECOND CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE (REPEATED NEGLIGENT ACTS) REGARDING

PATIENTS A, B, C AND D%

87.  Paragraph 55 alleges that respondent committed repeated negligent acts
in his care of “Patients A, B. C, and D". Paragraph 56 incofporates the gross negligence
allegations at paragraph 54, subparagraphs A through P. To the extent, as found
immediately above that respondent is found to have committed extreme departures
from applicable standards of care he is also found to have com.mitlted repeated |
negligent acts regarding his care and treatment of Patients A, B, C and D. This cause
for discipline also alleges .more specific allegations regarding Patients B and D. |
Parégraph 57, subdivision (b), that respondent departed from standard of care on
February 27, 2013, when he performed an initial history'and physical examination of
Patient B that lacked an appraisal of prior non-opioid treatments for chronic pain,
and/or assessment of psychological and/or addiction risk and a baseline urine drug
screen.‘Dr. Kirpalani concluded that respondent conduct represented a simple
depérture from the standard of care. Dr. Polston disagreed and concluded that’
respondent adequately assessed Patient B because he reviewed B's Kaiser records and
_in his physical examination of B he commented on B's péychological status. Dr.
Kirpalani’s opinion here is accepted over Dr. Polston’s. Respondent did not document

that he inquired of B's prior noh—opioid'tfeatment and did not conduct an assessment

46 The Second Amended Accusation states that respondent committed repeated
-negligent acts regarding Patients A.,B, C and D but not E although Paragraph 55

incorporates allegations of gross negligence in respondent’s treatment of Patient E.
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of B's addiction risk. His psychological assessment of B was limited, and his
documentation was boilerplate language. Respondent did not require B to submit to a

UDT.

Paragraph 57, subdivision (d), alleges that respondent departed frorﬁ the
standard of care b’ecausé between March 22, 2011, and October 25, 2011, respondent
failed to consider a referral for a psychiatry consultation for addiction despite the fact
that D displayed aberrant behaviors, possible addiction, and non-compliance with her
pain agreement.*’ Dr. Verdolin determined that respo_n‘dent committed a simple
departure from the siandard of care and Dr. Polston agreed that respondent'’s failure
‘to refer D to “some form of behavioral health” was a departure from the standard of

care considering D might have been addicted to her medications was “appropriate.”

Paragraph 57, subdivision (e),.,alleges that between March 22, 2011, and
October 25, 2011, respondent failed to obtain a urine drug screen on Patiént D and
failed to conduct a pill count despite the fact that D displayed aberrant behaviors,
possible addiction, and noncompliance with her pain agreement. As he wrote in his -
report, Dr. Verdolin concluded that respondent committed an extreme departure from
the standard of care for failing fo take these steps but, as noted earlier, respondent is
only charged with a simple departure in the amended accusation regarding this
conduct. Thus, his opinion is considered only as a simple departure from the standard
of care for purposes of this decision. At any rate, Dr. Polston disputed Dr. Verdolin’s
opinion because at the time UDTs were not required by the standard of care and, in
D’s case, a pill count would have had limited value becau-se D said she had rl;n out of

her medications.

47 Complainant withdrew Paragraph 57, subdivision (c).
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Dr. Verdolin’s testimony is found more persuasive than Dr. Polston’s. As
discussed, beginning in 2011 the standard of care for pain management doctors was
evoIving_ dué to the opioid prescription crisis. Respondent appeared to recognize this
because he utilized UDTs during this time notably with respect to other patients.
Moreover, D's documented behaviors raised serious concerns about her health and
welfare due to abus; of pain medications. Even if respondent acted within the
standard of care when he decided not to discharge her as a patient or significantly

taper or wean her off the meds he was prescribing, respondent still had a duty to
| evaluate D's opioid. medication usage and, towards this end, UDTs, even a limited "cup

screen,” and/or pill counts were tools to help him gain some understanding regarding

whether D was using the meds he was prescribing her a§ he had instructed.

THIRD CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE REGARDING EXCESSIVE PRESCRIBING TO

PATIENTS A, BAND C

88.  The Third Cause for Discipline alleges that respondent repeatedly
excessively prescribed controlled medications to Patients A, B and C. As found above,
respondent repeatedly excessively prescribed controlled medications to Patients A, B

and C.

With respect to patient A, between December 2011 to early 2013 respondent
prescribed medications containing doses of acetaminophen greater than the 4,000 mg
amount that a person can safely take daily. With respect to patient B, during a 10-
month .period in 2013 respondent frequ’ehtly prescribed to B more than 30-day
supplies of controlled substances and violated the standard of care and between
December 2013 and September 2014 wrote prescriptions for medicaﬁons with daily
average acetaminophen doses of 4,600 mg, which was greater than greater than the

4,000 mg amount that a persoh can safely take daily. With respect to Patient C,
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: freque'ntly prescribed extra controlled substances to C and prescribed short acting
Oxycodone prescriptions twice a month in March, April May, June, September and
October 2013 and wrote prescriptiohs in greater than 30-day supplies in violation of

the standard of care.

FOURTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE REGARDING PRESCRIBING DANGEROUS
DRUGS WITHOUT AN APPROPRIATE PRIOR EXAMINATION REGARDING

PATIENTS B AND C

89.  The Fourth Cause for Discipline alleges that respondent prescribed
dangerous drugs to Patients B and C without requiring B and C to present for
adequate and/or appropriate prior exami_na.tions. As found above, respondent failed to
conduct an adequate and/or appropriate exam of B on February 27, 2013, when he

.performed an initial history and physical examination of Patient B that lacked an
appraisal of prior'non-opioid treatments for chronic pain. Complainant wi‘thdrew the
allegation that respondent failed to conduct-an adequate screening exam of C on
August 8, 2008. The allegation regarding Patient C in the Fourth Cause of Discipline is

therefore dismissed.

FIFTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE REGARDING FAILURE TO MAINTAIN ACCURATE

. AND ADEQUATE RECORDS REGARDING ALL FIVE PATIENTS

90.  The Fifth Cause for Discipline alleges that respondent failed to maintain
accurate and adequate medical records in his care and treatment of Patients A
through E. Based on the evidence of record respondent failed to maintain accurate .

and adequaté records for these patients in the following instances:
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Between 2010 and 2014, Patient A provided urine drug test results that were
inconsistent with the medications respondent prescribed to her. Except for one
instance on November 11, 2014, respondent failed to document he discussed with A

theseinconsistent results.

- Regarding Patient B, on February 27, 2013, respondent did not document he
assessed B's prior non-opioid freatments for pain, assess her psychological or
addiction risk, and he did not order a urine drug screen. Also, regarding Patient B, he
did not document he discussed the risks and benefits of controlled substances with

her and he did not identify specific treatment goals in her records.

Regarding Patient C, despite inconsistent UDTs on numerous occasions,

respondent did not document that he discussed these results with C.

Regarding Patient D, respondent did not document on May 12, 2011, the

reason he.authorized a refill of Xanax to her.

Regarding Patient D, at each of her visits with him respondent copied/pasted

the same physical exam finding portions of D's exams into D’s records.

On July 7, 2011, D's pharmacy asked D to proVide a new..prescription fbr Ativan.
After he issued her a prestription he notated next to the prescription that D needed a
follow-up appointment. Despite his note, there is no documentation in the record
between July 7, 2011, and October 26, 201 1, that respondent attemptéd to have D

come in for an appointment with him.

Regarding Patient E, after January 11, 2011, when he advised E not to use
alcohol and after his second hospitalization, respondent did not document between

March 21, 2011, and January 2012 that he considered whether E was using alcohol or
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that he was treating for alcohol abuse. He also did not document that he considered

the special circumstances regarding his prescription of Methadone to this patie’n_t, per

~ Dr. Verdolin's testimony.

SIXTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE REGARDING VIOLATIONS OF STATE OR FEDERAL

LAws

91.  The Sixth Cause for Discipline alleges that réspondent violated federal
and/or state laws and of regulations by prescribing dangerous drugs and/or éontrolled
substances with respect to the patients in this matter. Based on the above findings,
respondent violated applicablé sections of fche Medical Practices Act in his prescribinAg

of dangerous drugs and controlled substances to Patients A, B, C, D and E.
SEVENTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE REGARDING UNPROFESSIONAL CONDUCT

92.  The Seventh Cause for Discipline alleges that respondent engaged in
unprofessional conduct as alleged in the other Causes for Discipline. Based on the

findings made above, respondent’s conduct constituted unprofessional conduct.

'EIGHTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE REGARDING VIOLATIONS OF THE MEDICAL

| PRACTICE ACT

93.  The Eighth Cause for Discipline alleges that respondent violated or
attempted to violate directly or indirectly the Medical Practices Act. Based on the
findings made above, respondent violated applicable sections of the Medical Practices

Act.

L]
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NINTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE REGARDING INCOMPETENCY REGARDING HIS

CARE AND TREATMENT OF PATIENT E

94. = The Ninth Cause for Discipline alleges that respondent demonstrated

incompetence in his care and treatment of Patient E by prescribing Methadone to a

/

known alcoholic in addition to multiple other contraindicated medications known for
causing sudden death without ordering an EKG or taking E's vital signs. As found
above, Dr. Verdolin's opinion was more persuasive than Dr. Polston’s testimony on this

issue and is fully credited.

Dr. Shurman’s Testimony Regarding the Evolving Standards of Care

Governing Pain Managément

95.  Respondent called Joseph Shurman, M.D,, to testify regarding the
evolving standards of care involving pain management since the 1980s and how pain |
management has changed. Dr. Shurman.is a licensed physician who specializes in the
management of chronic pain. He is board certified in Anesthesia and Pain
Management. Dr. Shurman received his medical degree from Temple University in
1967. He served his internship at Chestnut Hill Hospital and completed his residency

specializing in anesthesia at Massachusetts General Hospital.

As Dr. Shurman put it, pain management is now a field with land mings and
pain management doctors face a perfect storm where they are in the middle §f “this
thing,” meaning the public debate concerning the prescription of opioids. As a resuit, a
pain management doctor is “damned if he stops meds" or if he continues to prescribe
them. For decades, pain management doctors were able to pr.esc'ribe without limits
and now, in his view, we are back to a point of the under-treatment of pain. He based

his testimony onvarious documents, studies and guidelines which detail how the
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practice of pain management and prescription of opioids have evolved since the late

1980s. (Exhibit JJ, subparts 1 to 5, 7, 10, 12, 19, 20, 26, 28, 29, 30.)
Character Evidence

96. A number of individuals testified on respondent’s behalf as character

witnesses and submitted letters on his behalf.

Dan Calac, M.D., is a licensed physician who is Chief Medical Officer for Indian
Health Council in San Diego C~ou'nty. He has referred the majority of complex pain
management patients to respondent and has reviewed patient charts for those
patients and found them to be complete, ”véry detailed” with appropriate testing. He
regards respondent as an asset to the community. Dr. Calac did not review the second

amended accusation, but he said respondent explained the charges to him.

Bill McCarberg, M.D., is a retired family 'physician who worked for Kaiser for 30
years and completed extensive training in pain management and palliative care. He
referred patients to reépondent because he trusted respondent’s expertise. He believes
that respondent is a competent pain management doctor, He had confidence in"him as
a pain doctor, and he had no reservations about referring patients, including family
memberé, to him. Dr. McCarberg also testified that he talked to patients about
respond.ent and they told him he provid‘ed excellent servifes. Dr. McCarberg testified

that he had not read anything about this matter.

Nemia Joy Rucker is a long-term pain managem.ént-patient of respondent. She
said that reépondént has helped her manage her intracfable péin condition with both
pain medications and injections. She described respondent as tompassionate and
caring. Ms. Ruger stated that respondent now takes her vital signs but was nof sure

whether he did this earlier in her treatment with him. Ms. Ruger does not know
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| anything about the allegations against respondent involving the five patients at issue

in this matter.

| Greg Bohart, M.D,, is a retired orthopedic doctor who stopped practicing in
2014 and sees respondent as a pa'in management patient; Dr. Bohart retired in part
due to orthopedic problems he had, and he treated with respondent for pain r_élated
to those issues. Dr. Bohart described the treatment he received from respondent as
excellent. He said that respondent’was very thorough. Dr. Bohart does not know

anything about the allegations against respondent in this matter.

In addition to the testimony of these persons, respondent submittéd
declarations from Marcelo Rivera, M.D,, Belinda Dure-Smith, M.D., and respondent’s
patients John Merten, Leslie Seifert, Alfred Romero, andIScott' Maylen. The statements
of these persons were admitted as administrative hearsay and supplement and explain
respondent’s credible testimony that he is.dedicated to providing quality care to his

pain management patients.

Drs. Rivera and Dure-Smith wrote in their declarations that they have referred

patients to respondent and have never been concerned about the quality of care

| respondent provided their patients.

it

Respondent’s patients described respondent as caring and thorough and they

would like to continue to receive care from.-him.
The Parties’ Arguments Reg-ardingthe 'Degree of Discipline

97. The parties did not dispute that respondent’s license is subject to some
form of discipline. Complainant asks that respondent’s license be subject to a '

minimum of five years of probation, with the following terms and conditions: an
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| educati‘onal course, a prescribing course, a record keeping course, an ethics course, a
vpractice monitor, solo practice prohibition, and all standard terms and-conditiians of
probatibn. Complainant does not seek a more severe level of discipline because |
respondent has been practicing medicine for a long périod of time without any prior

disciplinary history and he has made necessary ch'anges to his practice.

Respondent asks that his license be subjéct to a reprimand as a 'result of the
repeated negligent acts respondent’s expert Dr. Polston testified he committed. In
closing argument, respondent noted that .he habs practiced for a long time without
incident and has been a dedicated and recognized pain management specialist in the
community and placing him on probation would impact his ability to practicé in this _

field.

LEGAL CONCLUSIONS

Purpose of Physician Di_scipl'ine

1. The purpose of the Medical Practice Act (Chapter I, Division 2, of the
Business and Professions Code) is to assure the high quality of medical practice; in
other words, to keep unqualified and undesirable persons and those guilty of
unprofesswnal conduct out of the medical professnon (Shea v. Board of Medical

Exam/ners (1978) 81 Cal.App.3d 564, 574.)

The purpose of administrative discipline is not to punish, but to protect the
public by-eliminating those practitioners who are dishonest, immoral, disreputable or

incompetent. (Fahmy v. Medical Board of California (1995) 38 Cal.App.4th 810, 817.)
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Standard of Proof

2. The standard of proof in an administrative action seeking to suspend or
revoke a physician’s certificate ié clear and convincing evidence. (Ettinger v. Board of
Medlical Quality Assurance (1982) 135 Cal'.App.3d 853, 856.) Clear and convincing
evidence requires a finding of high probability, or évidence so clear as to leave no

~ substantial doubt; sufficiently strong evidence to command the unhésitating assent of

every reasonable mind. (Katie V. v. Superior Court (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 586, 594.) |
Applicable Statutes Regafding Causes to Impose Discipline

- 3. Seétion 2227, subdivision (a), states:

A iicensee whose matter has been heard by an
administrative Iawjudgellof the Medical Quality Hearing
Panel as designated in Section 11371 of the GoVernmeﬁt
Code, or whose default has been entered, and who is found:
guilty, or who Has entered into a stipulation for disciplinary
action with the board, may in accordance with the

provisions of this chapter:
(1) Have his’or her license revoked upon order of the board.

(2) His or her right to practice su_spended for a period not

to exceed one year upon order of the board.

(3) Be placed on probation and be required to pay the costs

of probation monitoring upon order of the board.
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(4) Be publicly reprimanded by the board. The public
reprimand may include a requirement that the licensee -
complete relevant educational courses approved by the

board.

(5) Have any other action taken in relation to the discipline
as part of an order of probation, as the board or an

administrative law judge may deem proper.

Section 2234 provides in part:

The board shall take action against any licensee who is
charged with unprofessional conduct. In addition to other
provisions of this article, unprofessional conduct includes,

but is not limited to, the foIIowingj:

(a) Violating or attempting to violate, directly or
indirectly, assisting in or abetting the violation of, or

conspiring to violate any provision of this chapter. |
~ (b) Gross negligence.

(c) Repeated negligent acts. To be repeated, there must be
two or more negligent acts or omissions. An initial |
hegligent act or omission followed by a separate and
distinct departure from the applicable standard of care shall

constitute repeated negligent acts.
(1...[7

(d) Incdmpetenc’e. .
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5. - Section 2266 prc)_vides:

The failure of a physician and surgeon to maintain.adequate :
and accurate records relating to the provision of services to

their patients constitutes unprofessional conduct.

6. Section 2242, subdivision (a), “[p]rescribing, dispensing, or furnishing
dangerous drugs as defined in Section 4022 without an appropriate prior examination

and a medical indication, constitutes unprofessional conduct.”.

7. Section 4022 defines a dangerous drug as:

—

... any drug or device unsafe for self-use in humans or

animals, and includes the following:

(@) Any drug that bears the legend: “Caution: federal law
prohibits dispensing without prescription,” “Rx only,” or

-

words of similar impbrt.

(b) Any device that bears the statement: “Caution: federal
law restricts this device to sale by or on the order ofa __*
“Rx only,” or words of similar import, the blank to be filled
in with the designation of the éractitionerlicensed to use or

order use of the device.

(c) Any other drug or device that by federal or state law can
be Iawfully dispensed only on prescription or furnished

‘pursuant to Section 4006.
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8. Section 725, subdivision (a), provides, in part, "Repeated acts of clearly
excessive prescribing, furnishing, dispensing, or administering of drugs or treatment . . .
as determined by the standard of the community of licensees is unprofessional conduct

for a physfcian and surgeon....”

0. Section 2266 provides that failure of a physician and surgeon to maintain
adequate and accurate records relating to the provision of services to their patients

constitutes unprofessional conduct.

10..  Section 2238 provides: “A violation of any federal statute or federal
regulation or any of the statutes or regulations of this state regulating dangerou's

drugs or controlled substances constitutes unprofessibnal conduct.”
Decisional Authority Regarding Standard o_f‘Care '

- 1. The standard of care requires the exercise of a reasonable deéree of skill,
knswledgé, and care that is ordinarily possessed and exercised by members of the
medical profession under similar circumstances. The standard of care involving the
acts of a physician must be established by expert téstimony. (Elcome v. Chin (2003)
110 Cal.App.4th 310, 317.) It is often a function of custd_m and pracficé. (Osborn v.
lrwin‘Memorfa/ Blood Bank (1992) 5 Cal.App.4th 234, 280.)

Courts have defined gross negligence as "the want of even scant care or an
extreme departure f;‘bm the ordinary standard of care.” (Kear/ v. Board of Medical
Quality Assurance (1986) 189 Cal.App.3rd 1040, 1052.) Simple negligence is merely a
departure from the standard of care. Incompetence has been defined as "én absence
of qualification, ability or fitness to perform a prescribed duty or function.” (/d. at

1054).
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Decisional Authority Regarding Incompetency

12. Incomp’eténce has been defined as a “general lack of present ability to
perform a given duty.” (See, Pollak v. Kinder (1978) 85 Cal.App.3d 833, 837-838,.wher,e
the court»distinguis}hed negligence from incompetence when \it stated, “[A] licensee
may be compefent or capable of performing a given duty but negligent in performing
that duty.") In James v. Bd. of Dental Examiners (1985) 172 Cal.App.3d i096, 1109, the
court held: “Incompetence generally is defined as a lack of knowledge or ability in the

discharge of professional obligations.”
Case Law Regarding UnprofesSionaI Conduct

13.  In Shea v. Board of Medical Examiners (1978) 81 Cal.App.3d 564, 575, the
appellate court noted that ”u'nproféssional conduct” as that term was used in Business
and Professions Code section 2361 (now section 2234), included certain enumerated

conduct. (/d. at p. 575.) The court further stated (/b/idl):

This does not mean, however; that an overly broad
connotation is to be given the term “unprofessional
conduct;” it must relate to conduct which indicates an
unfitness to practice medicine. [Citations.] Unprofessional
conduct is that conduct which breaches the rules or ethical
code of a profession, or conduct which is u_nbecoming a

member in good standing of a profession. [Citation.]
Public Letter of Reprimand

14.  Section 2233 provides as'foll_ows:
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The board may, by stipulation or settlement with the
affected physician and surgeon, issue a public letter of
reprimand after it has conducted an investigation or
inspection as provided in this article, rather than filing or
prosecuting a formal accusation. Thé public letter of
reprimand may, at the discretion of the board, include a
requirement-f.or specified training or education. The
affected physician and surgeon shall indicate agreement or
nonagreement in writing within 30 days of formal
notification by the board of jts intention to issue the letter.
The board, at its option, may extend the response time. Use
of a public reprimand shall be limited to minor violations
and shall be issued under guidelines established by

regulations of the board.
Dispbsition Regarding Case for Discipline

CAUSE Ex1sTS UNDER THE FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE TO IMPOSE
DISCIPLINE AGAINST RESPONDENT’S LICENSE FOR CONDUCT CONSTITUTING

GRo_ss NEGLIGENCE

15.  Complainant proved by clear and convincing evidence that resbondeht
comfnitted gross negligence in violation of Section 2234, subdivision (b), as asserted in
paragraph 54, subparagraphs A through C With reépect to respondent’s treatment and
care of Patient A based on the findings in this decisioh. Complainant did not ﬁrove the

allegations in subparagraphs D and E of paragraph 54 as found earlier in this decision. -
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Complainant proved by clear and convincing evidence that respondent
committed gross negligence as asserted in subparagraphs F, G, and H of paragraph 54.

.Complainant did not prove the allegation in subparagraph I of paragraph 54.

Complainant proved by clear and convincing evidence established that
respondent committed gfoss negligence as asserted in subparagraphs J, K and L of
paragraph 54 with respect to his care and treatment of Patient C as found earlier in

this decision. -

Complainant proved by clear and convincing evidence that respondent
committed gross negligence as asserted in Subparagraph M of paragraph 54 with

respect to his care and treatment of Patient D as found earlier in this decision.

Complainant proved by clear and convincing evidence that respondent
committed gross negligence as asserted in subparagraphs N, O and P of paragraph 54

with respect to his care and treatment of Patient E as found earlief in this decision.

CAUSE EXISTS UNDER THE SECOND CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE TO IMPOSE
DiscIPLINE AGAINST RESPONDENT'S LICENSE FOR CONDUCT CONSTITUTING

REPEATED NEGLIGENT ACTS

' 16. Complainant proved by clear and convincing evidénce that respondent
committed repeated negligent acts, as asserted in paragraph 57, subdivisions (a),
regarding his care and treatment of Patients A, B, C, ahd D, (b), vrega,rding his care and
treatment of Patient B, and subdivisions (d) and (e) of this same paragraph with
regardé to his cafe and treatment of Patient._D, in.viol'ation of Section 2234, subdivision

(¢), as found above.
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CAUSE EXISTS UNDER THE THIRD CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE TO IMPOSE
DISCIPLINE AGAINST RESPONDENT'S LICENSE FOR EXCESSIVE PRESCRIBING OF

DRUGS TO PATIENTS A, B AND C

17.  Complainant proved by clear and convincing evidence that respondent
excessively prescribed drugs to Patients A, B and C in violation of Section 725,

subdivision (a), based on the above findings.

CAUSE ExisTs TO IMPOSE DISCIPLINE UNDER THE FOURTH CAUSE FOR
' DISCIPLINE AGAINST RESPONDENT'’S LICENSE FOR PRESCRIBING OF

DANGEROUS DRUGS WITHOUT AN APPROPRIATE PRIOR EXAMINATION

18.  Complainant proved by clear and convincing evidence that respondent
violated Section 2042 when he prescribed drugs to Patients B without een'ducting an
adequate ahd/or appropriate prior examination of Patient B on February 27, 2013.
Complainant withdrew the allegation that respondent failed to conduct an adequate
screening exam of C on August 8, 2008, and the allegation regarding Patient C here is

dismissed.

CAUSE EXISTS TO IMPOSE DISCIPLINE UNDER THE FIFTH CAUSE FOR
DiSCIPLINE AGAINST RESPONDENT'S LICENSE FOR FAILURE TO MAINTAIN

COMPLETE AND ACCURATE MEDICAL RECORDS , \

19. Complainént proved by clear and convincing evidence.that respondent
failed to maintain accurate and adequate records in his care and treatment of Patie.nts

A, B, C, D and E as found above in violation of Section 2266.
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CAUSE ExisTs TO IMPOSE DISCIPLINE UNDER THE SIXTH CAUSE FOR
DiscIPLINE AGAINST RESPONDENT'S LICENSE FOR VIOLATING FEDERAL AND
STATE LAWS REGULATING DANGEROUS DRUGS AND CONTROLLED -

SUBSTANCES

20.  Complainant proved by clear and convincing evidence that respondent
violated sections of the Medical Practice Act in his prescribing of dangerous drugs and

controlled substances to Patients A, B, C, D and E in violation of Section 2238.

CAUSE EXISTS TO IMPOSE DISCIPLINE UNDER THE SEVENTH CAUSE FOR
DISCIPLINE AGAINST RESPONDENT'.S LICENSE FOR UNPROFESSIONAL

CONDUCT T

21. Complainant proved by clear and convincing evidence that respondent
engaged in general unprofessional conduct in violation of Section 2234, subdivision

(a), based on the above findings.

CAUSE EXISTS TO IMPOSE DISCIPLINE UNDER THE EIGHTH CAUSE FOR
DISCIPLINE AGAINST RESPONDENT’S LICENSE FOR VIOLATING OR

ATTEMPTING TO VIOLATE PROVISIONS OF THE MEDICAL PRACTICE ACT

22.  Complainant proved by clear and convincing evidence that respondent

_ violated sections of the Medical Practice Act in violation of Section 2234, subdivision

(a)..
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.CAUSE EXISTS TO IMPOSE DISCIPLINE UNDER THE NINTH CAUSE FOR

DiIscIPLINE AGAINST RESPONDENT’S LICENSE FOR INCOMPETENCE

23.  Complainant proved by clear and convinéing evidence that respondent
demonstrated incompetence in his care and treatment of Patient E in violation of
Section 2234, subdivision (d), when He prescribed Methadbne to a known alcoholic in
addition to multiple other contraindicated medications known for causing sudden

death without ordering an EKG or taking E's vital signs.

The Board's Dis’ciplinva}ry Guidelines and Evaluation Regarding the

Degree of Discipline

23. " With causes of discipline having been found, the determination now
must to assess the degre_e of discipline and the terms and conditions to impose. In this -
regard, the Board's Ménual of Model Diéciplinary Orders and Disciplinary Guidelines
(12th Edition, 2016) states: |

The Board expects that, absent mitigating or other

appropriate circumstances such as early acceptance of

responsibility, demonstrated willingness to undertake

Board-ordered rehabilitation, the age of the case, and’

evidentiary problems, Administrative Law Judges hearing

cases oh behalf of the Board and prOpoSed settlements

_subm'itted to the Board will follow the guidelines, induding

those imposing suspensio-ns. Any préposed decision 6r -
settlement that departs from the disciplinary guidelihes

shall identify the departures and the facts supporting the

departure.
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24.  For each of the violations established relating to respondent’s treatment
of Patients A, B, C, D and E, the Board's disciplinary guidelines provide the following

recommended terms and conditions:

e Forgross negligence, repeated negligent acts, and/or incompetence
under Business and Professions Code section 2234, subdivisions (b), (c),
and (d), or failure to maintain adequate»records under Business and
Professions Code section 2266, revocation, stayed, and five yearS’
probation, with conditibns including ‘an education course, prescribing
practices course, medical record keeping course, professionalism
program (ethics Cburse), clinical competence assessment program,

monitoring, solo practice prohibition, and prohibited practices.

o For excessive prescrjbing under Business and Professions Code section
725 or prescribing without an appropriate prior examination under
Buéinéss and Professions Code section 2242, revocation, stayed, and five
years' probation, with cohditions inciuding a 60-day suspension, a Drug
En-forcement'Administr_ation (DEA) controlled szstances restriction,

" maintenance of controlled substance records, educatioﬁ course,
prescribing practices coursé, medical record keeping coursé,

professionalism course, clinical competence course, and monitoring.
Disciplinary Considerations and Disposition Regarding the Degree of
Discipline
25 As noted, the purpose of an administrative proceeding seeking the

revocation or suspension of a professional license is not to punish the individual, the

purpose is to protect the public from dishonest, immoral, disrépUtable or incompetent
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practitioners. (Fahmy, supra, 38 Cal.App.4th at p. 817.) Rehabilitation is a state of mind
and the law looks with favor upon rewarding with the opportunity to serve one who
has achieved “reformation and regeneration.” (Pacheco v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d
1041, 1058.) The determination whether respondent’s license should be revoked or

suspended includes an evaluation of the rehabilitation and mitigation factors.

26.  After considering the Board's guidelines, the evidence of rehabilitation
and mitigation and.the evidence of record as a whole, it is determined that a threé—
year period of probation with specific terms ahd conditions will ensure public
protection. These terms.and conditions include a practice monitor, the successful
completion o'f a clinical competency training program, and record and prescribing
practices and additional educatidnal courses. Considering the substantive efforts |
respondent has taken to correct his practices, departures from the disciplinary
guidelines are warranted as follows: it is not neéessary to ensure public protection,
considéring the steps respondent has taken to correct his office practices, that
respondent be barred from prescribing scheduled drugs. It is also not necessary that
| respondent be prohibited from practicing as a solo practitioner and the period of

probation is reduced to three years from five years as the guidelines recommend.

The determination regarding the level of discipliné and denial of respondent’s
request for a reprimand is made for these reasons: Respondent'’s departures from the
standards of care with respect to the five patients in this matter represent a systemic
failure to accurately and adequately.chart the condition of each patient and in certain |
instances adequately monitor the medications he was prescribing them énd they were
taking. As a result, Patients A, B, and C were able to obtain large doses.of opioids and
other controlled medications. At times, respondent lost track of the medicatiq'ns he

was prescribing them. Further, despite their concerning and aberrant behavior,
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respondent did not utilize CURES though it was available to him or consistently
required patients to submit to UDTs, and even where UDT lab results were obtained,
he ignored inconsistent results that showed patients were divehing medications, not

using medications as prescribed, or that they did not need the medications.

His care and treatment of Patients D and E represented a similar pattern of
inadequate charting, inadequate monitoring, and a failure to critically inquire and/or
follow-up. Patients D and E's documented aberrant behaviors heightened respondent’s
need to adequately chart, monitor and critically assess his prescriptions to them
because their health and safety were at risk. With respect to Patient D, her May 10,
2011, call to respondent and his response to it stand out as illustrative of the problem
his care of her represented. On this date Patient D reported to respondent that a
poﬁce officef pulled her over for being under the influence of medication and for child
endangerment, and she asked hfm to write letter for her court appéarance. By any
measure this was a red flag that should have raised concerns for D's health and welfare
(and possibly her child’s), but respondent did not document he had such concerns.
Instead, two days later, on-May 12, 2011, without recording the reason he did this,
respondent authorized an early refill of Alprazolam. He authorized this early refill less
than two weeks after he wrote D a prescription for 90 pills of Ativan, another

benzodiazepine, with three refills.

With' respect to Patient E, despite an involuntary “5150" hospitalization in
December 2010 for alcohol abuse, between March 21, 2011, and January 2012,
respondent did not ask E about his use of alcohol, whether he was in follow-up
behavioral care for this condition, whether he was attending AA, or any other group
therapy. Respondent also did not document he advised E that he should see a

behavioral health specialist or psychiatrist. Respondent further did not take E's blood
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pressure, which is ndtable, as respondent acknowledged,- because takiﬁg his vital signs
may have allowed him to assess whether E was usin.g alcohol. Respondent also did not
have E submit toa UDT or cup’teét, and he did not ever have E undergo an EKG even
though he was prescribing Methadone to E and it appeared, based on E's first

_ hospitalization, that E suffered a respiratory issue requiring that he be placed on a
ventilatof. At each visit during this timeframe, respondent recorded E’s condition
based on how E presented to him at these visits and he appeared to accept E's
superficial presentatioh to him. As Dr. Verdolin stated, it seemed respondent did not
want to know about E’s alcohol use. At the least, he should have critically assessed E in
light of his recent history. Respondent did not return E's wife’s call to him despite her
message to him after E's December 2010 hospitalization there were thihgs she wanted
respondent to know. Further, respondent did not obtain E’§ Palomar Hospital records.
Among these records, a social worker documented she suspécted in é behavioral
health assessment that E was 'ab'using both alcohol and opiates. E's June 2008 pain

agreement advised E that the use of opioids and alcohol are contraindicated.

Here, it is noted D and E were challenging patients whose needs for pain
medications were not in dispute and respondent took steps to engage both patients
anid was attentive to them. D did not make appointments respondent had scheduled
for her and aftér reviewing her CURES report, he appropriately discharged her as a
patient. Respondent documented that E was trying to improve his lifestyle by trying to
quit smoking and he may well have appeared healthy at his visits with respondent
between March 21, 2011, and January 2012. Respondent, also, specifically advised E
not to use alcohol and stressed-this poiht to him at E's December 14, 2010

appointment.
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But, as commented on earlier in this decision, the evaluation of respondent’s
treatment of all of these patients needs to be looked at in terms of the risks to these
patients and respondent’s efforfs to size up and manage these risks using the tools
available to him. By November 2011, when the CDC declared prescription drug abuse
to be a nationwide epidemic, respondent as a péin specialist was on notice that he
needed to use the tools available to him, whether UDTs, cup screens, pill counts,
and/or CURES, and he also needed to critically assess patienfs and what they told him.
Resp'ondent was slow to respond to this change in the opioid pain medication
management landscape and did not consistently use the tools available to him. Even
when he did use these tool§ and was put on notice of potential problems, he did not -

take actions to protect his patients from their risky aberrant behaviors. In explaining
his-care and treatment of these patients, respondent testified that he was perhaps
“overcompassionate” in his care and treatment of these~ patients, and he allowed his
compassion, it appears, to override his critical judgment. This is most notable with
regards to Patients A and E. At one point, on October 23, 2012, he docUmented he
wanted to give A "hope” and he ignored indications that A’s meds were being diverted
~ to her daughter. With regards to E, he emphasized in his hearing testimony that he
had a special connection with E and, as some indication of this connection, E bought
his young son with him at his appointments. Respondent appeared to have ignored

the possibility that E could have been abusing'alcohol.

27. Respondeht testified credibly he has learned from his mistakes, has
benefited from prescription drug and record keeping courses he compieted in 2017,

and he has taken steps to ensure he does not make the same mistakes again.*®

48 Respondent admitted that he made mistakes with regards to his care and
treatment of Patients D and E. He did not specifically take responsibility for his
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Respondent has backed up his testimony with concrete steps. He has improved his
record keeping through his new EMR system, and now takes v.ital signs, and checks
CURES regularly. He supported his testimony with materials he now uses in his practice
to better monitor and manage opioid pain patients. As additional factors against a
more severe Ieyel of discipline, respondent is well-regarded in the community by his
-patients and colleagueé and has practiced in the- field of pain management since 1993
without discipline. Accordingly, as noted, departures from the Board's recommended
terms and conditions are appropriate: instead of a five-yéar period of probation, a.
three-year period of probation will ensure public protection. In addition, in light of his
substantive and substantiated effbr_ts to correct his practice, respondent is not barred
from prescribing certain scheduled drugs. Respondent also is not required to take an
ethics course as the guidelines recommend. His conduct did not involve material
breaches of his ethical duties to the five patients. Regarding respondent’s request for a
public reprimand, respondent’s request is denied for this reason: Even considering the
factors in his favor, given the nature of the departures found, a reprimand is not
appropriate. Use of a public reprimand is limited to “minor vioiations" of the Medical
Practice Act under Section 2233. Even if only the departures that responcient’s expert,
Dr. Polston, found are considered, respo'ndent’s violations of the Medical Practice Act

were not minor.

conduct relating to Patients A, B and C, but it is found that reépondent held a good
faith belief that his care and treatment of these pafients was appropriate and his

failure to admit he made mistakes in his care of treatment of Patients A, B and C is not -
considéred as a factor in the imposition of the degree of discipline. (See Hal/ v.

Committee of State Bar Examiners (1979) 25 Cal.3d 730, 743-745.)
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ORDER

Certificate No. A 43963 issued to respondent Brian Howard Chesler, M.D., is
revoked. However, the revocation is stayed, and respondent is placed on probatibn for

three years upon the following terms and conditions.
1. Education Course

Within 60 calendar dayé of the effective date of this Decision, and on an annuél
basis thereafter, respondent shall submit to the Board or its designee for its prior
approval educational program(s) or course(s) which shall not be less than 40 hours per
year, for each year of probatibn. The educational program(s) or course(s) shall be
aimed at correcting any areas of deficient practice or knowledge and shall be Category
_I certified. The educational program(s) or course(s) shall be at respondent’s expense
and shall be in addition to the Continuing Medical Education (CME) requirements for
renewal of Iicensure. Following the completion of each course, the Board or its
designee may administer an examination to test respondent’s knowledge of the
course. Respondent shall provide proof of attendance for 65 hours of CME of which 40

hours were in satisfaction of this condition.
2. Prescribing Practices Course

Within 60 calendar days of the effective date of this Decisién, respondent shall
enroll in a course in prescribing practices approved in advance by the Board or its
- designee. Respondent shall proVide the approved course provider with any
information and documents that the approved course provider may deem pertinent.
Respondent shall participate in and successfull'y complete the classroom component of

the course not later than six (6) months after respondent’s initial enrollment.
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Respondent shall successfully complete any other component of the course within one
(1) year of enrollment. The prescribing practices course shall be at respondent’s
expense and shall be in addition.to_ the Continuing Medical Education (CME)

requirements for renewal of licensure.

‘ A prescribing practices course taken after the acts that gave rise to the charges
in the Accusation, but prior to the effective date of the Decision may, in the sole
discretion of the Board or its desig'nee, be accepted towards the fulfillment of this
condition if the course would have been approved by the Board or its designee had

the course been taken after the effective date of this Decision.

Respondent shall submit a certification of successful completion to the Board or
its designee not later than 15 calendar days after successfully completing the course,
or not later than 15 calendar days after the effective date of the Decision, whichever is

later.
3. Medical Record Keeping Course

Within 60 calendar days of the effective date of this Decision, respondent shall
enroll in a course in med‘ical record keeping approved in advance by the Board or its
designee. Respondent shall provide the approved course pfoyider with any
information and .documents that the approved course provider may deem pertinent..
Respondent shall participate in and successfully complete the classroom component of
the course not later than six (6) months after respondent's initial enrollment.
Respondenlt shall successfully complete any other component of the course wfthin one
(1) year of enrollment. The medical record keeping course shall be at respondent’s
expensé and shall be in addition to the Continuing Medical Education (CME)

requirements for renewal of licensure.
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A medical record keeping course taken after the acts that gavé rise to the
charges in the Accusatioh, but prior to the effective date of the Decision may, in the
sole discretion of the Board or its designee, be accepted towards the fulfillment of this
condition if the course would have been approved by the Board or its designee had

the course been taken after the effective date of this Decision.

Respondent shall submit a certification of successful completion to the Board or
its designee not later than 15 calevndar days after successfully completing the cburse,_
or not later than 15 calendar days after the effective date of the Decision, whichever is

later.
4. Clinical Competence Assessment Program

"Within 60 calendar days of the effective date of this Decision, respondent shall
enroll in a clinical competence assessment program approved in advance by the Board
- or its designee. Respbnden_t shall successfully complete the program not later than six
| (6) months after respondent’s initial enrollment Lmleés the Board or its designee

agrees in writing to an.extension of that time.

The program' shall consist of a comprehensive assessment of respondent’s
physical and mental health and the six general domains of clinical éompetence as -
defined by the Accreditation Council on Graduate Medical Education and American
Bo'ard of Medical Specialties pertaining to respondent’s current dr intended area of
practice. The program shall take into account data obtained from the pre-assessment,
self-report forms and interview, and the Decision(s), Accusation(s), and any other
information that the Board or its designee deems relevant. The program shall require
respondent’s on-site participation for a minimum of 3 and no more than 5 days as

determined by the program for the assessment and clinical education evaluation.
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Respondent shall pay all expenses associated with the clinical competence assessment

program.

At the end of the evaluation, the program will submit a report to the Board or
its designee which unequivocally states whether'the respondent has demonstrated the
ability to practice safely and independently. Based on respondent’s performance on
the clinical competence assessment, the prdgram will advise the Board or its designee .
of its recomrnendation(s) for the scope and length of any additional educational or
clinical training, evaluation .or treatment for any medicel condition or psychological
condition, or‘anything else affeeting respondent’s ‘practice of medicine. Respondent

shall comply with the program’s recommendations. .

Determination as to whether respondent successfully completed the clinical

competence assessment program is solely within the program's jurisdiction.

If respondent fails to enroll, participate in, or successfully complete the clinical
competence assessment program within the designated time period, respondent shall
receive a notification from the Board or its designee to cease the practice of medicine
within three (3) calendar days after being so notified. The respondent shall not resume
the practice of medicine until enrollment or participation in the outstanding-portions
of the clinical competence assessment program have been completed. If the
respondent did not successfully complete the clinical competence assessment
program, the respondentshall not resume the practice of medicine until a final
decision has been rendered on the accusation and/or a petition to revoke probation.
The cessation of practice shall not apply to the reduction of the probationary time

period.
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- 5. Monitoring - Practice

Within 30 calendar days of the effective date of this Decision, respondent shall
submit to the Board or its designee for prior approval as a practice monitor(s), the
name and cjualifications of one or more licensed physicians and surgeons whose
licenses aAre valid and in good standing, and who are preferably American Board of
Medical Specialties (ABMS) certified. A monitor shall have no prior or current businegé
or personal-relationship with respondent, or other relationship that could reasonably
be eXbected to comp.romise the ability of the monitor to render fair and unbiased
reports to the Board, including but not limited to any form of bartering, shall be in

respondent’s field of practice, and must agree to serve as respondent’s monitor.

Respondent shall pay all monitoring costs.

The Board or its designee shall provide the approved monitor‘ with copies of the
Decision(s) and Accusation(s), and a proposed mon'itoring plan. Within 15 calendar
days of receipt of the. Decision(s), Accusation(s), and proposed monitoring plan, the
monitor shall submit a signed statement that the monitor has reéd the Decision(s) and
Accusation(s), fully uAnderst.ands the role of a monitor, and agrees or disagrees with the
proposed monitoring plan. If the monitor disagrees with the proposed monitoring
plan, the monitor shall submit a revised monitori.ng plan with the signed statement for

approval by the Board or its designee.

~ Within 60 calendar days of the effective date of this Decision, and continuing
throughout probation, respondent’s practice shall be monitored by the approved .
monitor. Respondent shall make all records available for imhediate inspection and
copyi.ng on the premises by the monitor at all times during business hours and shall

retain the records for the entire term of probation.
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If respondent fails to obtain approval of a monitor within 60 calendar days'of
the effective date of this Decision, respondent shall receive a notification from the
Board or its designee to cease the practice of medicine within three (3) calendar days
 after being so notified. Respondent shall cease the practice of medicine until a monitor

is approved to provide monitoring responsibility.

The monitor(s) shall submit a quarterly written report to the Board or its \
designee which includes an evaluation of respondent’s performance, indicating
whether respondent’s practices are within the Standardé of practice of medicine, and-
whether respondent is practicing medicine safely. It shall be the sole responsibility of
respondent to ensure that the monitor submits the quarterly written reports to the

Board or its designee within 10 calendar days after the end of the preceding quarter.

If the monitor resigns or is no longer available, respondent shall, within 5
calendar days of such resignation or unavailability, submit to the Board or its designee,
for prior approval, the name and qualifications of a replacement monitor who will be
assuming that responsibil'ity within 15 calendar days. If respondent fails to obtain
approval'of a replacement monitor within 60 calendar days of the resignation or
unavailability of the monitor, respondent shall receive a notification from the Board or
its designee fo cease the practice of medicine within three (3) calendar days. After
- being so notified Respondent shall cease the practice of medicine until a replacement

monitor is approved and assumes monitoring responsibility.

In lieu of a monitor, respondent may participate in a proféséionél enhancement
program approved in advance by the Board or its desig'nee,‘ that includes, at minimum,
quarterly chart review, semi-annual practice assessment, and semi-annt.ial review of
professional growth and education. Respondent shall participate in the professional
‘enhancement program at respondent’s expense during the term of probation.
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6. Notification

- Within seven (7) days of the effective date of this Decision, the respondent shall
provide a true copy of this Decision and AccUsati_cSn to the Chief of Staff or the Chief
Executive Officer at every hospital whel:e privileges or membership are extended to
respondent, at any other facility where respondent engages in the practice of
medicine, including all physician and locum tenens registries or other similar agencies,
and to the Chief Executive Officer at every insurance carrier which extends malpractice
insurance coverage to respori_dent; Respondent shall submit proof of compliance to.

the Board or its designee within 15 calendar days.

This condition shall apply to any change(s) in hospitals, other facilities or

insurance carrier.
7. Supervision of Physician Assistants and Advanced Practice Nurses

During probation, respondent is. prohibited from supervising physician

assistants and advanced practice nurses.
8. Obey All Laws

'Respondent shall obey all federal, state and local laws, all rules governing the
practice of medicine in California and remain in full compliance with any court ordered

criminal probation, payments, and other orders.
9. Quarterly Declarations

Respondent shall submit quarterly declarations under penalty of perjury on
forms provided by the Board, stating whether there has been compliance with all the

conditions of probation.
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Respondent shall submit quarterly declarations not later than 10 calendar days

after the end of the preceding quarter.
10. General Probation Requirerﬁents
COMPLIA;\ICE WITH PROBATION_ UNIT
Re_spondent shall comply with the Board's probatjon unit.

ADDRESS CHANGES '

Respondent shall, at all times, keep the Board informed of respondent’s
business and residence addresses, email address (if available), and télephonel number.
Changes of such addresses shall be immediately communicated in writing to the Board
orits designee. Under no circumstances éhall a post office box serve as an address of

record, except as allowed by Business and Professions Code section 2021, subdivision

(b). -
PLACE OF PRACTICE

Respondent shall not engage in the practice of medicine in respondent'’s or
‘patient’s place of residence, unless the patient resides in a skilled nursing facility or ‘

other similar licensed facility.
LICENSE RENEWAL

Respondent shall maintain a curfent and renewed California physician’s and

surgeon’s license.
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TRAVEL OR RESIDENCE OUTSIDE CALIFORNIA

Respondent shall immediately inform the Board or its designee, in writing, of
travel to any areas outside the jurisdiction of Califomia which lasts, or is contemplated

to last, more than thirty (30) calendar days.

In the event respondent should leave the State of California to reside or to
~ practice respondent shall notify the Board or its designee in writing 30 calendar days

prior to the dates of departure and return.
11. Interview with the Board or its Designee

Respondent shall be available in person upon request for interviews either at
respondent’s place of business or at the probation unit office, with or without prior

notice thr‘oughoﬁt the term of probation.
12. Non-practice While on Probation

Respondent shall notify the Board or its désignée in writing within 15 calendar
days of any periods of non-practice lasting more than 30 calendar days and within 15
calendar days of respondent’s return to practice. Non-practice is defined as any period
of time respondent is not practicing mediﬁine as defined in Business and Professions
Code sections 2051 and 2052 for at least 40 hours |n a calendar month in direct
patient care, clinical activity or teaching, or other activity as approved by the Board. If
respondent resides in California and is considered to be in non-practice, respondent
shall comply with all terms-and conditions'of probation. All time spent in an intensive
training program which has been approved by the Board or its designee shall not be
considered non-practice and does not relieve respondent from complying with all the

terms and conditions of probation. Practicing medicine in another state of the United
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‘States or Federal jurisdiction while on probation with the medical licensing authority of
that state or jurisdiction shall not be considered non-practice. A Board-ordered

suspension of practice shall not be considered as a period of non-practice.

In the event respondent's périod of non-piactice while on probation exceeds 18
calendar months, respondent shall successfully complete the Federation of State
Medical Board's Special Purpose Examinatioh, or, at the Board’s discretion, a clinical
- competence assessment program that meets the criteria of Condition 18 of the current
version of the Board's "Manual of Model Disciplinary Orders and Disciplinary

Guidelines” prior to resuming the practice of medicine.

Respondent's period of non-practice while on probation shall not exceed twor

(2) years.
Periods of non-practice will not apply to the reduction of the probationary term.

Periods of non-practice for a respondent residing outside of California, will
relieve respondent of the responsibility to comply with the probationary terms- and
conditions with the exception of this condition and the following terms and conditions
of probation: Obey All Laws; General Probation Requirements; Quarterly Declarations;
Abstain from the Use of Alcohol and/or Controlled Substances; and Biological Fluid

Testing. -
13. Completion of Probation

Respondent shall comply with all financial obligations (e.g., restitution,
probation costs) not later than 120 calendar days prior to the completion of probation. .
Upon successful completion of probation, respondent’s certificate shall be fully

restored.
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14. Violation of Prdbation

Failure to fully comply with any term or condition of probation is a violation of
probation. If respondent violates probation in any respect, the Board, after giving
respondent notice and the opportunity to be heard, may revoke probation and carry
out the disciplinary order that was stayed. If an Accusation, or Petition to Revoke
Probation, or an Interim Suspension Order is filed against respondent during
probation, the Board shall have continuing jurisdiction until the matter is final, and the

period of probation shall be extended until the matter is final.
15. License Surrender

Following the effectivé date of this Decision, if respondent ceases bracticing due
tb retirement or health reasons or is otherwise unable to satisfy the terms and
conditions of probation, respondent may request to surrender his or her license. The
Board reserves the right to evaluate respondent’s request and to exercise its discretion
in determining whether or not to grant the request, or to take any other action
deemed appropriate and reasonable under the circumstances. Upon formal
acceptance of the surrender, respondent shall within 15 calendar days deliver
‘respondent’s wallet and wall certificate to the Board or its designee and respondent
shall no longer practice medicine. Respondent will no longer be subject to the terms
and conditions of probation. If respondent re-applies for a medical license, the

application shall be treated as a petition for reinstatement of a revoked certificate.
16. Probation Monitoring Costs

Respondent shall pay the costs associated with probation monitoring each and

every year of probation, as designated by the Board, which may be adjusted on an
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annual basis. Such costs shall be payable to the Medical Board of California and

delivered to the Board or ts designee no later than January 31 of each calendar year.

DocuSigned by:

DATE: September 27, 2019 Mrvaleam [y

G841 i:%l237022

ABRAFARI M. LEVY
Administrative Law Judge

Office of Administrative Hearings
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XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California

ALEXANDRA M. ALVAREZ FILED
Supervising Deputy Attorney General :
KAROLYN M. WESTFALL ' ‘ MED SKEE CALIFORNIA

Deputy Attorney General

State Bar No. 234540
600 West Broadway, Suite 1800
-San Diego, CA 92101
P.O. Box 85266
San Diego, CA 92186-5266
Telephone: (619) 738-9465 -
Facsimile: (619) 645-2061

Attorneys for Complainant

BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of the Second Amended s Case. No. 800-2014-008851

Accusation Against: )
OAH No. 2018010827

Bradley Howard Chesler, M.D. A
1955 Citracado Pkwy Unit 203 - SECOND AMENDED ACCUSATION

Escondido, CA 92029-4110

Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate
No. A 43963,

Respondent.

Complainant alleges:

PARTIES

1.  Kimberly Kirchmcyer (Complainant) brings this Secqnd Amended Accﬁsatiori solely
in her official capacity as the Executive Director of the Medical Board of California, Department
of Consumer Affairs (Board). ' _ .

2. On or about Augﬁst 31, 1987, the Medical Board issued Physician’s and Surgeon’s
Certificate No. A 43963 to Bradley Howard Chesler, M.D. (Respondenf). Physician’s and
Surgeoﬁ’s Certificate No. A 43963 was in full force and effect at all times relevant to the charges
brought herein and will expire on August 31, 2019, urless renewed. -
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JURISDICTION

3. This Second Amended Accusﬁtion, which supersedes the First Amended Accusation
filed on March 21, 2018, is brought before the Board, under the authority of the following laws.
All section references are to the Business and Professions Céde (Code) unless otherwise
indicated. °

4,  Section 2227 of the Code provideé that a licensee who is found guilty under thé
Medical Practice Act may have his or her license revoked, suspended for a period not to exceed

one year, placed on probation and required to pay the costs of probation monitoring, or such other

- action taken in relation to discipline as the Board deems proper.

5.  Section 2234 of the Code, states, in pertinent part:

“The board shall take action against any li(ceﬁsee who is charged w_ith
unprofessional conduct. In addition to other provisions of this article, unprofessionai
conduct includes, but is not limited to, th¢ following:

“(a) Violating or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, assisting in or -
abetting the violation of, or conspiring to violate any provision of this chapter.

“(b) Gross negligence.

“(c) Repeated negligent acts. To be repeated, there must be two or more
negligent acts or dmissions. An initial negligent act or omission followed by a
separate and distinct departure from the applicable standard of care shall constitute
repeated negligent acts.

“(1) An initial negligent diagnosis followed by an act or omission
medically appropriate for that negligent diagnosis of the patient shall
constitute a single négligent act. '

“(2) When the standard of care requires a change in the diagnosis, act, or
omissioh that cbnstitutes the negligent act described in paragraph (1), -
including, but not limited to, a reevaluation of the diagnosis or a change in
treatment, and the licensee's conduct departs from the applicable standard of

-
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care, each departure constitutes a separate and distinct breach of the standard of

care.

“(d) Incompetence.

6.  Section 2238 of the Code states:

“A violation of any federal statute or federal regulation or any of the statutes of
regulations of this state regulating dangerous drugs or controlled substances
coiistitutes unprofessional conduct.”

7.  Section 725 of the Code states, in pertinent part:

“(a) Repeated acts of clearly excessive prescribing, furnishing, dispensing, or
administering of drugs or treatment, repeated acts of clearly excessive use of
diagnostic procedures, or repeated acts of clearly excessive use of diagnostic or
treatment facilities as determined by the standard of the community of licensees is
unprofessional conduct for a physician and surgeon...

«

“(c) A practitioner who has a medical basis for prescribing, furnishing,
dispensing, or administering dangerous drugs or prescription controlled substances
shall not bie subject to disciplinary action or prosecution under this section.

"“(d) No physician and surgeon shall be subject to disciplinary action pursuant
to this section for treating intractable pain in compliance with Section 2241.5.”
8.  Section 2.242 of the Code states, in pertinent part:

“(a) Prescribing, dispensing, or furnishing dangerous drugs as defined in
Section 4022 without an appropriate prior-examination and a medical indication,
constitutes unprofessional conduct.

9.  Section 4021 of the Code states:
“*Controlled substance’ means any substance listed in Chapter 2 (commencing

with Section 11053) of Division 10 of the Health and Safety Code.”
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10.  Section 4022 of the Code states in pertinent part:

“‘Dangerous drug’ or ‘dangerous device’ means any drug or device unsafe for
self-use in humans or animals, gnd includes the following:

“(a) Any drug that bears the legend: ‘Caution: federal law prohibits dispensing
without prescription,” ‘Rx only,” or words of similar import. |
“(¢) Any other drug or device that by federal or state law can be lawfully

dispensed only on prescription or furnished pursuant to Section 4006.”

11.  Section 2266 of the Code states:

“The failure of a physician and surgeon to maintain adequate and accurate

records relating to the provision of services to their patients constitutes unprofessional

conduct.”

12.  Unprofessional conduct under section 2234 is conduct which breaches the rules or
ethical code of the medical profession, or conduct which is unbecoming to a member in good
standing of the medical profession, which demonstrates an unfitness to practice medicine. (Shea
v. Board of Medical Examiners (1978) 81 Cal.App.3d 564, 575.)

FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE -

(Gross Negligence)

13.  Respondent has subjected his Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate No. A 43963 to
disciplinary action under sections 2227 and 2234, as defined by section 2234, subdivision (b), of
the Code, in that he was grossly negligent in his care and treatment of Patients A, B, C, D, and E!
as more particularly alleged hereinafter:

14. The following drugs, alleged to have been prescribed below, are dangerous drugs and
sgbstances listed in the Controlled Substances Act:

(a) Oxycodone is a Schedule II controlled substance.

I'To protect the privacy of all patients involved, patient names have not been included in this
pleading. Respondent is aware of the identity of the patients referred to herein.
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(b) Short Acting'Oxycodone is a Schedule II controlled substance.
(¢) Percocet (Oxycodone) is a Schedule 11 controlled substance.

\ (d) Lortab (Hydrocodone) is a Schedule II controlled substance.
(e) Valium (Diazepam) is a Schedule IV controlled suﬁstanée.'
(f) OxyContin is a Schedule II controlled substance.
(8 Norco (Hydrocodone) is a Schedule IT controlled substance.
(h) Vicodin (Hydrocodone) is a Schedule II controlled substance
(i) Fentanyl is a Schedule II controlled substance.
() MS-Contin is a Schedule II controlled substance.
(k) Soma (Carisopfodol) is a Schedule IV controlled substance as of January 11, 2012.
(l)A Hydromorphone_ is a Schedule II controlled substance. | |
(m) Diiaudid (Hydromorphone) is a Schedule II controlled substance.
(n) Lorazepam (Ativan) is a Schedule IV controlled substance.
(0) Alprazolam (Xanax) is a Schedule IV controlled substance.
(pj Methadone is a Schedule II confrolled substance.

Patient A: -

15.  On or about February 7, 2005,% Patient A, a female patient, presented to Respondént

with chronic neck pain following a motor vehicle accident, with a C5-C6 anterior cervical

discectomy and a fusion. In or about 2005, Patient A underwent a right upper extremity surgery
to remove a tumor, and in or about 2007, she underwent surgery to remove hardware in her right
arm due to ongoing pain. |

16. Under Respondent’s care, Patient A’s pain was treated with multiple types of
controlled substances, including OxyContin, Norco 10/325, Vicodin 5/500, Valium, Dilaudid,
Fentanyl patch, and Percocet. '

17.  On or about June 26, 2008, July 18, 2011, and September 16, 2014, Patient A signed

patient agreement forms (Pain Agreements) for Respondent. The terms of the July 18, 2011, Pain

2 Conduct occurring more than seven (7) years from the filing date of this Accusation is for
informational purposes only and is not alleged as a basis for disciplinary action.
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Agreement prévided, in part, that Patient A would present to only one Emergency Room visit per
moAnth for pain exacerbations, and would obtain medications only from the agreéd-upon
pharmacy.

18. Inand about the years 2011 to 2013, Resbondent prescribed opioid medications to
Patient A, inéluding morphine equivale_ntodoses3 (MED) that exceeded 300 MEDs. During that
_time Patient A’s actions included the following:

| (a) Patient A reported a lack of adequate analgesia, continued chronic pain, and
decreased function; |

(b) Patient A- présented to multiple emergency departments for pain relief;

(c)> Patient A made requests for early refills of medications, and reported medications lost

or stolen; and |

(d) Patient A obtained medication refills from ten prescribers at seven pharmacies.

19. Inor about the time periods from 2010 to 2014, Patient A provided urine drug test
results that were inconsistent with the medications Respéndent prescribed to her. Throughout
that time frame, on approximately 14 ocCasioné, Patient}A’s urine test results were inconsistent

with the medications prescribed, including on or about November 11, 2014, when Patient A’s

urine drug test detected no controlled substances in her system. Throughout that time frame,

Respondent failed to document and/or adequately document any detailed discussion with Patient

A regarding these inconsistencies, and continued to prescribe controlled substances to her.

20. From in or about December 2011, to in or about November 20 12, Respondent wrote -
approximately fifty-six prescriptions for medications containing acetaminophen for Patient A,
prescribing approximately:

e Fifteen prescriptions of 120 tablets of Percocet;

o Fourteen prescriptions of 180 tablets of Lortab;

e Fourteen prescriptions of 90 tablets of Dilaudid; and

o Thirteen prescriptions of Valium. -

3 Morphine equivalent doses (MED) are used to equate different opioids into one standard value,
based on morphine and its potency, referred to as MED. MED calculations permit all opioids to be
converted to an equivalent of one medication, for ease of comparison and risk evaluations.

6 | /
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21.  Inorabout the time period from 2011 to 2013, Respondent prescribed to Patient A, a
daily combination of medications that contained acetaminophen: six (6) Lortab 7.5/500 tablets
and foﬁr (4) Percocet 10/325 tablets, thereby prescribing an approximate average of 4300 |
milligrams (mg.) of acetaminopﬁen per day.

22. In the twelve-month timeframe from in or about December 2011 to November 2012,
Respondent prescribed to Patient A, an average of 5000 mg. of acetaminophen per day.

Patient B: | _

23.  On or about February 27, 2013, Patient B, ;':1 female patient, first presented to
Respondent for chronic abdominal and pelvic pain, and generalized pain. Patient B had a history _
of six cesarean section deliveries, .and abdominal reconstruction with mesh. On that date,
Respondent performed an initial history and physical examination of Patient B, however, the
history lacked an appraisal of prior non-opioid treatments for chronic pain, and an assessment of
psychologiéal and/or addiction risk. No baseline urine drug screen was performed. A 12 month
Controlled Substance Utilization Review and Evaluation System (CURES) report was reviewed.
When Patient B first presented, she was taking MS Contin 30 mg., three times per day (tid).
Respondent added Norco 10/325 and Oxycodone 10 mg. to her chronic pain medication fegime.

24. - On or about February 27, 2013, and thereafter, Réspondent failed to document ai
discussion of the risks and benefits of the use of controlled suBstanceS with Patieﬁt B, and did not
enter into a written Pain‘ Agreement with Patient B at any time.

25.  During an approximate ten-month period that Respondent provided care and
treatment to'Patien‘t B, he wrote the following prescriptions for more than a 30-day supply,
including extra prescriptions and refills: |

o (2013) twelve prescriptions of MS Contin 30 mg. #90;
* (2013) fifteen prescriptions of Norco 10/325 (10 for #240; 4 for #180 and 1 for #30);
e (2014) thirteen prescriptions of MS Contin 30 mg. #90;
o (2014) twenty prescriptions of Norco 10/325 (15 for #240; 3 for #180; and 1 for #96); and |
* (2014) thirteen prescriptions of Oxycodone 10 mg. (10 for #90; 3 for #120).
" ‘ |
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26. In or about the time period from December 2013, through on or about September
2014, Respondent wrote seventeen prescriptions for medications containing acetaminophen for
Patient B prescribing approximately: |

e Sixteen prescriptions of Norco 10/325 #240; and

e One prescription-of Norco 10/325 #180*.

27. While caring for Patient B, Respondent saw her on an approximate monthly basis,
mainly consisting of medication management. Treatment goals documented by Respondent were
generic, rather than specific, clear functional patient goals. From on or about February 27, 2013,
until on or about Februar;/ 23,2015, no urine drug screen was perforrﬁed.

28. While under Respondent’s care, Patient B displayed aberrant behaviors, including
multiple requests for early refills, filling sirﬁilar prescriptions at different pharmacies at less than
30-day intervals, during which time Respondent continued to prescribe for Patient B, with no
documentation that she was asked to bring in medication for pill counting when there were
inconsistencies in her refill pattern: .

e On or about April 1, 2014, Patient B refilled her prescription for #240 Norco 10/325;

e On or about April 15, 2014, Patient B refilled her prescription for #240 Nor_co 10/325;

e On or about May 1, 2014, Patient B refilled her prescription for #240 Norco 10/325;

e On or about May 14, 2014, Patient B refilled her prescription for #240 Norco 10/325;

e On or about May 29, 2014, Patient B refilled her prescription for #240 Norco 10/325;

e On or about June 11, 2014, Patient B refilled her prescription for #240 Norco 10/325;- and,
e On or about June 26, 2014, Patient B refilled her prescription for #240 Norco 10/325.

Patient C: | | |

29. On or about August 8, 2008, Patient C, a male patient, first presented to Respondent
for chronic left shoulder and arm pain. Patient C had a history of two shoulder surgeries in 2003
and 2006, reporting increasing pain around 2007. Respondent performed an ultrasound showing

supraspinatus irﬁpingement and subscapularis shortening. Patient C’s pain was managed with

4 In or about September of 2014, Patient B reported to Respondent that her liver enzymes were
elevated, after which Respondent reduced her Norco refill amount to 180 tablets.

8
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multiple controlled substances including Soma, Norco, OxyContin, and short acting Oxycodone,
MS Contin and Hydromorphone. On that date, Respondent performed an initial history and
physical examination of Patient C, however, that history lacked an appraisal of prior non-opioid
treatments for chronic pain, an assessment of psychological and/or addiction risk. No baseline
urine drug screen was ordered.

30. Onor about August 8, 2008, Patient C signed a Pain Agreement, and Respondent
discussed the risks and benefits of the use of opioid medications. Patient C signed no additional
agreements, and Respondent had no additional discussions and/or documented no addition~al
discussions of opioid medications’ risks and benefits, although during that time, Patient C
violated the Pain Agreement multiple times with frequent requests for early refills, or by reporting
the medications were lost or stolen.

31. During an approximate ten-month period that Respondent provided care and
treatment to Patient C, he wrote the following prescriptions for more than a 30-day supply,
including extra prescriptions and refills:

e (2012) 14 prescriptions of OxyContin 80 mg. #90;

e (2012) 14 prescriptions of Oxycodone 30 mg. #360; |

e (2012) 14 presériptions of Hydromorphone 8 mg. (8 of #120, 6 of #90); and

e (2013) 20 prescriptions of short acting Oxycodone (15 mg. or 30 mg. tablets);

32. Inor about March, April, May, June, September, aﬁd» October of 2013, Patient C
filled two prescriptions of short acting Oiycodone in the same month.

33.  While caring for Patient C, after November 2009, urine drug tests were performed
multiple times per year, however, in nine instances between in or about March 2010 to in or about
June 2013, Patient C’s urine test results were inconsistent with his prescribed medication,
specifically, Hydromorphone was not detected in the urine. However, Respondent continued to
prescribe Dilaudid to Patient C. Respondent did not engage in and/or document any discussion of
inconsistent urine test results with Patient C on subsequent office visits, and continued to
prescribe controlled substances to Patient C.

7 |
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Patient D: _

34, On or. about June 21, 2010, Patient D, a then 45-year old female patient, first
presented to Respondent for chronic pain and headaches. Patient D repoﬁed taking medication
for pain beginning in 1994, which included but was not limited to Fentanyl, Soma, Vicodin, and
cortisone shots, but no baseline urine drug screen was ordered at this visiti Patient D had a
history of an MRI of the cervical area in 2009, and prior treatrrfént with acupressure and
thropractic. Respondent did not order any imaging studies, and did not request the patient’s
prior MRI report from 2009 at that or any visit thereafter. On that date, Respondent pérformed an
initial history and physical examination of Patient D that did not include vital signs, a reported
pain score, an appraisal of prior non-opioidAtreatments for chronic pain, or an assessment of
psyéhological and/or addiction risk. The patient’s chart for this visit included a musculoskeletal

exam that noted:

“Head/Neck (posterior), shoulder girdle: No erythema, ecchymosis or edema. -
Generalized moderate tenderness over the neck and shoulder girdle, moderate

- tenderness over the right occipital grove, moderate tenderness over the right scapular
area. Head held in forward position. Full, pamless range of motion of the neck.
Normal stability. Normal strength and tone.”

35. Onor about June 21 , 2010, Patient D signed a Pain Agreement. The terms of
this Pain Agreement, in part, specifically prohibited early refills, doctor shopping, the use
of more than one pharmacy, irlldicated that the patient may be subjected to random pill
counts and random urine drug screening, and that evidence of misuse may be grounds for
termination. Patient D signed no additional Pain Agreements throughout her care and
treatment with R/espondent, and Respondent had no additional documented discussions with
the patient regarding opioid medications’ risks, benefits, and alternatives.

36. Between on or about June 21, 2010, through on or about October 25, 2011,
Respondent provided care and treatment to Patient D that included writing the follovs;ing
prescriptions for a 30-day supply, including refills:

e Ten prescriptions of Alprazolam 1 mg. #60;
e Six prescriptions of Lorazepam 1 mg. (1 of #30, 1 of #40, and 4 of #90);
"
.10
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e Ten prescrlptlons of Oxycodone 30 mg. (1 of #30, 1 of #40, 1 of #120, 2 of #180, 1 of
#200, 4 of #240) and one prescription of Oxycodone 15 mg. #180;

One prescription of Oxycontin-40 mg. #60;

» Two prescriptions of Fentanyl 25 mcg. (1 of #10 and 1 of #15), two prescriptions of |

Fentanyl 50 mcg. #15, and one -preééription of Fentantyl 75 mcg. #15;

Nineteen prescriptions of Norco 10/325 mg. (1 for #50, 1 for #60, 1 for #80, 2 for #100, 1
for #140, 4 for #180, and 9 for #240). "

37. Between on or about June 21, 2010, through on or about April 21, 2011, Patiént

D saw Respondent on approximately 13 clinical visits. Throughout that time, including at

clinical visits on or about March 22, 2011, and on or about April 21, 2011, treatment goals

documented by Respondent were generic, rather than specific, clear functional patient

goals ‘and the musculoskeletal examination notes for each visit were identical.

38. Whlle under Respondent’s care, including at clinical visits on or about March 22,
2011, and on or about April 21, 2011, no urine drug screen was performed on Patient D, no pill
count was ever conducted or documented, and Respondent never referred the patient for imaging
studies, behavioral management, psychiatry, or addiction treatment.

39. While under Respondent’s care, Patient D displayed aberrant behaviors, including but
not limited to, admitting to overusing her medication, repeatedly requesting early refills, and
filling prescriptions at different pharmacies. Despite her repeated noncompliance with the Pain
Agreement, Respondent continued to prescribe controlled substances for Patient D with little
documented discussion regarding her repeated instances of noncompﬂliance, énd no change in blan
to address her noncompliance. '

40. Between on or about April 22,2011, through on or about October 25, 2011, Patient D -
did not present to Respondent for treatment due to an apparent change in her insurance coverage.
During that time, Patient D contacted Respondent’s office on multiple occasions to‘report that she
was in withdrawal and needed medications. |
41. On or about October 25, 2011, Respondent authorized an early refill of Norco‘for

Patient D. On that same date, Respondent formally discharged the patient from his care.

11
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Patient E:

42. On or about F ébfuary 12, 2009, Patient E, a then 59-year old established male patient
and recovering alcoholic, presented to Respondent for recurring treatment for chronic neck pain |
following a wor‘k-injury and two surgeries. On that date, Respondent completed a physical exam

of the patient, which was documented as:

CONSTITUTIONAL: General Appearance: White male, well nourished body
habitus, appears stated age, appropriately groomed.

MUSCULOSKELETAL & SKIN EXAMS: Head/Neck (Posterior), Shoulder Girdle:
There are scars consistent with previous surgeries listed in HPI/PMH. Moderate
tenderness in the midline. Head and neck in neutral position.. Unable to test range of
motion with cervical spine fusion, in severe pain. Normal stability. Normal strength
and tone. Spine/Ribs/Pelvis: No erythema, ecchymosis, or edema. No tenderness of
spine, ribs or SI joints. No kyphosis, lordosis, or scoliosis. Full, painless range of
motionof the thoracic and lumbar spine. Normal stability. Normal strength and tone.

GAIT/STATIONS: Gait intact. Station, posture normal. Romberg negative. Does
not use mobility aids.

Respondent’s stated diagnosis for the patient was “723.3 — PAIN CERVICAL WITH
RADIATION, 723.4 - RADICULOPATHY CERVICAL, 782.0 —- NUMBNESS PARESTHESIA
OF SKIN.” The stated treatment p!an goals for the patient were, “Increase the patient’s ability to -
self-manage pain and related problems. Maximize and maintain optimal activity and function.
Reduce subjective pain intensity.” At the conclusion of tﬁe visit, Respondent refilled the patient’s
medications, including Methadose (Mqthadone) 10 mg #600, Xanax 1 mg #120 (with 3 refills),
Hydrocodone-aceta@inophen (Norco) 10-325 mg #240 (with 3 refills), Gabapentin? 4600 mg #120
(with three refills), and Wellbutrin® 100 mg #120 (with 3 refills).

43. Between on or about February 12, 2009, through on or about January 31, 2012,
Respondent provided care and treatment to Patient E that included writing the follovﬁng
prescriptions for a 30-day supply, including refills: -

e Thirty-four prescriptions of Norco 10-325 mg. (12 of #240, 22 of #120);

3 Gabapentin is a nerve pain medication and anticonvulsant. It is a dangerous drug pursuant to
Business and Professions Code section 4022.

6 Wellbutrin, name brand for Bupropion, is a smoking cessation aid and antidepressant. Itisa
dangerous drug pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4022.

12.
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o Thirty-seven prescriptions of Xanax 1 mg. (12 of #120, 21 of #90, 4 of #45);
¢ Twenty-seven prescriptions of Percocet 10-325 mg. #90;
o Thirty-five préscriptions of Methadone 10 mg. (5 of #600, of 30 of #180);

e Twenty-four prescriptions of Buspirone’ 15 mg. #90;

Thirty-two prescriptions of Lexapro 20 mg. #30;
. Twenty—eight prescriptions of Wellbutrin #100 mg; and
e Forty-four prescriptions of Gabapentin 600 mg (40 for #120, 4 for #45).

44. Between on or about February 12, 2009, through on or about January 31, 2012,
Patient E saw Respondent on monthly basis on approximately 38 clinical visits, mainly
consisting of medication management. Throughout that timé, the patient’s physical’
examination findings were relatively identical and never included any vital signs, heat;t rate,
temperature and respirations, or pain scale. Throughout that time, Respondent’s stated
diagnosis and treatment goals fof each visit were identical. .

45. Between on or about February 12, 2009, through on or about January 31, 2012,
Respondent did not enter into a written Pain Agreement with Patient E, or renew an
established Pain Agreement with Patient E during that time period.

46. On or about April 6, 2009, Patient E was seen by Respondent. During that
visit, the patient asked Respondent for a substitute for Wellbutrin and Buspirorie, but was
directed by Respondent to see a psycHiatrist for any change in his psychiatric medications.

47. On or about October 18, 2009, Patient E was found unresponsive by his wife and was
subsequently hospitalized for aspiration pneumonia with MSSA, confusion, COPD, and
hyperlipidemia.

48. On or about November 12, 2009, after having been discharged from the hospital,
Patient E returned to see Respondent. During this visit, Respondent counseled the patient about
using his medications properly, but refilled his medications. Respondent ordered a urinalysis be

taken from the patient to “assure compliance and to prevent diversion.” Respondent did not

7 Buspirone is an anxiolytic medication used to treat anxiety: It is a dangerous drug pursuant to
Business and Professions Code section 4022.
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request testing for alcohol, and the test results were inconsistent with the medications prescribed.
This single urine test is the only test ordered by Respondent for Patient E between in or about
February 12, 2009, through on or about January 31, 2012.

49.  On or about December 7, 2010, Patient E was taken to the hospital after he was
hallucinating and wielding a gun. At the hospital, Patient E displayed symptoms of alcohol
withdrawal. Patient E admitted he had relapsed after 13 years of sobriety 6 months earlier, and
had been drinking large amounts of vodka and abusing his pain medications.

50. On or about December 14, 2010, after having been discharged from the hospital,
Patient E returned to see Respondent. During this visit, Respondent counseled the patient about
using his medications properly and abstaining from alcohol, but made no changes in his treatment
plan, and refilled all of his medications.

51.  On or about December 17, 2010, Respondent received a “Member Health Note” from
Patient E’s insurance company stating that medical research indicates that chronic use of
Alprazolam (Xanax) may lead to tolerance and dependency, that chronic use of opioid analgesics
me;y lead to tolerance and dependency, and that the use of Gabapentin increases the risk of
suicidal thoughts and behaviors.

52. Between on or about February 12, 2009, through on or about January 31, 2012,
despite two hospitalizations, Respondent never referred the patient for imaging studies, EKG,
behavioral management, psychiatry, or addiction treatment, but continued to prescribe high doses
of various medications. Throughout that time, the patient’s chart makes no mention of a specific
discussion regarding the risks, benefits, or aiternatives of pharmacological treatment, or an
assessment of the efficacy of treatment.

53.  On or about February 12, 2012, Patient E was found dead at his home as a result of
the combined effects of multiple substances including alcohol, Methadone, Oxycodone
(Percocet), Hydrocodone (Norco), Alprazolam (Xanax), and Bupropion.

54. Respondent committed the following acts of gross negligence in his care and
treatment of Patients A, B, C,D, and E:

"
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Patient A:

A. In and about 2011 to 2013, Respondent continued to pfescribe a high dose regime of

controlled substances to Patient A, including doses that exceeded 300 MEDs, while she
reported a lack of adequate analgesia and/or continued chronic pain, and/or decreased

function, and/or displayed aberrant behaviors; .

. From in or about December 2011, to in or about November 2012, Respondent

prescribed medications containing acetaminophen for Patient A, containing

approximately 5000 mg. per day of acetaminophen;

. From in or about December 2011, to in or about early 2013, Respondent prescribed

medications containing acetaminophen for Patient A, containing approximately 4300

mg. per day of acetaminophen;

. In and about 2011, and thereafter, Respondent continued to prescribe medications under

Patient A’s Pain Agreement, despite Patient A’s violations of the Pain Agreement; and

. Between 2010 and 2014, Patient A’s urine tests were inconsistent with medications

prescribed on 14 occasions, and/or on November 11, 2014, showed no controlled
substances, but Respondent continued to prescribe medications under Patient A’s Pain

Agreement despite inconsistencies.

Patient B:

"

F. On or about February 27, 2013, and thereafter, Respondent failed to discuss and/or |

document a discussion of the risks and benefits of the use of controlled substances with

 Patient B and/or enter into a Pain Agreement with Patient B during the time that he

provided her care and treatment;

. In or about a ten-month period of time in 2013, Respondent frequently prescribed to

Patient B more than 30-day doses of controlled substances;

H. In or about the time period from December 2013, through on or about September 2014,

Respondent wrote prescriptions for medications containing acetaminophen for Patient

B, with daily average acétaminophen doses of approximately 4.6 grams; and

15
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I.  While under Respondent’s care, Patient B displayed aberrant behaviors, including
multiple requests for early refills, filling similar prescriptions at differenf pharmacies at
less than 30-day intervals, during which time Respondent continued to prescribe for
Patient B, with no discussion and/or no documentation of discussion regarding these
béhaviors.

Patient C:

J.  On or about August 8, 2008, Patient C signed a Pain Agreement, and discussc_ad the risks
and benefits of the use of opioid medications. Patient C signed nc; additional
agreéments, and had no additional discussions of opioid medications’ risks and benefits,
although during that time, Patient C violated the Pain.Agreement multiple times with
frequent requests for early refills, or by reporting the medications were lost dr stolen;

K. During the time periods in or about 2012 and 2013, Respondent frequently prescribed to
Patient C extra controlled substances prescriptions and/or prescribed two short aéting
Oxycodone prescriptions the same months in or about March, April, May, June,
September and October of 2013; and

L. During an approximate ten-month period that Respondent provided care and treatment
to Patient C, he wrote prescriptions for more than a 30-day supply, including extra
prescriptions and refills. |

Patient D:

M. Between on or about March 22, 2011, through on or about October 25, 2011,
Respondent continued to prescribe to Patient D, despite the fact that she had repeatedly
displayed aberrant behaviors, possible addiction, and noncompliance with her Pain
Agreement. |

Patient E:

N. Between on or about February 12, 2009, through on or about January 31, 2012, -
Respondent éontinued to prescribe to Patient E; without taking a systematic and -
thorough history including vitals, without periodically reviewing and documentihg

efficacy of treatment, without regularly assessing for possible diversion, and without

16
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periodically discussing the risks, benefits, and alternatives of pharmacological
treatment. -

O. Between on or about February 12, 2009, through on or about January 31, 2012, despite
two hospitalizations, Respondent failed to refer Patient E for behavioral management,
psychiatry, or addiction treatment, but continued to pr_escribe to the patient.

P. Between on or about.February 12, 2009, through on or about January 31, 2012,
Respondent regularly prescribed M_ethadone to a known alcoholic, in addition to
multiple other contraindicated medications known for causing sudden death, andi never
ordered an EKG or took the patient’s vital signs. |

* SECOND CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Repeated Negligent Acts)
55. Respondent has furiher subjected ilis Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate No.
A 43963 to d-iscipiinary action under sections 2227 and 2234, as defined by section 2234,
subdivision (c), of the Code, in that he i:ommitted repeated negligent acts in his care and
treatment of Patients A, B, C, and D, as more particularly alleged hereinafte_:r: '
56. Paragraphs 13 tlirough 54, above, are incorporated by reference and realleged, as if
fully set forth herein. |
57. Respondent committed the following repeated negligent acts:
(a) Paragrapiis 54 A through 54 P, inclusive;
(b) Patient B: On or about February 27, 2013, Respondent performed an initial history
and physical examination of Patient B, that lacked an iippraisal of prior non-opioid
treatments for chronic pain, and/or an assessment of psychological and/or addiction risk,
and a baseline urine drug screen;
(c) - Patient C: On or about August 8§, 2008, Réspondent performed an initial history and
physical examination of Patient C, ‘that lacked an appraisal of prior non-opioid treatments
for chronic pain, and/or an assessment of psycholo gical and/or addiction risk, and a
baseline urine drug screen;
1
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(d) Patient D: Between on or about March 22, 2011, through on or about October 25,
2011, Respondent failed to consider a referral for a psychiatry consultation for addiction,
despite the fact that Patient D displayed aberrant behaviors, possible addiction, Aand
noncompliance with her Pain Agreement; and
(e) Patient D: Between on or about March 22, 2011, through on or about October 25,

- 2011, Respondent failed to obtain a urine drug screen on Patient D, and failed to conduct or
document a pill count, despite the fact that Patient D displayed aberrant behaviors, possible .
addiction, and noncompliance with her Pain Agreement.

THIRD CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Repeated Acts of Excessive Prescribing of Drugs)
58. Respondent has further subjected his Physician’s and Sufgeon’s Certificate No.
A 43963 to disciplinary action under Code sections 2227 and 725, as defined b); section 725,
subdivision (a), of the Code, in that he excessively prescribed drugs to Patients A, B, and C, as
more particulérly alleged in paragraphs 13 through 54, above, which are incorporated by’ |

reference and realleged, as if fully set forth herein.

FOURTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
(Prescribing Dangerous Drugs without an Appropriate Prior Examination)

59. Respondent has further subjected his Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate. No. A
43963 to disciplinary action under Code sections 2227 and 2242, as defined by sections 4021 and
4022 of the Health and Safety Code, in that he prescribed dangerous drugs to Patients B and C,
without requiring the patients to present for an adequate and/or appropriate prior examinations, as
more particularly alleged in paragraphs 13 through 54, above, which are incorporated by '

reference and realleged, as if fully set forth herein.

FIFTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Failure to Maintain Accurate and Adequate Medical Records)
60. Respondent has further subjected his Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate No.
A 43963 to disciplinary action under sections 2227 and 2234, as defined by section 2266, of the

Code, in that he failed to maintain accurate and adequate medical records in his care and

18.
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treatment of Patients A, B, C, D, and E, as more particularly alleged in paragraphs 13 through 54
above, which are incorporated by reference and realleged, as if fully set forth herein.

SIXTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Violation of any Federal Statute or Federal Regulation or any State Statute or Regulation
Regulating Dangerous Drugs or Controlled Substances)

61. Respondent has subjected his Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate No. A 43963 to
disciplinary action under sections 2227 and 2238, as defined by sections 4021 and 4022 of the
Health and Safety Code, in that he has violated Federal statute(s) or regulation(s) or State 7
statute(s) or regulation(s) regulating dangerous drugs or controlled substances, as more
particularly alleged in paragraphs 13 through 54 above, which are incorporated by reference and

realleged, as if fully set forth herein.

SEVENTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
(Unprofessional Conduct) ’

62. Respondent has subjected his Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate No. A 43963 to
disciplinary action under sections 2227 and 2234, as defined by section 2234, of the Code,‘ in that
he has engaged in conduct which breaches the rules or ethical code of the medical profession, or
conduct which is unbecoming a member in good standing of the medical profession, and which
demonstrates an unfitness to practice medicine, as more particularly alleged in paragraphs 13
through 54 above, which are incorporated by reference and realleged, as if fully set forth herein.

EIGHTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Violating or Attempting to Violate, Directly or Indirectly, Assisting in or Abetting the
Violation of, or Conspiring to Violate any Provision of this Chapter)

63. Respondent has suijected his Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate No. A 43963 to
disciplinary action under sections 2227 and 2234, as defined by section 2234, subdivision (a), of
the Code, in that he has engaged in conduct which violates or attempts to violate, directly or
indirectly, assists in or abets the violation of, or conspires to violate any provision of this chapter,
as more particularly alleged in paragraphs 13 through 54 above, which are incorporated by

reference and realleged, as if fully set forth herein.
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NINTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Incompetence)

64. Respondent has subjected his Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate No. A 43963 to
disciplinary action under sections 2227 and 2234, as defined by section 2234, subdivision (d), of
the Code, in that he has demonstrated incompetence in his care and treatment of Patient E, by
prescribing Methadone to a knowﬁ alcoholic, in addition to multiple other contraindicated
medications known for causing sudden death, withoqt ever ordering an EKG or taking the
patient’s vital signs, as more particularly alleged in paragraphs 13 through 54 above, which are
incorporated by reference and realleged, as if fully set forth herein.

PRAYER

WHEREFORE, Complainant requests that a hearing be held on the matters herein alleged,
and that following the hearing, the Medical Board of California issue a decision:

I.  Revoking or suspending Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate No. A 43963, issued
to Resporideﬁt Bradley Howard Chesler. M.D.; |

2. Revoking, suspending or denying approval of Respondent Bradley Howard Chesler
M.D.’s authority to supervise physician assistants and advanc;ed practice nurses;

3. Ordering Respondent Bradley Howard Chesler, M.D., if placed on probation, to pay
the Board the costs of probation monitoring; and

4.  Taking such other and further action as deemed necessa;/jnd proper.

DATED: _July 18, 2018 KMM/%: AAM

KIMBERLY KIRGHMEYER
Executive Directo

Medical Board of California
State of California
Complainant
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